TheaterTouch Designer 4.2

Programming Manual









Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	6
FEATURES	6
HARDWARE/SOFTWARE REQUIREMENTS	7
INSTALLING THEATERTOUCH DESIGNER	7
CHAPTER 2. PROGRAMMING OVERVIEW	8
CREATING A SYSTEM STEP BY STEP	8
THEATERTOUCH DESIGNER SCREENS	9
DESIGN GUIDELINES	17
GETTING HELP	17
CHAPTER 3. WORKING WITH SYSTEM FILES	
INTRODUCTION TO SYSTEM FILES	
CREATING A NEW FILE	18
OPENING AN EXISTING FILE	19
SAVING A FILE	19
EDITING SYSTEM PROPERTIES	20
CHAPTER 4. WORKING WITH DEVICES	21
INTRODUCTION TO DEVICES	21
ADDING A DEVICE	21
IMPORTING A DEVICE	21
DELETING A DEVICE	22
RENAMING A DEVICE	22
DUPLICATING A DEVICE	23
	23
SAVING A DEVICE	
EDITING A DEVICE	
EDITING DEVICE PROPERTIES	24
CHAPTER 5. WORKING WITH PAGES	65
INTRODUCTION TO PAGES	65
ADDING A PAGE (K4/RK3/T4/T3/T2+)	
DELETING A PAGE (K4/RK3/14/13/12+)	
DUPLICATING A PAGE (K4/RK3/14/13/12+)	
INSERTING AND DELETING FRAMES (12+)	/ 71
1103EN 11100 Α ΓΝΕ-ΔΕΓΙΝΕΔ ΓΑΦΕ (Ν4/ΝΝ3/14/13/12+) Ι ΙΝΚΙΝΟ Δ ΡΔΟΕ ΤΟ Δ ΡΙΙΤΤΟΝ	/ I 70
REMOVING & PAGE LINK	12 70
MERGING PAGES ($KA/RK3/TA/T3/T2_1$)	12 72
$WERGING + AGEO (N^+/INO/P^+/IO/P^+) \dots \dots$	

EXPORT REMOTES TO THE INTERNET11	14
ADDING AN IR COMMAND TO A BUTTON	15
IR SEARCH & REPLACE	16 17
	17
CHAPTER 8. WORKING WITH MACROS	18 10
	10 18
DELETING A MACRO	26
EDITING AN INDIVIDUAL STEP IN A MACRO	26
UNDERSTANDING SYSTEM MACROS12	27
GENERATE IR TRIGGER CODES FOR SYSTEM MACROS	28
USING THE CHANNEL MACRO WIZARD (K4/RK3/T4/T3/T2+)	29
	31
CHAPTER 9. WORKING WITH OBJECTS (K4/RK3/T4)	33
USING OBJECTS AND COMMANDS	33 34
	36
PREVIEWING YOUR FILE	36
SENDING A PROGRAM TO A DEVICE	37
CHAPTER 11. THEATERTOUCH DESIGNER UTILITIES	39
PRINTING PAGES (K4/RK3/T4/T3/T2+)	39
PRINTING SYSTEM CONFIGURATION REPORTS13	39
CHECKING MEMORY USAGE14	40
FIRMWARE VERSION14	40
CHAPTER 12. TROUBLESHOOTING	41
DISPLAY IS DIM, BLANK UR UNREADABLE	41 11
	41 42
INABLE TO LEARN COMMANDS 1/	10
	43
MACRO PROBLEMS	43 43

Chapter 1. Introduction

TheaterTouch Designer is a powerful, easy-to-use, Windows based software package that allows an entire TheaterTouch system to be programmed from a PC. It includes a wide variety of powerful tools that make the programming process quick and easy.

TheaterTouch Designer provides complete flexibility in the design of the TheaterTouch screen. Several pre-defined buttons, symbols and page templates are included along with the ability to directly import your own color graphics.

TheaterTouch Designer also includes a powerful Infrared Library Manager. Infrared codes are learned and stored for easy reuse in multiple systems and are added to any button by a simple drag-and-drop process. Updates to the included infrared library are continually being made and are available for download from the RTI website.

TheaterTouch Designer Macro Editor provides a simple interface enabling every button in the system to carry out complex multi-step actions.

The product of over 15 years of development, TheaterTouch Designer is a central part of the TheaterTouch system, not an afterthought. The software is continually being refined, and upgrades are available from the RTI web site.

FEATURES

- Provides a central interface for defining all parameters needed for controlling an entire TheaterTouch system
- · Contains several programming wizards to get you up and running quickly
- Allows programming to be uploaded from existing TheaterTouch systems and edited, in case the original program is lost or damaged
- Allows for direct importing of your own color graphics with complete flexibility on button size, shape, style, and labels
- Allowsfor direct importing of your own sound files (*.wav) for use with the buttons on color devices
- Includes graphics editors for creating Custom Buttons and Bitmaps (for use with the T2+ Universal Controller)
- Infrared Library allows easy drag-and-drop programming of IR codes on every button
- · Includes libraries of predefined IR codes and bitmaps
- Infrared Library Manager allows infrared commands to be learned into libraries and stored for future use
- Macro Editor allows complex multi-step actions to be created on every button
- Allows easy reuse of design elements (pages, bitmaps, IR codes, etc.), simplifying the task of creating remotes for many clients
- Preview mode allows rapid testing of designs right on the computer screen

HARDWARE/SOFTWARE REQUIREMENTS

- Windows 98SE®, Windows ME®, Windows 2000®, Windows XP® or later version.
- A free USB port.
- At least 64 Megabytes of RAM.
- At least 100 Megabytes of free disk storage.
- Screen resolution of 800x600 (1024x768 recommended) with 16-bit color; 256 colors or lower not supported.
- A mouse or other pointing device is required.
- An optional printer for printing reports.

INSTALLING THEATERTOUCH DESIGNER

- **1.** Close any open programs.
- **2.** Open your internet browser to www.rticorp.com and go to the Dealer area.
- **3.** Login using your provided dealer password.
- **4.** Select TheaterTouch Designer version 4.2.
- 5. Choose **Run** from the file download dialog box and follow the on-screen instructions.

Chapter 2. Programming Overview

CREATING A SYSTEM STEP BY STEP

To create a new control system, use the following procedure:

- **1.** Create a new system file using the New command on the File menu.
- **2.** Add a new device to the system for each component in your system using the Add New command on the Device menu.
- **3.** Open the first device in the system by clicking on its icon in the System Workspace.

NOTE: Steps 4-9 apply to remote devices with touchscreens (T2+/T3/RK3/K4) only, keypad remotes (T1/U1) skip to step 10.

- **4.** Use the Page Wizard command on the Page menu to insert pages for common components.
- **5.** Create any additional pages required for your system using the New Page command on the Page menu.
- **6.** Use the Merge Pages function on the File menu to copy pages from another device in the current system or from a different system file.
- 7. Place a button on the main menu to access each one of the source components.
- 8. Place buttons on each of the source component pages.
- **9.** Use the Assign Page tool to link the buttons on the main menu to their respective source component pages.
- **10.** Assign infrared codes and other commands to buttons using the Command Library.
- **11.** Create macros using the macro editor (if needed).
- 12. Check the Device Properties.
- **13.** Repeat steps 4-11 for each additional device in the control system.
- 14. Save the file.
- **15.** Download the programming into each device in the system.

THEATERTOUCH DESIGNER SCREENS

K4 IN-WALL UNIVERSAL SYSTEM CONTROLLER



System Workspace Device List – Displays all devices in a System File for easy selection. This panel can be moved or resized to make it easier to see the K4 if needed

Menu Bar – Provides drop down menus of all programming features.

Toolbar – lcons for easy access to frequently used programming features.

Page List – Displays the name and number of the pages added to a device.

Touchscreen Grid – Displays the page contents of the LCD display for editing.

Alignment Toolbar – Icons for easy access to button alignment tools.

Library Browser – Displays IR commands, objects and bitmaps for easy drag and drop programming.

Tool Palette – lcons for easy access to frequently used design features.

Design Window – Displays the currently selected device for editing.

Button Styles – Icons for fast editing of button styles.

RK3 UNIVERSAL SYSTEM CONTROLLER



System Workspace Device List – Displays all devices in a System File for easy selection.

Menu Bar – Provides drop down menus of all programming features.

Toolbar – lcons for easy access to frequently used programming features.

Page List – Displays the name and number of the pages added to a device.

Touchscreen Grid – Displays the page contents of the LCD display for editing.

Library Browser – Displays IR commands and bitmaps for easy drag and drop programming.

Alignment Toolbar – lcons for easy access to button alignment tools.

Tool Palette – lcons for easy access to frequently used design features.

Design Window – Displays the currently selected device for editing.

Button Styles – lcons for fast editing of button styles.

Keypad Buttons – Fixed buttons used for programming frequently used control functions.

T4 UNIVERSAL SYSTEM CONTROLLER

Device List	Tool E	ar	Alignment toolbar	Touchsc	reen Grid	Library Browser
Mer	nu Bar	Page List				
P Theate Touch Design	er [Conference &	om.rtij /4				
	@ • * *	10-505				
0.00000	4445		•		-	Lizzer Brosen
	"Home Page [14]	/				Direc TV DVR
	Pages: 2. Video Options 3. Audio Options 4. Sat/Cable Pay 5. Sat/Cable Pay	Home Po	age	A/V Power	off 🥘	HR10-250 HDTivo AD0 « Assign flumbers Automatically » 1 2
* D	6. Sat)Cable Fav 7. Sat)Cable Fav 8. Sat)Cable Fav 9. Sat)Cable Fav 10. TWo/DVR 11. Media Center	8	Audio		Video	3 4 5 6 7 0
UI			••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	1		9 Ohannel - Channel + Clear Cursor Down Cursor Leff
10 10	1 ok 1		curity	Tempe	erature	Cursor Right Cursor Up DirecTV Enter /Last Ext
201 201	5 1 5	<u>о</u> и	ghting	Ir	nternet	Vido Vido Vido Ampley Jung /- Lut Live TV
						Pause Play Ratio
		(ierrer)	11%\$		tara attara	Record Scian ex V
A32 0				15	1	Jtt Commands 🗇 Objects 💽 Straps
	5 X		Normal A . Z . R. Active A	<u>2. 8. </u>		
For Heb, prest F1						
Tool Pale	tte Key	pad Buttons	Button Styles	Des	sign Window	

System Workspace Device List – Displays all devices in a System File for easy selection. This panel can be moved or resized to make it easier to see the T4 if needed

Menu Bar – Provides drop down menus of all programming features.

Toolbar – lcons for easy access to frequently used programming features.

Page List – Displays the name and number of the pages added to a device.

Touchscreen Grid – Displays the page contents of the LCD display for editing.

Alignment Toolbar – Icons for easy access to button alignment tools.

Library Browser – Displays IR commands, objects and bitmaps for easy drag and drop programming.

Tool Palette – lcons for easy access to frequently used design features.

Design Window – Displays the currently selected device for editing.

Button Styles – Icons for fast editing of button styles.

Keypad Buttons – Fixed buttons used for programming frequently used control functions.

T3 UNIVERSAL SYSTEM CONTROLLER



System Workspace Device List – Displays all devices in a System File for easy selection.

Menu Bar – Provides drop down menus of all programming features.

Toolbar – lcons for easy access to frequently used programming features.

Page List – Displays the name and number of the pages added to a device.

Touchscreen Grid – Displays the page contents of the LCD display for editing.

Library Browser – Displays IR commands and bitmaps for easy drag and drop programming.

Alignment Toolbar – lcons for easy access to button alignment tools.

Tool Palette – lcons for easy access to frequently used design features.

Design Window – Displays the currently selected device for editing.

Button Styles – Icons for fast editing of button styles.

Keypad Buttons – Fixed buttons used for programming frequently used control functions.



T2+ UNIVERSAL SYSTEM CONTROLLER

System Workspace Device List – Displays all devices in a System File for easy selection.

Menu Bar – Provides drop down menus of all programming features.

Toolbar – Icons for easy access to frequently used programming features.

Page List – Displays the name and number of the pages added to a device.

Touchscreen Grid – Displays the page contents of the LCD display for editing.

Library Browser – Displays IR commands and bitmaps for easy drag and drop programming.

Tool Palette – lcons for easy access to frequently used design features.

Button Styles – lcons for fast editing of button styles.

Design Window – Displays the currently selected device for editing.

Frame Scrolling Buttons – Provides access to the multiple frames of a page.

Keypad Buttons – Fixed buttons programmed with frequently used control functions.

T1 UNIVERSAL SYSTEM CONTROLLER



System Workspace Device List – Displays all devices in a System File for easy selection.

Menu Bar – Provides drop down menus of all programming features.

Toolbar – lcons for easy access to frequently used programming features.

Page List – Displays the name and number of all programmable pages.

Library Browser – Displays IR commands and graphics for easy drag and drop programming.

Tool Palette – lcons for easy access to frequently used design features.

Design Window – Displays the currently selected device for editing.

Keypad Buttons – Program these buttons to control the individual components in a system.



U1 UNIVERSAL SYSTEM CONTROLLER

System Workspace Device List– Displays all devices in a System File for easy selection.

Menu Bar – Provides drop down menus of all programming features.

Toolbar – lcons for easy access to frequently used programming features.

Page List – Displays the name and number of all programmable pages.

Library Browser – Displays IR commands and graphics for easy drag and drop programming.

Tool Palette – lcons for easy access to frequently used design features.

Design Window – Displays the currently selected device for editing.

Keypad Buttons – Program these buttons to control the individual components in a system.

RP-6/RP-1 SYSTEM CONTROL PROCESSOR

Device List	Tool	Bar			
Men	u Bar				
🧳 TheaterTouch Des	igner [Jon	es] - Main	ystem Controller		
<u>File Device Edit Optic</u>	ons <u>C</u> ommun	ications <u>L</u> ib	ary <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp		
🗋 🗅 🚅 🕌 🛅 🌆	8 8 8	X 🖻	1 D* 2 & X & K & k. 👪 🖽 -		후 의 ㅠ ~ 쁘 🖽 🖽
System Workspace					Library Browser
💉 Y 🗾	📟 Main Sy	stem Cont	oller		Panasonic
Home Theater	📭 Add New	/ System Ma	🛛 🙀 Delete System Macro 🛛 🧖 Tell Me More		Television CT-31SF11
	This winds	w ie oply f	use in special situations		0
		,			1 2
e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e	system. T	es and mad heaterTou	n Designer will automatically store them in th	e other devices in the e RP-6.	3
1001	Click the '	'Tell Me M	e" button above for more information.		5
					6
	Macro ID	Macro	Description		8
Main System	1		System Macro 1		9 Action
Controller	2	ļ	System Macro 2		Channel -/Down
			1		Channel +/Up
					Power
					Rapid Tune
					Recall TV///ideo
					Volume -/Left
					Volume +/Right
					Select New Remote
	L				PR Commente Pitroppe
	i 🖆 🕞 4) <u>&</u>			
For Help, press F1					NUM //

System Macro List

Device List – Displays all devices in a System File for easy selection.

Menu Bar – Provides drop down menus of all programming features. **Toolbar** – lcons for easy access to frequently used programming features.

System Macro Window – A list of added system macros displayed for editing (see Understanding System Macros - Chapter 8 for more information).

DESIGN GUIDELINES

- **1.** Be consistent with the location of similar buttons. For example, if you have a DVD player and a VCR in your system, try to make the transport controls (Play, Pause, Stop, etc.) on both pages look similar.
- 2. It's not necessary to re-create each remote in its entirety. Think of the functions the user will be using daily.
- **3.** Use macros to hide complex command sequences from the user. For example, instead of presenting the user with a 0-9 key pad for changing channels on their TV, make a set of macros for CBS, HBO, etc. that send the proper channel numbers automatically. The Channel Macro Wizard makes it easy to create this type of macro.
- 4. (T2+ only) Use bitmaps instead of custom buttons wherever possible. Bitmaps take half as much device memory as custom buttons do, so you can put more of them in your device (See Custom Buttons and Bitmaps Chapter 6 for more information.)

GETTING HELP

TheaterTouch Designer includes an extensive on-line help system. If you need help with any tool or command, select the **What's this?** M button on the **Toolbar**.

If you need an explanation of any item in a dialog box, select the **Help** subtract the dialog's title bar, and then select the control you would like to learn about.

Chapter 3. Working with System Files

INTRODUCTION TO SYSTEM FILES

Each file you create with TheaterTouch Designer is called a system file. A system file consists of a mixture of control processors and remote control devices.

The System Workspace has a device list that displays an icon for each device stored in the system file. Click any icon to open that device for editing.

Many portions of TheaterTouch Designer behave differently depending on whether or not a control processor is present in the system file. If you do not add a control processor to your system, you can still have multiple remote control devices in the system file but they function independently. Adding a control processor causes all remote control devices in the system to use it by default, storing all commands and macros in the control processor rather than the remote control device. You can use the Properties command on the Device menu to change this behavior for each device.

CREATING A NEW FILE

1. Choose New from the File menu or select the New File icon \square on the Toolbar.

2. Specify the name and directory for the file when saving for the first time and choose Save.

Create New Sy	stem File			? 🗙
Save in:	My Systems	<u>×</u>	+ 🗈 💣 🗊 •	
My Recent Documents Desktop My Documents My Computer	2 T2+ Somple			
My Network	File game:	5em		Save
ridCes	Save as type:	TheaterTouch System Files (1.rti)	•	Cancel

The files created with TheaterTouch Designer hold all the elements that make up an individual remote file. They have the extension .rti and may be stored in any directory.

Default directory is: [C:\Program Files\RTI\TheaterTouch Designer\My Systems]

OPENING AN EXISTING FILE

- **1.** Choose Open from the File Menu or select the Open File icon [™] from the Toolbar.
- **2.** Select the file you wish to open.
- 3. Choose Open.

Open				? 🔀
Look in	My Remote	н <u>э</u>	••••	
My Recent Documents	2 T2+ Sample			
My Documents				
My Computer				
My Network	File game:			<u>Q</u> pen
naces	Files of type:	TheaterTouch System Files (*.rt)		Cancel

This command opens an existing system file. The currently open file, if any, will be closed. If you wish to open a device in the current system, click on its icon in the System Workspace.

SAVING A FILE

- **1.** Choose Save from the File Menu or select the Save File icon \blacksquare on the Toolbar.
- **2.** Specify the name and directory for the file when saving for the first time and select Save.

Save As					? 🗙
Save in:	My Remote	\$		of 🔟 -	
My Recent Documents	B [T2+ Sample]				
Desktop My Documents					
My Computer	- 1				
My Network	File game:			. [Save
riaces	Save as type:	TheaterTouch System Files (*	.e)	•	Cancel

EDITING SYSTEM PROPERTIES

- **1.** Choose System Properties from the File menu.
- 2. Select the tabs in the System Properties dialog box to edit the system properties that affect all devices.

ZONE SETTINGS

Setting unique System Zone Codes allows individual operation of multiple RTI systems located within the same installation or systems located in close proximity to each other (i.e. a close neighbor that has a TheaterTouch System).

Note: Only adjust the Zone Code to keep separate RTI systems from communicating with each another. Within a single RTI system file each control processor is addressable by changing the output properties of a device or button.

1. Select the Dealer Information tab and enter all pertinent dealer

- **1.** Select the Zone tab and edit the System Zone Code.
- 2. Choose OK to confirm the new System Zone Code

tem Zone Code Sustem Zone Code	4	ŧ
Note: Changing this setting code for every device in the e program every device at	will change the system zone e system. You will need to ter changing this setting.	
	OK Cancel	

System Properties

Zone Dealer Information | Client Information |

Zone Dealer Information Client	Information
Company:	
Phone	
Fásc	
Job Number	
Programmer.	
Installer	
Install Date:	
Notes:	
	-2

Zone Dealer Informatio	n Clert Monumer	
Nage:		
Address:		1
		-
Phone:	Eas:	
Mgbile:	E-Mail	-
Bulder		
General Contractor		
Interior Designer		
Botes		2
		4

CLIENT INFORMATION

DEALER INFORMATION

data and installation notes.

2. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

- 1. Select the Client Information tab and enter all
- pertinent client data and notes.
- **2.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Chapter 4. Working with Devices

INTRODUCTION TO DEVICES

Each TheaterTouch system file contains the devices that correspond to the actual control processors and remote control devices included in a system. Add each device individually to match the control system you are programming.

ADDING A DEVICE

- 1. Choose Add New from the Device menu or select the New Device icon 🕮 .
- 2. Select the icon of the type of device you wish to add.
- **3.** Enter a name for the device and choose OK to confirm the new name.
- **4.** The new device appears in a Device list located in the system workspace.



Create New Device	\sim
Enter a name for the new device:	OK
	Cancel

IMPORTING A DEVICE

This command copies a single device from another system file into the current one.

- **1.** Choose Import Device from the Device menu.
- 2. Select the system file that contains the device to be imported.
- 3. Choose the device from a list of all devices in that system.
- **4.** Choose OK to confirm the device.

pen				2 🔀	Select Device
Look jn:	My System	• 🔟	+ 🖸 🗗 🖬 •	-	Please select the source device from the list below:
My Recent Decuments Desktop	9 T2+ Sample				Main System Controller
Documents					
y Computer					
Ny Network Places	Fie game:	Jones	3	Qpen	OK Cancel
	Res of type:	TheaterTouch System Files (*.n)	-	Cancel	

DELETING A DEVICE

- **1.** Select the icon of the device you wish to delete from the Device List.
- 2. Choose Delete from the Device Menu or select the Delete Device icon 🚈.
- **3.** Choose Yes to confirm deletion.
- 4. The device is removed from the system file.



RENAMING A DEVICE

- **1.** Select the icon of the device you wish to rename from the Device List.
- **2.** Choose Rename from the Device Menu.
- **3.** Enter a new name for the device and choose OK to confirm the new name.
- 4. The device is displayed in the Device list with a new name.

Rename Device	X
Enter a new name for this device:	OK
	Cancel

DUPLICATING A DEVICE

- 1. Select the icon of the device you wish to duplicate from the Device List.
- **2.** Choose Duplicate from the Device Menu.
- **3.** Enter a new name for the device and choose OK to confirm the new name.
- 4. The duplicated device is displayed in the Device list with a new name.

Duplicate Device	
Enter a name for the new device:	ОК
	Cancel

CLOSING A DEVICE

This programming option closes the current device. This does not close the system file. If you wish to close the system file, use the Close System command on the File menu.

- **1.** Select Close from the Device menu.
- 2. The edit window for the selected device closes.

SAVING A DEVICE

Saving the currently selected device in the system:

- **1.** Select a device from the device list.
- 2. Choose Save from the Device Menu or select the Save icon \blacksquare .

Saving all devices in the system:

1. Choose Save All Devices from the File Menu.

EDITING A DEVICE

- **1.** Select the icon of the device you wish to edit from the Device List.
- **2.** The Design Window appears for that device allowing you to perform edits.

EDITING DEVICE PROPERTIES

- **1.** Choose Properties from the Device menu to change settings that affect the currently selected Device.
- 2. Select each of the tabs in the Device Properties dialog box to edit the individual device properties.

Note: Many of these properties can be accessed directly on touchscreen remote devices through their respective Control Panels, however it should be noted that changes made locally on a remote will be over-written upon programming it with the TheaterTouch Software.

K4 GENERAL TAB

IGNORE FIRST PRESS FROM POWER DOWN MODE

 Enabling this option causes the device to ignore the first button press if the unit is powered down (the backlight is off.) The first button press will wake up the device and turn on the backlight, but will not activate any programmed command or macro.

ENABLE IR RECEIVER

 Enabling this option allows signals received by the built-in IR receiver to be passed through to the IR output.

POWER DOWN TIME

3. Adjust the amount of time the unit stays awake after the last button press of the touchscreen. The time is variable from 1 second to 60 seconds (default is 10 seconds).

VIDEO INPUT STANDARD

- Select the type of Video Input Standard that will be used for all of the video feeds NTSC = USA/Canada PAL = Europe/Asia/Australia
- **5.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Device Properties
Web Browser Clock Output Flag Names Notes General Backlight Sounds Network
☐ Ignore First Press from Power Down Mode ☐ Enable IR <u>R</u> eceiver Power <u>D</u> own Time: 10 • seconds
Video Input St <u>a</u> ndard: NTSC
OK Cancel Help

K4 BACKLIGHT TAB

ENABLE AMBIENT LIGHT SENSOR

 Check this box to enable a built-in light sensor to determine the current room lighting conditions and change the backlight levels according to these conditions and the current activity status of the control device.

BACKLIGHT LEVELS

 Use these sliders to adjust the backlight setting for normal lighting conditions and dark lighting conditions when the Ambient Light Sensor is enabled for both Active and Idle status.

> Active Status = Device is in use Idle Status = Power Down Time has expired (set on the "General" tab)

BACKLIGHT LEVEL (ACTIVE)

3. Use this slider to adjust the backlight setting for when the Ambient Light Sensor is disabled and the control device status is Active.

BACKLIGHT LEVEL (IDLE)

- **4.** Use this slider to adjust the backlight setting for when the Ambient Light Sensor is disabled and the control device status is Idle.
- **5.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.



1 I I I I

Cancel

100%

10%

Help

Backlight Level

(Active) Backlight Level

(<u>I</u>dle)

ΟК

K4 SOUNDS TAB

ENABLE BEEPER

1. Check this box to enable the beeper. If this box is checked, the remote control will play the default button beep sound every time a button is pressed.

VOLUME

2. Set the Volume slider to set volume level of the beeper.



3. Determines the default sound for all buttons on the control device. System beep is the built-in beep sound. Choose from the available sounds in the drop down list to change the device default.

Device Properties ?	X
Web Browser Clock Output Flag Names Not General Backlight Sounds Network	es <
Enable Beeper	
⊻olume:	
Default Button Beep Sound: System Beep 💌	
Available Sounds	
Number Size Name	
1 (no sound assigned)	
2 (no sound assigned)	
3 (no sound assigned)	
(no sound assigned)	
6 (no sound assigned)	
7 (no sound assigned)	
8 (no sound assigned)	
9 (no sound assigned)	
10 (no sound assigned) 🔛	
<u>Change</u> <u>R</u> emove <u>P</u> lay	
OK Cancel Help	

2 2 **Device Properties** Web Browser | Clock. | Output | Flag Names | Notes Backlight Sounds General Network. F Enable Beeper 80% Default Button Beep Sound: System Beep Available Sounds Sound 1 ound 2 Number Size No Sound 3 -Sound 3 Sound 4 Sound 5 Sound 6 (no Sound 2 Sound 0 Sound 9 Sound 10 Sound 11 (no Sound 12 9 Sound 13 × Sound 14 Sound 15 Change Sound I Sound 18 Cancel OK. Help

Drop Down List of Available Sounds

AVAILABLE SOUNDS

- **4.** Add to the list of Available Sounds by selecting Change. An Open Sound File dialog box appears and allows you to select a *.wav file.
 - Remove a file from the list by selecting Remove.
 - Test an added sound file by selecting Play
 - The only limitation on sound length is the amount of available memory on the remote device.
- 5. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.



Open Sound File Dialog Box

K4 NETWORK TAB

DHCP

 Check this box to configure the device's network interface using DHCP. You must have a DHCP server (such as a router or cable/DSL modem) on the network for this to work. In most cases, this is the option you should use.

÷υ Cu	se DHCP to configur se the following netv	e network work cettin	ngi as:		
	pi address [-		
	ponels [15		1
	Selenary [1.00	11	1	
	1965erer (j. 1	1.14	1.1		1
	Distance [10	-	
7 A	low this device to be	i grograme	aed over	the netwo	xk.

Use t	he following netw	vork setting	95		
	IP Address:	1.0	- <u>t</u> 51	2 8	
	getnask:	14	÷	()+.	
	Gatemay:	- 14	÷	+	-
	NG Server 1:		- 40.	5¥.	
6	WS Server 2:	4	- 27	4	
Allow	this device to be	grograms	ved ove	r the netw	ork.

MANUALLY CONFIGURE NETWORK SETTINGS

- Use this selection to configure the device's network interface using a static IP address. The values can be obtained by contacting your ISP or your network administrator.
 - Enter the device's static IP Address
 - Enter the network's: Netmask Gateway IP Address DNS Server 1 DNS Server 2 (If only one is available, leave blank)

ALLOW THE DEVICE TO BE PROGRAMMED OVER THE NETWORK

3. Check this box to allow the device to be programmed remotely via the device's ethernet interface. If you uncheck this box you will have to use a direct USB connection to update the device's programming. Unchecking this box provides increased security by preventing the device's programming from being altered over the network.

4. Select OK to confirm all selections.

K4 WEB BROWSER TAB

HOME PAGE

1. Enter the URL for the default home page that the web browser will navigate to.

USE PROXY SERVER

- **2.** Check this box to enable the use of a web proxy server. In most cases this option will not be used.
- Enter the host name or the IP address of the proxy server
- Enter the Port number used by the proxy server

ADJUST WEB PAGES TO REDUCE HORIZONTAL SCROLLING

- **3.** Check this box to enable the browser to automatically resize web pages to fit on the screen. In most cases, this will reduce the amount of scrolling needed to view the entire width of a web page, however some websites will not appear correctly when this option is enabled.
- 4. Select OK to confirm all selections.

K4 CLOCK TAB

SET CLOCK FROM PC WHEN DOWNLOADING

 Check this box to automatically synchronize the control device's clock with the clock on your PC when you download the program to the device. (Make sure the PC's clock is set correctly when using this option.)

ENABLE NTP SYNCHRONIZATION

- **2.** Check this box to enable automatic clock setting via the Network Time Protocol. Enabling NTP requires either an NTP server on your local network or access to an NTP server on the internet.
- **3.** Enter the address of the NTP server you would like to use. If you have constant internet access, you can use the default value. If not, input the address of an NTP server on the local network.

TIME ZONE

4. Choose the time zone for the location that the device will be installed in. This setting must be set correctly for NTP and automatic Daylight Saving Time adjustment to function correctly.

AUTOMATICALLY ADJUST FOR DAYLIGHT SAVING TIME

- **5.** Check this box to enable automatic Daylight Saving Time adjustment. (Make sure the time zone is set correctly when using this option.)
- 6. Select OK to confirm all selections.

NOTE: To insert the time onto a K4 control device page, create a button, right click and go to the Edit Text option, then choose the Control Variable button select the time format to be displayed on the button.



Device Propert	les	2 🔀
General Web Browser	Badäght So Clock Output	unds Network Flag Names Notes
IF Set dock.fm IF Enable tytP NTP Set	m EC when downloadin synchronization (requin ren: time, windows, cor	si es Internet connection)
Time Zone: (@	117-06:00) Central Time ly adjust for Daylight Si	(US & Canada) 💽

		1	1
General Web Browser	Clock 0	Utput Flag N	ames Notes
🖗 Set dock fr	om <u>P</u> C when do	wnicading	
Enable MTP	synchronizabio	n (requires Inter	net connection)
Time Zone: ((6	MT-06:00) Cen	tral Time (US & C	anada) 💌
	By adjust for D	sylight Saving Ta	ne
Autometics			

K4 OUTPUT TAB

DEFAULT OUTPUT MODE

1. Change the default output mode by selecting one of the two available options listed.

Note: To have any single button on the device operate in a different output mode or trigger a different control processor from the device default, you must edit the Button Properties Output Tab (See Output Tab - Chapter 6 for more information on editing a buttons properties).

STANDALONE

In-wall control devices are set to the Standalone output mode by default when a control processor is not included in a system file. In this mode, devices output IR commands and issue macros to components directly.

IR TRIGGER CODES FOR CONTROL SYSTEM

In-wall control devices are set to the IR Trigger Codes for Control System output mode by default when a control processor is included in a system file. In this mode, devices send IR trigger codes to the control processor which outputs IR commands and macros, and also provides access to additional features such as RS-232 commands, IR routing, power sensing and relay control.

Device Proper	ties			? 🗙				
General Web Browser	Backligh Clock	nt So Output	unds Flag Nam	Network les Notes				
Default Output Mode Standalone Macros run on the remote and IR codes are sent directly by the remote.								
	 IR Trigger Codes for Control System Macros run on the control system and IR codes are sent from the control system's output ports. Default System: RP6 							
Trigger Code Options System IR Trigger Code Freguency: 40.0 📑 KHz								
	ОК		ancel	Help				

- **2.** Choose which control processor a device triggers by default (all control processors included in the system file are displayed for selection in the drop down list.)
- **3.** Adjust the IR Trigger Code carrier frequency to improve IR trigger code reliability when using an IR receiver and a control processor.
- **4.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

K4 FLAG NAMES TAB

1. Input the names of the flags to be associated with this device in a Flag Macro Step.

Note: Flags are used in macros to keep track of a component or remote device's status and act based on that status. For example, you can use this functionality to make discrete power ON and OFF macros for components for which you have only toggle codes. Flags exist on a per-device basis, therefore you must name each flag used by each remote device or contol processor. (See Working with Macros - Chapter 8 for more information on programming macros using Flags).

2. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Dev	vice P	roperties 🔹 💽						
	Gener Veb Bro	al Backlight Sounds Network wser Clock Output Flag Names Notes						
	Flag	Name 🔨						
	001	Unnamed						
	002	Unnamed						
	003	Unnamed						
	004	Unnamed						
	005	Unnamed						
	006	Unnamed						
	007	Unnamed						
	008	Unnamed						
	009	Unnamed						
	010	Unnamed						
	011	Unnamed						
	012	Unnamed						
	013	Unnamed						
	014	Unnamed						
	015	Unnamed						
	016	Unnamed						
	017	Unnamed						
	018	Unnamed						
	019	Linnamed 🛛 💆						
_								
		OK Cancel Help						

K4 NOTES TAB

1. Enter any device specific notes for future reference.

Note: This field does not affect the functionality of the device, it is for your informational purposes only.

2. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Device Prope	rties		? 🛛
General	Backlight	Sounds	Network
Web Browser	Clock Ou	tput Flag Nam	es Notes
			<u>~</u>
<			>
	ОК	Cancel	Help

RK3 GENERAL TAB)

IGNORE FIRST PRESS FROM POWER DOWN MODE

1. Enabling this option causes the device to ignore the first button press if the unit is powered down (the backlight is off.) The first button press will wake up the device and turn on the backlight, but will not activate any programmed command or macro.

ENABLE IR RECEIVER

2. Enabling this option allows signals received by the built-in IR receiver to be passed through to the IR output.

POWER DOWN TIME

- **3.** Adjust the amount of time the unit stays awake after the last button press of the touchscreen. The time is variable from 1 second to 60 seconds (default is 10 seconds).
- **4.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Device Properties
Output Global Keys Power LED Flag Names Notes General Backlight Sounds Network Web Browser Clock Image: Second structure Image: Second structure Second structure Second structure Second structure
OK Cancel Help

RK3 BACKLIGHT TAB

ENABLE AMBIENT LIGHT SENSOR

 Check this box to enable a built-in light sensor to determine the current room lighting conditions and change the backlight levels according to these conditions and the current activity status of the control device.

BACKLIGHT LEVELS

 Use these sliders to adjust the backlight setting for normal lighting conditions and dark lighting conditions when the Ambient Light Sensor is enabled for both Active and Idle status.

> Active Status = Device is in use Idle Status = Power Down Time has expired (set on the "General" tab)



BACKLIGHT LEVEL (ACTIVE)

3. Use this slider to adjust the backlight setting for when the Ambient Light Sensor is disabled and the control device status is Active.

BACKLIGHT LEVEL (IDLE)

- **3.** Use this slider to adjust the backlight setting for when the Ambient Light Sensor is disabled and the control device status is Idle.
- **4.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Device Propert	ies			? 🗙
Output Globa General Backlig	l Keys P ht Sounds	ower LED	Flag Nam Web Bro	es Notes wser Clock
Enable Am	bient Light	Sensor - Active -		
Normal Conditions	· · ·		<u> </u>	100%
Dar <u>k</u> Conditions		<u></u>	· · ·	30%
Normal Conditions	<u>'</u>	– Idle –	1 1	10%
Da <u>r</u> k Conditions	<u>-</u>]-		1 1	10%
Backlight Level (Active)	1 i			100%
Backlight Level (<u>I</u> dle)	- <u>)</u> -		1 1	10%
	ОК	Ca	ancel	Help

RK3 SOUNDS TAB

ENABLE BEEPER

1. Check this box to enable the beeper. If this box is checked, the remote control will play the default button beep sound every time a button is pressed.

VOLUME

2. Set the Volume slider to set volume level of the beeper.

DEFAULT BUTTON BEEP SOUND:

3. Determines the default sound for all buttons on the control device. System beep is the built-in beep sound. Choose from the available sounds in the drop down list to change the device default.

Gen	eral Back Enable Be Volume:	dight So eper	ounds Network Web Browser Clock
De FA	fault Butto Available <u>S</u> e	n Beep Si ounds —	iound: System Beep
	Number	Size	Name
	1	5126	(po sound assigned)
	2		(no sound assigned)
	3		(no sound assigned)
	4		(no sound assigned)
	5		(no sound assigned)
	6		(no sound assigned)
	7		(no sound assigned)
	8		(no sound assigned)
	9		(no sound assigned)
	10		(no sound assigned)
	⊆hang	je	<u>R</u> emove <u>P</u> lay
		(OK Cancel Help
	Destro	tranartis	

Output Global Keys Power LED Flag Names Notes General Backlight Sound's Network Web Browser Clock Image: Sound set of the set of

Drop Down List of Available Sounds

Look in: D Sound Effects		· + 🗈 🗗 🗊 -		
A Asterisk way baby shoes1.WAV baby shoes2.WAV Balloon.way BangBang.WAV Beep.way C	LIRD14A.WAY bleep1.way BOING1A.WAY Complete.way DingDong.way GOODING.WAY	Laser.WAV Laser.WAV Logoff.wav Logon.wav Majorleague.WAV	Notify Notify shot be shot be shot be shot be	
File pame:			<u>Open</u>	
File pame: Files of type: WAV S	iound (".wav)		<u>Open</u> Cancel	
File pame: WAV S Files of type: WAV S Sound Properties	iound (".wav)		<u>Open</u> Cancel	
File pame: Files of type: WAV S Sound Properties Length: unknown	iound (".wav) Sam	sle Rate: unknown	<u>Open</u> Cancel	

Open Sound File Dialog Box

AVAILABLE SOUNDS

- **4.** Add to the list of Available Sounds by selecting Change. An Open Sound File dialog box appears and allows you to select a *.wav file.
 - Remove a file from the list by selecting Remove.
 - Test an added sound file by selecting Play
 - The only limitation on sound length is the amount of available memory on the remote device.

RK3 NETWORK TAB

DHCP

 Check this box to configure the device's network interface using DHCP. You must have a DHCP server (such as a router or cable/DSL modem) on the network for this to work. In most cases, this is the option you should use.

Nevice	Properties			? 🔀
Output General	t Global Keys Backlight Sou	Power LED	rik. Web Dro	es Notes wser Oock
G La	e DHCP to config	are networks	a.	
CU	the Eolioning ne	twork setting	241	
	P Address	-		_
	tannel:	-	10.00	-1
	- Selventy)		10.00	_
	019 50 (011)		$\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$	
	Diff Server 2	-	11.00	_
IF A	low this device to	be grograme	ed over the n	etwork.
	0	6 N 21	Cancel	Help

Device Properties Image: Compute Computer Computer

MANUALLY CONFIGURE NETWORK SETTINGS

- Use this selection to configure the device's network interface using a static IP address. The values can be obtained by contacting your ISP or your network administrator.
 - Enter the device's static IP Address
 - Enter the network's: Netmask Gateway IP Address DNS Server 1 DNS Server 2 (If only one is available, leave blank)

ALLOW THE DEVICE TO BE PROGRAMMED OVER THE NETWORK

3. Check this box to allow the device to be programmed remotely via the device's ethernet interface. If you uncheck this box you will have to use a direct USB connection to update the device's programming. Unchecking this box provides increased security by preventing the device's programming from being altered over the network.

4. Select OK to confirm all selections.

Device Properties

RK3 WEB BROWSER TAB

HOME PAGE

1. Enter the URL for the default home page that the web browser will navigate to.

USE PROXY SERVER

- **2.** Check this box to enable the use of a web proxy server. In most cases this option will not be used.
- Enter the host name or the IP address of the proxy server
- Enter the Port number used by the proxy server

ADJUST WEB PAGES TO REDUCE HORIZONTAL SCROLLING

- **3.** Check this box to enable the browser to automatically resize web pages to fit on the screen. In most cases, this will reduce the amount of scrolling needed to view the entire width of a web page, however some websites will not appear correctly when this option is enabled.
- 4. Select OK to confirm all selections.

RK3 CLOCK TAB

SET CLOCK FROM PC WHEN DOWNLOADING

 Check this box to automatically synchronize the control device's clock with the clock on your PC when you download the program to the device. (Make sure the PC's clock is set correctly when using this option.)

ENABLE NTP SYNCHRONIZATION

- **2.** Check this box to enable automatic clock setting via the Network Time Protocol. Enabling NTP requires either an NTP server on your local network or access to an NTP server on the internet.
- **3.** Enter the address of the NTP server you would like to use. If you have constant internet access, you can use the default value. If not, input the address of an NTP server on the local network.

TIME ZONE

4. Choose the time zone for the location that the device will be installed in. This setting must be set correctly for NTP and automatic Daylight Saving Time adjustment to function correctly.

AUTOMATICALLY ADJUST FOR DAYLIGHT SAVING TIME

- 5. Check this box to enable automatic Daylight Saving Time adjustment. (Make sure the time zone is set correctly when using this option.)
- 6. Select OK to confirm all selections.

NOTE: To insert the time onto an RK3 page, create a button, right click and go to the Edit Text option, then choose the Control Variable button select the time format to be displayed on the button.



Output Jeneral	Global Ke Backlight	ys Power Sounds Ne	LED Flag twork Wet	Names N Browser (otes Slock
F Set	dock from <u>P</u> ele <u>N</u> TP sync	C when down	oading equires Inte	met connect	ion)
N Time Zor	TP Serger: w: (GMT-0	time window	es.com Time (US 6:	Canada)	

Output Global Keys Power LED Plag Names Notes General Baddight Sounds Network Web Browser Clock
Home Page:
Mtp://www.rbcorp.com/
Use Progr Server: Port: Part: Adjust web pages to reduce typrizential scrolling. This option will alter web pages to make them easier to view on the snaker screen, but may not be compabile with some web sites.
OK Cancel Help

RK3 OUTPUT TAB

DEFAULT OUTPUT MODE

1. Change the default output mode by selecting one of the two available options listed.

Note: To have any single button on the device operate in a different output mode or trigger a different control processor from the device default, you must edit the Button Properties Output Tab (See Output Tab - Chapter 6 for more information on editing a buttons properties).

STANDALONE

In-wall control devices are set to the Standalone output mode by default when a control processor is not included in a system file. In this mode, devices output IR commands and issue macros to components directly.

IR TRIGGER CODES FOR CONTROL SYSTEM

In-wall control devices are set to the IR Trigger Codes for Control System output mode by default when a control processor is included in a system file. In this mode, devices send IR trigger codes to the control processor which outputs IR commands and macros, and also provides access to additional features such as RS-232 commands, IR routing, power sensing and relay control.

Device Properties ? 🔀
General Backlight Sounds Network Web Browser Clock Output Global Keys Power LED Flag Names Notes
Default Output Mode
Etandalone
Macros run on the remote and IR codes are sent directly by the remote.
C IR Trigger Codes for Control System
Macros run on the control system and IR codes are sent from the control system's output ports.
Default System: RP6
Trigger Code Options
System IR Trigger Code Freguency: 40.0 🔆 KHz
OK Cancel Help

- 2. Choose which control processor a device triggers by default (all control processors included in the system file are displayed for selection in the drop down list.)
- **3.** Adjust the IR Trigger Code carrier frequency to improve IR trigger code reliability when using an IR receiver and a control processor.
- 4. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.
RK3 GLOBAL KEYS TAB

The command programming for Global keys is common to every page of a remote control device.

- Switch a key from unique to Global by choosing the Global Keys tab in the Device Properties dialog or by clicking the right mouse button on the key and choosing "Make This Key Global".
- 2. Place a check mark next to all Global keys.
- **3.** Select OK to confirm all selections.

Important Note: Using the Global Keys tab does not preserve previously programmed commands. Use the right button context menu of a selected button and select "Make this Key Global" to designate the command on that button and that page to be the global command.

RK3 POWER LED TAB

The Power LED color can be set depending on the status of the built in Power Status Inputs and Relays or by using Led Control macro steps.

1. Choose how the Power LED color will be determined.

POWER STATUS INPUT

Onlythe voltage present on the PWR STATUS input will determine the color.

RELAY OUTPUT

Onlythe current setting of the RELAY CTRL output will determine the color.

BOTH

Boththe voltage present on the PWR STATUS input and the current setting of the RELAY CTRL output will determine the color.

NEITHER

LEDControl steps within macros will determine the color.

\



RK3 FLAG NAMES TAB

1. Input the names of the flags to be associated with this device in a Flag Macro Step.

Note: Flags are used in macros to keep track of a component or remote device's status and act based on that status. For example, you can use this functionality to make discrete power ON and OFF macros for components for which you have only toggle codes. Flags exist on a per-device basis, therefore you must name each flag used by each remote device or contol processor. (See Working with Macros - Chapter 8 for more information on programming macros using Flags).

2. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

De	vice P	roperties 🔹 🤶 🔀
G	eneral Dutput	Backlight Sounds Network Web Browser Clock Global Keys Power LED Flag Names Notes
	Flag	Name 🔨
	001	Unnamed
	002	Unnamed
	003	Unnamed
	004	Unnamed
	005	Unnamed
	006	Unnamed
	007	Unnamed
	008	Unnamed
	009	Unnamed
	010	Unnamed
	011	Unnamed
	012	Unnamed
	013	Unnamed
	014	Unnamed
	015	Unnamed
	016	Unnamed
	017	Unnamed
	018	Unnamed
	019	Unnamed 🛛 💆
_		
		OK Cancel Help

RK3 NOTES TAB

1. Enter any device specific notes for future reference.

Note: This field does not affect the functionality of the device, it is for your informational purposes only.



T4 GENERAL TAB

ENABLE TILT SWITCH

1. Enabling the Tilt Switch allows the internal tilt switch to turn on the display and button backlight when the remote control is handled. This option is enabled by default.

DISABLE KEYPAD BACKLIGHTS

2. Check this box to turn off the backlight on the hard buttons.

IGNORE FIRST PRESS FROM POWER DOWN MODE

3. Enabling this option causes the device to ignore the first button press if the unit is powered down (the back-light is off.) The first button press will wake up the device and turn on the backlight, but will not activate any programmed command or macro.

POWER DOWN TIME

4. Adjust the amount of time the unit stays awake after the last button press of the touchscreen. The time is variable from 1 second to 60 seconds (default is 10 seconds).

VIDEO INPUT STANDARD

5. Select the type of Video Input Standard that will be used for all of the video feeds

NTSC = USA/Canada PAL = Europe/Asia/Australia

LOW BATTERY WARNING TIME

6. Set the low battery warning time to determine when the low battery icon appears on the LCD screen. Choose one of the three available times, Normal (default time), Short or Long.

IR OUTPUT DESTINATION

7. Select how infrared codes should be delivered from the T4

Internal LED - sends IR directly from the T4 Hardwire (Requires EM4) - IR is sent hardwired through the EM4 expansion module

Device Properties 🛛 🛛 🔀
Network (WiFi) Wireless Web Browser Clock Output Global Keys Flag Names Notes General Backlight Sounds Network (100BaseT)
 Enable Iilt Switch Disable Keypad Backlights Ignore First Press from Power Down Mode Power Down Time: 10 ÷ seconds
Video Input St <u>a</u> ndard: NTSC
IR Output Destination: Internal LEDs
OK Cancel Help

T4 BACKLIGHT TAB

ENABLE AMBIENT LIGHT SENSOR

 Check this box to enable a built-in light sensor to determine the current room lighting conditions and change the backlight levels according to these conditions and the current activity status of the control device.

BACKLIGHT LEVELS

 Use these sliders to adjust the backlight setting for normal lighting conditions and dark lighting conditions when the Ambient Light Sensor is enabled for both Active and Idle status.

> Active Status = Device is in use Idle Status = Power Down Time has expired (set on the "General" tab)



? X **Device Properties** Network (WiFi) Wireless Web Browser Clock Output Global Keys Flag Names Notes General Backlight Sounds Network (100BaseT) Enable Ambient Light Sensor Normal 100% Backlight Level (Active) Backlight Level 0% (Idle) ОK Cancel Help

BACKLIGHT LEVEL (ACTIVE)

3. Use this slider to adjust the backlight setting for when the Ambient Light Sensor is disabled and the control device status is Active.

BACKLIGHT LEVEL (IDLE)

- **4.** Use this slider to adjust the backlight setting for when the Ambient Light Sensor is disabled and the control device status is Idle.
- **5.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Network (WiFi) Wireless Web Browser

General Backlight Sounds

Output Global Keys Flag Names Notes

? X

Clock

Network (100BaseT)

Device Properties

Enable Beeper

T4 SOUNDS TAB

ENABLE BEEPER

1. Check this box to enable the beeper. If this box is checked, the remote control will play the default button beep sound every time a button is pressed.

VOLUME

2. Set the Volume slider to set volume level of the beeper.

DEFAULT BUTTON BEEP SOUND:

3. Determines the default sound for all buttons on the control device. System beep is the built-in beep sound. Choose from the available sounds in the drop down list to change the device default.

Volume 80% • Default Button Beep Sound: System Beep Available Sounds Number Size Name ~ (no sound assigned) (no sound assigned) 3 4 (no sound assigned) (no sound assigned) 5 (no sound assigned) 6 (no sound assigned) (no sound assigned) 8 (no sound assigned) 9 10 (no sound assigned) v (no sound assid Change Help OK Cancel **Device Properties** 2 Network (WIFi) Wireless Web Browser Clock Global Keys Output Flag Names Notes General | Backlight Sounds Network (1008aseT)



AVAILABLE SOUNDS

- **4.** Add to the list of Available Sounds by selecting Change. An Open Sound File dialog box appears and allows you to select a *.wav file.
 - Remove a file from the list by selecting Remove.
 - Test an added sound file by selecting Play
 - The only limitation on sound length is the amount of available memory on the remote device.
- **5.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Drop Down List of Available Sounds

-		120	128.	Laboration of the
Asterisk.w	av	UIRD14A.WAY	Ir_begin.wav	Notify_
baby shop	st.way	bieep1.way	Ir_end.wav	A NOOTY_
A Balloon w	S2.WHY	Conclete way	Laser, WAY	A shot be
A BanoBano	WAY	DingDong, way	Logon.way	A chot be
A Beep.way	1020	GOODING, WAY	M majorleague.WAV	A shot be
100		10	- N	17
\$				>
File pame:	-			<u>O</u> pen
Files of type:	WAV S	ound (".wav)		Cancel
Sound Propert	ies			
Length: unit	nown	Sam	ple Rate: unknown	
	interest.		Mode: unknown	

Open Sound File Dialog Box

T4 WEB BROWSER TAB

HOME PAGE

1. Enter the URL for the default home page that the web browser will navigate to.

USE PROXY SERVER

- **2.** Check this box to enable the use of a web proxy server. In most cases this option will not be used.
- Enter the host name or the IP address of the proxy server
- Enter the Port number used by the proxy server

ADJUST WEB PAGES TO REDUCE HORIZONTAL SCROLLING

- **3.** Check this box to enable the browser to automatically resize web pages to fit on the screen. In most cases, this will reduce the amount of scrolling needed to view the entire width of a web page, however some websites will not appear correctly when this option is enabled.
- 4. Select OK to confirm all selections.

T4 CLOCK TAB

SET CLOCK FROM PC WHEN DOWNLOADING

 Check this box to automatically synchronize the control device's clock with the clock on your PC when you download the program to the device. (Make sure the PC's clock is set correctly when using this option.)

ENABLE NTP SYNCHRONIZATION

- **2.** Check this box to enable automatic clock setting via the Network Time Protocol. Enabling NTP requires either an NTP server on your local network or access to an NTP server on the internet.
- **3.** Enter the address of the NTP server you would like to use. If you have constant internet access, you can use the default value. If not, input the address of an NTP server on the local network.

TIME ZONE

4. Choose the time zone for the location that the device will be installed in. This setting must be set correctly for NTP and automatic Daylight Saving Time adjustment to function correctly.

AUTOMATICALLY ADJUST FOR DAYLIGHT SAVING TIME

- **5.** Check this box to enable automatic Daylight Saving Time adjustment. (Make sure the time zone is set correctly when using this option.)
- 6. Select OK to confirm all selections.

NOTE: To insert the time onto a T4 control device page, create a button, right click and go to the Edit Text option, then choose the Control Variable button select the time format to be displayed on the button.



wice Properties	26
Output Global Keys P General Backight Sounds Network (WPi) Wheless V	lag Names Notes Network (LODBaseT) Web Drowser Clock
Home Bage:	
http://www.rticorp.com/	
Use Progy Server: Port: Fort: Adjust web pages to reduce tor	- contal scroling.
This option will alter web page to view on the snaller screen, compatible with some web site	s to make them easier but may not be s.
ОК	Cancel Help

Device Properties	28
Output Global Keys Flag Names General Bodäght Sounds Netw Network (WPi) Wireless Web Brows	Notes ork.(100EaseT) er Clock
I [™] Set dock from <u>PC</u> when downloading I [™] Enable <u>V</u> [™] synchronization (requires Interr	set connection)
NTP Serger: time.windows.com Time Zone: (GHT-06-00) Central Time (US & C	erode) 💌
🕫 Automatically adjust for Daylight Saving Ter	
OK Cancel	Help

T4 OUTPUT TAB

DEFAULT OUTPUT MODE

1. Change the default output mode by selecting one of the two available options listed.

Note: To have any single button on the device operate in a different output mode or trigger a different control processor from the device default, you must edit the Button Properties Output Tab (See Output Tab - Chapter 6 for more information on editing a buttons properties).

STANDALONE

In-wall control devices are set to the Standalone output mode by default when a control processor is not included in a system file. In this mode, devices output IR commands and issue macros to components directly.

IR TRIGGER CODES FOR CONTROL SYSTEM

In-wall control devices are set to the IR Trigger Codes for Control System output mode by default when a control processor is included in a system file. In this mode, devices send IR trigger codes to the control processor which outputs IR commands and macros, and also provides access to additional features such as RS-232 commands, IR routing, power sensing and relay control.

Device Prope	erties		? 🛛
Network (Wi	Fi) Wireless	Web Browser	Clock
General	Backlight Sou	Inds Network	(100BaseT)
	Global Keys	Hag Names	Notes
Default Ou	tput Mode		
C <u>S</u> tanda	alone		
Macr sent	os run on the remo directly by the rem	ote and IR codes ar note.	re
• RF Tric	gger Codes for Con	trol System	
C IR Trig	ger Codes for Con	trol System	
Macr are s	os run on the cont sent from the contr	rol system and IR o ol system's output	odes ports.
Defa	ult System: RP6		•
Trigger Cod	de Options		
System IR	Trigger Code Freg	uency: 40.0 📫	KHz
	ОК	Cancel	Help

- **2.** Choose which control processor a device triggers by default (all control processors included in the system file are displayed for selection in the drop down list.)
- **3.** Adjust the IR Trigger Code carrier frequency to improve IR trigger code reliability when using an IR receiver and a control processor.
- **4.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

T4 NETWORK TAB

Use the Network(100BaseT) tab for hardwired Ethernet when using the EM4 Expansion Module. Use the Network(WiFi) tab to use the built in wireless networking adapter for wireless Ethernet.

DHCP

 Check this box to configure the device's network interface using DHCP. You must have a DHCP server (such as a router or cable/DSL modem) on the network for this to work. In most cases, this is the option you should use.

MANUALLY CONFIGURE NETWORK SETTINGS

- **2.** Use this selection to configure the device's network interface using a static IP address. The values can be obtained by contacting your ISP or your network administrator.
 - Enter the device's static IP Address
 - Enter the network's: Netmask

Gateway IP Address DNS Server 1 DNS Server 2 (If only one is available, leave blank)

1	se the following network settings:	
	P ASTRE	_
		_
	Not former to	-
	Instance -	_
	S 400 KDA	
ee l	low this device to be programmed over the r	Help
Con I Dutps etwo	OK Cancel OK Cancel OK Cancel OK Cuperfiles t Gobal Keys Flag Names k (WR) Weeks Web Browser Backlight Sounds Network (1)	Help Help Notes Olod. 1008ase1)
coli NApa etwo meni Usi	On this device to be grogrammed over the r OK Cancel Uportfiles t Global Keys Flag Names K (WP0 Weless Web Brokeer Backlight Sounds Network (1) [PHDP to configure networking the following network setting:	Help Help Notes Olodk 1008aseT)
ter l Sutpa etwo etwo etwo	On this device to be programmed over the r OK Cancel Openfiles Calcel Keys Flag Names CWP0 Weeless Web Browser Backlight Sounds Network (1 EHCP to configure networking the (slowing network settings:	Help Notes Obok Obok
ee J Marke National Usi	Con this device to be grogrammed over the r Con Cancel Con Cancel Congenting	Help Notes Obok T)
Notes Carl	Concentration of the second over the restance over the second	Help Notes Olock Olock Olock
Co I Suites Us Us	Con Cancel Con Cancel Con Cancel Con Cancel Concentration Con	Help Notes Obok 008aseT)

ALLOW THE DEVICE TO BE PROGRAMMED OVER THE NETWORK

3. Check this box to allow the device to be programmed remotely via the device's ethernet interface. If you uncheck this box you will have to use a direct USB connection to update the device's programming. Unchecking this box provides increased security by preventing the device's programming from being altered over the network.

4. Select OK to confirm all selections.

T4 WIRELESS TAB

Use the Network(WiFi) tab to configure the built-in wireless networking adapter for wireless Ethernet.

ENABLE WIRELESS NETWORK ADAPTER (802.11b)

1. Check this box to use the built-in wireless networking adapter for wireless Ethernet.

ENABLE WIRELESS LAN STATUS LED

2. Check this box to enable the LED which will display the connection status to a wireless network.

WIRELESS NETWORKING CONFIGURATION

- 3. Use these buttons to add wireless networking configurations.
 - Add Click this button to enter a wireless network's configuration.
 - Delete Click this button to delete a wireless network configuration.
 - Edit Click this button to edit a wireless network's configuration.
 - Move Up Click this button to move a wireless network up in the connection priority list.
 - Move Down Click this button to move a wireless network down in the connection priority list.

NAME (SSID)

4. Enter the name of the wireless network.

AUTHENTICATION

5. Select the authentication type of the wireless network. Choose from - Open, Shared Key or WPA-PSK

ENCRYPTION)

6. Select if the WEP encryption is being used when using Open or Shared Key Authentication, or TKIP encryption when WPA-PSK is being used.

KEY

- 4. Enter the wireless network encryption key.
- 5. Select OK to confirm all selections.

Wireless Netw	ork Settings 🛛 🛛 🛛
<u>N</u> ame (SSID):	Wireless Network Name
<u>Authentication:</u>	Open 💌
Encryption:	WEP
<u>K</u> ey:	
ОК	Cancel Help

etwork.(WPi) Weeless	Web Browser Clock
Enable Wreless Network Ada	pter (802.11b)
 Enable <u>Wreless</u> LAN Status U 	D
Wheless Network Configuration	
Metwork Name (SSID):	-
WITH NOTWORK NAME	933-
	Delete
	Edt
	Transverse and
	Move Up
	Move Down
3	- Anto Bound

T4 FLAG NAMES TAB

1. Input the names of the flags to be associated with this device in a Flag Macro Step.

Note: Flags are used in macros to keep track of a component or remote device's status and act based on that status. For example, you can use this functionality to make discrete power ON and OFF macros for components for which you have only toggle codes. Flags exist on a per-device basis, therefore you must name each flag used by each remote device or contol processor. (See Working with Macros - Chapter 8 for more information on programming macros using Flags).

2. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Vetwor	k (WiFi)	Wire	less	Web	Browser	Clo	ock
Senera	Back	light	Soun	ds	Network	k(100Bas	юT
Outpu	t Glo	obal Key	s	Flag	Names	Not	es
Flag	Name						^
001	Unnamed						
002	Unnamed						
003	Unnamed						-
004	Unnamed						
005	Unnamed						
006	Unnamed						
007	Unnamed						
800	Unnamed						
009	Unnamed						
010	Unnamed						
011	Unnamed						
012	Unnamed						
013	Unnamed						
014	Unnamed						
015	Unnamed						
016	Unnamed						
017	Unnamed						
018	Unnamed						
N19	Unnamed						~

Network (WiFi) Wireless	; Web Browser	Clock
General Backlight S	ounds Network (100BaseT)
Output Global Keys	Flag Names	Notes
Enter your notes here		~
K		>
ОК	Cancel	Help

T4 NOTES TAB

1. Enter any device specific notes for future reference.

Note: This field does not affect the functionality of the device, it is for your informational purposes only.

T3 GENERAL TAB

ENABLE TILT SWITCH

1. Enabling the Tilt Switch allows the internal tilt switch to turn on the display and button backlight when the remote control is handled. This option is enabled by default.

POWER DOWN TIME

2. Adjust the amount of time the unit stays awake after the remote is set down after use. The time is variable from 1 second to 60 seconds (default is 10 seconds). During sleep mode, the remote control uses virtually no battery power.

LOW BATTERY WARNING TIME

- **3.** Set the low battery warning time to determine when the low battery icon appears on the LCD screen. Choose one of the three available times, Normal (default time), Short or Long.
- **4.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Device Proper	ties		? 🗙
Global Keys	Flag N	lames	Notes
General I ✓ Enable Tilt Power Down Ti Low Battery C Short	Backlight 5witch Marning Time [●] Normal [©] Lo	nds	Output
	ок	Cancel	Help

T3 BACKLIGHT TAB

ENABLE AMBIENT LIGHT SENSOR

 Check this box to enable a built-in light sensor to provide one of two different backlight levels depending on the current room lighting conditions. This option is enabled by default.

BACKLIGHT LEVELS

2. Use these sliders to adjust the backlight setting for normal lighting conditions and dark lighting conditions when the Ambient Light Sensor is enabled.

Device	Properti	es		? 🗙
Ger	ilobal Keys neral	Flag Backlight	Names Sounds	Notes Output
₽ E	nable <u>A</u> mbie – Backlight I	ent Light Sensor Levels		
	<u>N</u> ormal Condition	ıs		-j 100%
	Dar <u>k</u> Condition	ıs]	1 1 1	
	Backlight Le <u>v</u> el	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	100%
	[ОК	Cancel	Help

Device Proper	ties			? 🗙
Global Key General	s F Backlight	Flag Names	r Is	Votes Output
□ Enable A m	bient Light Sen It Levels	isor		
Norm Conditi Dar	al ons	<u></u>	<u> </u>	30%
	0115			
Backlight Le <u>v</u> el	1 I		<u> </u>	100%
	ОК	Cance		Help

BACKLIGHT LEVEL

- **3.** Use this slider to adjust the backlight setting for all conditions when the Ambient Light Sensor is disabled.
- **4.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

T3 SOUNDS TAB

ENABLE BEEPER

1. Check this box to enable the beeper. If this box is checked, the remote control will play the default button beep sound every time a button is pressed.

VOLUME

2. Set the Volume slider to set volume level of the beeper.

DEFAULT BUTTON BEEP SOUND:

3. Determines the default sound for all buttons on the control device. System beep is the built-in beep sound. Choose from the available sounds in the drop down list to change the device default.

Devic	e Prope	rties		L
	Global Key	/s	Flag Names	Notes
Ge	eneral	Back	ight Sounds	Output
•	Enable <u>B</u> e	eper		
	⊻olume:		j	80%
Def	ault Butto	n Beep So	und: System Beep	•
A'	vailable <u>S</u> o	ounds		
	Number	Size	Name	<u>~</u>
	1		(no sound assigned)	
	2		(no sound assigned)	
	3		(no sound assigned)	
	4		(no sound assigned)	
	5		(no sound assigned)	
	6		(no sound assigned)	
	7		(no sound assigned)	
	8		(no sound assigned)	
	9		(no sound assigned)	
	10		(no sound assigned)	
	⊆hang	e	Remove	Play
		0	K Cancel	Help

? **Device Properties** Global Keys Flag Names Notes 1 Backlight Sounds Output General Finable Beeper 00% Default Button Beep Sound: Available Sounds ound iound 2 Number Size 3 Sound 3 Sound 4 (no Sound 5 (ne Sound 6 Sound 7 Sound 8 (ne 5 (no Sound 5 67 ine Sound 10 (nc Sound 11 Sound 12 8 (no Sound 10 Sound 14 9 (nc × iound 15 Change Sound 16 Sound 17 Sound 18 OK. Cancel Help

Drop Down List of Available Sounds



Open Sound File Dialog Box

AVAILABLE SOUNDS

- **4.** Add to the list of Available Sounds by selecting Change. An Open Sound File dialog box appears and allows you to select a *.wav file.
 - Remove a file from the list by selecting Remove.
 - Test an added sound file by selecting Play
 - The only limitation on sound length is the amount of available memory on the remote device.

T3 OUTPUT TAB

DEFAULT OUTPUT MODE

1. Change the default output mode by selecting one of the three available options listed on the Device Properties Output Tab.

Note: To have any single button on the remote control device operate in a different output mode or trigger a different control processor from the device default, you must edit the Button Properties Output Tab (See Output Tab - Chapter 6 for more information on editing a buttons properties).

STANDALONE

AnyIR commands that you assign to buttons will be output directly by the infrared output on the remote device, and the device will process any macros attached to buttons. Actions that require a control processor will need to be created on the control processor in a System Macro and added to a macro attached to a button. (See Understanding System Macros - Chapter 8 for more information on System Macros.)

Device Properties				
Global Keys Flag Names Notes	ĺ.			
General Backlight Sounds Output				
Default Output Mode Image: Second S				
Trigger Code Options				
OK Cancel Help				

RF TRIGGER CODES FOR CONTROL SYSTEM

In this mode, all commands and macros that you assign to buttons will be stored in the control processor instead of the device. Each button on the device will send an RF "trigger" code to the control processor that tells it which command and/or macro to process.

Note: In this mode, macros are also much more reliable. There is only a single "trigger" code sent from the device to the control processor to start the macro, after which the control processor will run the entire macro to completion. However, since the macros are not running on the remote control device, it is not possible for the macro to affect the remote control in any way, such as changing pages or making sounds. To make these functions possible refer to the instructions for Standalone output mode above.

IR TRIGGER CODES FOR CONTROL SYSTEM

This mode is identical to the "RF Trigger Codes for Control System" mode, except that an IR code is used to trigger the control processor instead of an RF code. (See Generate IR Trigger Codes for System Macros - Chapter 8 for information on obtaining IR trigger codes to be programmed into third-party devices.)

Note: Commands and macros are stored in the control processor in this mode, and all of the notes regarding macro processing in the RF Trigger Codes section apply.

- 2. Choose which control processor a remote control device triggers by default (all control processors included in the system file are displayed for selection in the drop down list.)
- **3.** Adjust the IR Trigger Code carrier frequency to improve IR trigger code reliability when using an IR receiver and a control processor (this adjustment may be required only if a component controlled by the control processor is in direct line of sight with the IR output of the interface device.)
- 4. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

T3 GLOBAL KEYS TAB

The command programming for Global keys is common to every page of an remote control device.

- Switch a key from unique to Global by choosing the Global Keys tab in the Device Properties dialog or by clicking the right mouse button on the key and choosing "Make This Key Global".
- **2.** Place a check mark next to all Global keys.
- **3.** Select OK to confirm all selections.

Important Note: Using the Global Keys tab does not preserve previously programmed commands. Use the right button context menu of a selected button and select "Make this Key Global" to designate the command on that button and that page to be the global command.

Device Properties	? 🛛
Device Properties General Backlight Global Keys Flag Place a check mark next to each key that will have the same function on every page.	Sounds Output Names Notes Channel Down Channel Up Cursor Down Cursor Left Cursor Right Cursor Up Exit Guide Main Menu
Select All	Menu Mute Page Left Select Volume Down Volume Up
ОК	Cancel Help

T3 FLAG NAMES TAB

1. Input the names of the flags to be associated with this device in a Flag Macro Step.

Note: Flags are used in macros to keep track of a component or remote device's status and act based on that status. For example, you can use this functionality to make discrete power ON and OFF macros for components for which you have only toggle codes. Flags exist on a per-device basis, therefore you must name each flag used by each remote device or contol processor. (See Working with Macros - Chapter 8 for more information on programming macros using Flags).

Glob	rai Baclaight Sounds Ou bailkeys Flag Names Not	es.
Flag	Name	
001	Unnamed	
002	Unnamed	
003	Unnamed	
004	Unnamed	
005	Unnamed	
006	Unnamed	
007	Unnamed	
008	Unnamed	
009	Unnamed	
010	Unnamed	
011	Unnamed	
012	Unnamed	
013	Unnamed	
014	Unnamed	
015	Unnamed	
016	Unnamed	
017	Unnamed	
018	Unnamed	
910	Linoamed	

2. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

T3 NOTES TAB

1. Enter any device specific notes for future reference.

Note: This field does not affect the functionality of the device, it is for your informational purposes only.



T2+ GENERAL TAB

ENABLE BEEPER

1. Check this box to enable the beeper. If this box is checked, the remote control will beep every time a button is pressed. This option is enabled by default.

ENABLE TILT SWITCH

2. Enabling the Tilt Switch allows the internal tilt switch to turn on the display and button backlight when the remote control is handled. This option is enabled by default.

POWER DOWN TIME

3. Adjust the amount of time the unit stays awake after the remote is set down after use. The time is variable from 1 second to 60 seconds (default is 10 seconds). During sleep mode, the remote control uses virtually no battery power.

BACKLIGHT

4. Choose one of the two backlighting options, on when device is active or only on when the backlight keys is pressed.

FRAME SCROLLING RATE

5. Slide this control to set how fast the frames scroll left and right when the frame scroll arrows are pressed.

FRAME SCROLLING WRAPS AROUND EDGES

5. Select the frame scrolling wraps around at edges check box and the page frames will cycle back to the first or last frame when using the frame right and left arrows.

SECURITY

- **6.** Passcode: (default is 0000) Allows you to set the passcode that the Clear All function on the remote's control panel page as well as the Secured Button Option function that is available on all buttons.
- **7.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Device Properties
General Output Global Keys Flag Names Notes
General ✓ Enable Beeperi ✓ Enable Tilt Switch Power Down Time: 10
Backlight
Frame Scrolling Scroll Rate: Slow Fast Frame scrolling wraps around at edges
Security Passgode: 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 +
OK Cancel Help

T2+ OUTPUT TAB

DEFAULT OUTPUT MODE

1. Change the default output mode by selecting one of the three available options listed on the Device Properties Output Tab.

Note: To have any single button on the remote control device operate in a different output mode or trigger a different control processor from the device default, you must edit the Button Properties Output Tab (See Output Tab - Chapter 6 for more information on editing a buttons properties).

STANDALONE

AnyIR commands that you assign to buttons will be output directly by the infrared output on the remote device, and the device will process any macros attached to buttons. Actions that require a control processor will need to be created on the control processor in a System Macro and added to a macro attached to a button. (See Understanding System Macros - Chapter 8 for more information on System Macros.)

Device Properties
General Output Global Keys Flag Names Notes
Default Output Mode
C <u>S</u> tandalone
Macros run on the remote and IR codes are sent directly by the remote.
RF Trigger Codes for Control System
C IR Trigger Codes for Control System
Macros run on the control system and IR codes are sent from the control system's output ports.
Default System: RP6
Trigger Code Options
System IR Trigger Code Freguency: 40.0 🛨 KHz
OK Cancel Help

RF TRIGGER CODES FOR CONTROL SYSTEM

In this mode, all commands and macros that you assign to

buttons will be stored in the control processor instead of the device. Each button on the device will send an RF "trigger" code to the control processor that tells it which command and/or macro to process.

Note: In this mode, macros are also much more reliable. There is only a single "trigger" code sent from the device to the control processor to start the macro, after which the control processor will run the entire macro to completion. However, since the macros are not running on the remote control device, it is not possible for the macro to affect the remote control in any way, such as changing pages or making sounds. To make these functions possible refer to the instructions for Standalone output mode above.

IR TRIGGER CODES FOR CONTROL SYSTEM

This mode is identical to the "RF Trigger Codes for Control System" mode, except that an IR code is used to trigger the control processor instead of an RF code. (See Generate IR Trigger Codes for System Macros - Chapter 8 for information on obtaining IR trigger codes to be programmed into third-party devices.)

Note: Commands and macros are stored in the control processor in this mode, and all of the notes regarding macro processing in the RF Trigger Codes section apply.

- 2. Choose which control processor a remote control device triggers by default (all control processors included in the system file are displayed for selection in the drop down list.)
- **3.** Adjust the IR Trigger Code carrier frequency to improve IR trigger code reliability when using an IR receiver and a control processor (this adjustment may be required only if a component controlled by the control processor is in direct line of sight with the IR output of the interface device.)
- **4.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

T2+ GLOBAL KEYS TAB

The command programming for Global keys is common to every page of a remote control device.

- Switch a key from unique to Global by choosing the Global Keys tab in the Device Properties dialog or by clicking the right mouse button on the key and choosing "Make This Key Global".
- **2.** Place a check mark next to all Global keys.
- **3.** Select OK to confirm all selections.

Important Note: Using the Global Keys tab does not preserve previously programmed commands. Use the right button context menu of a selected button and select "Make this Key Global" to designate the command on that button and that page to be the global command.

Device Properties	? 🛛
General Output Global Keys	Flag Names Notes
Place a check mark next to each key that will have the same function on every page. Select All	3 4 5 6 7 8 9 Back Channel Down Channel Up Down Arrow Enter Exit
OK	Cancel Help

T2+ FLAG NAMES TAB

1. Input the names of the flags to be associated with this device in a Flag Macro Step.

Note: Flags are used in macros to keep track of a component or remote device's status and act based on that status. For example, you can use this functionality to make discrete power ON and OFF macros for components for which you have only toggle codes. Flags exist on a per-device basis, therefore you must name each flag used by each remote device or contol processor. (See Working with Macros - Chapter 8 for more information on programming macros using Flags).

2. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Dev	vice P	roperties ? 🔀
G	eneral	Output Global Keys Flag Names Notes
	Flag	Name
	001	Unnamed
	002	Unnamed
	003	Unnamed
	004	Unnamed
	005	Unnamed
	006	Unnamed
	007	Unnamed
	008	Unnamed
	009	Unnamed
	010	Unnamed
	011	Unnamed
	012	Unnamed
	013	Unnamed
	014	Unnamed
	015	Unnamed
	016	Unnamed
	017	Unnamed
	018	Unnamed
	019	Honamed 🕥
_		OK Cancel Help

T2+ NOTES TAB

1. Enter any device specific notes for future reference.

Note: This field does not affect the functionality of the device, it is for your informational purposes only.



T1 GENERAL TAB

ENABLE TILT SWITCH

 Enabling the Tilt Switch allows the internal tilt switch to turn on the button backlight when the remote control is handled. This option is enabled by default.

POWER DOWN TIME

 Adjust the amount of time the unit stays awake after the remote is set down after use. The time is variable from 1 second to 60 seconds (default is 10 seconds). During sleep mode, the device uses virtually no battery power.

BACKLIGHT

- **3.** Choose one of the two backlighting options, on when the remote is active or only on when the backlight key is pressed.
- **4.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Device Properties	? 🛛
Global Keys Flag Names General Output	Notes Key Labels
General	
✓ Enable Tilt Switch Power Down Time: 10 ÷ seconds	
Backlight	
C Turns on only when backlight key is pre	essed
OK Cancel	Help

T1 OUTPUT TAB

DEFAULT OUTPUT MODE

1. Change the default output mode by selecting one of the three available options listed on the Device Properties Output Tab.

Note: To have any single button on the remote control device operate in a different output mode or trigger a different control processor from the device default, you must edit the Button Properties Output Tab (See Output Tab - Chapter 6 for more information on editing a buttons properties).

STANDALONE

AnyIR commands that you assign to buttons will be output directly by the infrared output on the remote device, and the device will process any macros attached to buttons. Actions that require a control processor will need to be created on the control processor in a System Macro and added to a macro attached to a button. (See Understanding System Macros - Chapter 8 for more information on System Macros.)

Device Properties		? 🛛
Global Keys	Flag Names	Notes
General	Output	Key Labels
General		
🔽 Enable Tilt Sw	itch	
Power <u>D</u> own Time	: 10 📫 secon	ds
Backlight		
Always on wh	en device is active	
C Turns on only	when backlight <u>k</u> ey	is pressed
	OK Car	ncel Help

RF TRIGGER CODES FOR CONTROL SYSTEM

In this mode, all commands and macros that you assign to buttons will be stored in the control processor instead of the device. Each button on the device will send an RF "trigger" code to the control processor that tells it which command and/or macro to process.

Note: In this mode, macros are also much more reliable. There is only a single "trigger" code sent from the device to the control processor to start the macro, after which the control processor will run the entire macro to completion. However, since the macros are not running on the remote control device, it is not possible for the macro to affect the remote control in any way, such as changing pages or making sounds. To make these functions possible refer to the instructions for Standalone output mode above.

IR TRIGGER CODES FOR CONTROL SYSTEM

This mode is identical to the "RF Trigger Codes for Control System" mode, except that an IR code is used to trigger the control processor instead of an RF code. (See Generate IR Trigger Codes for System Macros - Chapter 8 for information on obtaining IR trigger codes to be programmed into third-party devices.)

Note: Commands and macros are stored in the control processor in this mode, and all of the notes regarding macro processing in the RF Trigger Codes section apply.

- 2. Choose which control processor a remote control device triggers by default (all control processors included in the system file are displayed for selection in the drop down list.)
- **3.** Adjust the IR Trigger Code carrier frequency to improve IR trigger code reliability when using an IR receiver and a control processor (this adjustment may be required only if a component controlled by the control processor is in direct line of sight with the IR output of the interface device.)
- 4. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

T1 KEY LABELS TAB

1. Choose a Label for each of the available source keys. The labels in the pull-down list correspond to the key cap set included with the device.

- **2.** Choose a Label for the Extra Keys section to match the key caps you have assigned to the blank spaces on the keypad.
- 3. Select OK to confirm the labels.



T1 GLOBAL TAB

The command programming for Global keys is common to every page of a remote control device.

- Switch a key from unique to Global by choosing the Global Keys tab in the Device Properties dialog or by clicking the right mouse button on the key and choosing "Make This Key Global".
- 2. Place a check mark next to all Global keys.
- 3. Select OK to confirm all selections.

Important Note: Using the Global Keys tab does not preserve previously programmed commands. Use the right button context menu of a selected button and select "Make this Key Global" to designate the command on that button and that page to be the global command.



T1 FLAG NAMES TAB

1. Input the names of the flags to be associated with this device in a Flag Macro Step.

Note: Flags are used in macros to keep track of a component or remote device's status and act based on that status. For example, you can use this functionality to make discrete power ON and OFF macros for components for which you have only toggle codes. Flags exist on a per-device basis, therefore you must name each flag used by each remote device or contol processor. (See Working with Macros - Chapter 8 for more information on programming macros using Flags).

Ge Gloi	oeral bal Keys	Output Flag Names	Key Labels Notes
Flag	Nome		
001	Unnamed		
002	Unnamed		
003	Unnamed		
004	Unnamed		
005	Unnamed		
006	Unnamed		
007	Unnamed		
008	Unnamed		
009	Unnamed		
010	Unnamed		
011	Unnamed		
012	Unnamed		
013	Unnamed		
014	Unnamed		
015	Unnamed		
016	Unnamed		
017	Unnamed		
618	Unnamed		
019	Unnamed		

2. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

T1 NOTES TAB

1. Enter any device specific notes for future reference.

Note: This field does not affect the functionality of the device, it is for your informational purposes only.



U1 OUTPUT TAB

DEFAULT OUTPUT MODE

1. Change the default output mode by selecting one of the two available options listed on the Device Properties Output Tab.

Note: To have any single button on the remote control device operate in a different output mode or trigger a different control processor from the device default, you must edit the Button Properties Output Tab (See Output Tab - Chapter 6 for more information on editing a buttons properties).

STANDALONE

Sincethe U1 cannot send IR commands, the Standalone mode is only used when the Button Test Macro Step is used. In this case, System Macros are set up on the Control Processor and are triggered by the remote device based upon the result of the Button Test (Double Clicked, Held down or Tapped). (See Understanding System Macros - Chapter 8 for more information on System Macros.)

Def	ault Output Mode		
C	Standalone		
	Macros run on the sent directly by	he remote and IR (codes are
	BF Trigger Codes	for Control System	1
	Macros run on th are sent from th	w control system e control system's	and IR codes output ports.
	Default System:	RP6	-

RF TRIGGER CODES FOR CONTROL SYSTEM

In this mode, all commands and macros that you assign to buttons will be stored in the control processor instead of the device. Each button on the device will send an RF "trigger" code to the control processor that tells it which command and/or macro to process.

Note: In this mode, macros are also much more reliable. There is only a single "trigger" code sent from the device to the control processor to start the macro, after which the control processor will run the entire macro to completion. However, since the macros are not running on the remote control device, it is not possible for the macro to affect the remote control in any way, such as changing pages or making sounds. To make these functions possible refer to the instructions for Standalone output mode above.

- **2.** Choose which control processor a remote control device triggers by default (all control processors included in the system file are displayed for selection in the drop down list.)
- **3.** Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

U1 GLOBAL TAB

The command programming for Global keys is common to every page of a remote control device.

- **1.** Switch a key from unique to Global by choosing the Global Keys tab in the Device Properties dialog or by clicking the right mouse button on the key and choosing "Make This Key Global".
- 2. Place a check mark next to all Global keys.
- 3. Select OK to confirm all selections.

Important Note: Using the Global Keys tab does not preserve previously programmed commands. Use the right button context menu of a selected button and select "Make this Key Global" to designate the command on that button and that page to be the global command.

U1 FLAG NAMES TAB

1. Input the names of the flags to be associated with this device in a Flag Macro Step.

Note: Flags are used in macros to keep track of a component or remote device's status and act based on that status. For example, you can use this functionality to make discrete power ON and OFF macros for components for which you have only toggle codes. Flags exist on a per-device basis, therefore you must name each flag used by each remote device or contol processor. (See Working with Macros - Chapter 8 for more information on programming macros using Flags).

2. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

U1 NOTES TAB

1. Enter any device specific notes for future reference.

Note: This field does not affect the functionality of the device, it is for your informational purposes only.

Aput	Global Keys Flag Names No	xes
Flag	Name	
001	Unnamed	
002	Unnamed	
003	Unnamed	
004	Unnamed	
005	Unnamed	
006	Unnamed	
007	Unnamed	
000	Unnamed	
009	Unnamed	
010	Unnamed	
011	Unnamed	
210	Unnamed	
013	Unnamed	
014	Unnamed	
015	Unnamed	
016	Unnamed	
017.	Unnamed	
018	Unnamed	
019	Unnevert	





RP6 OUTPUT PORT NAMES TAB

- Enter a name here for each Output port. This name will be displayed in all dialogs where IR outputs can be selected. For example, if the main theater has two DVD players, name the outputs "Theater DVD 1" and "Theater DVD 2".
- 2. Select OK to confirm all selections.

RP6 IR PASSTHROUGH

- Enable IR Passthrough Check this box to allow all IR signals sent directly to the IR input to passthrough to the selected IR outputs. This setting does not affect which ports can be used to output commands and macros from the control system. (This option is enabled by default.)
- Check the boxes of all individual outputs that you wish to enable for IR passthrough.
- 3. Select OK to confirm all selections.

Provice Properties Image: Control of the second s

Relay Output Por	Flag Names t Names	Notes IR Passthrough
₽ Enable IR P	aisthrough	
Port 1		
Port 2		
Port 3		
Port 4		
Port 5		
High Out	8	
it ingriou		

RP6 RELAY TAB

- **1.** Select the normal position for relays 1, 2 and 3 to be either open or closed.
- 2. Select OK to confirm all selections.



RP6 RELAY CONTROL EXAMPLES

The three relays in the RP-6 can provide contact closure or switching control for loads up to 3A/30VDC each. All three relays are Normally Open when not energized, but they can be programmed to behave Normally Closed as long as power is applied to the RP-6.

12V TRIGGER EXAMPLE

To use a relay as a voltage trigger, connect the positive side of a power supply to CONTACT A, and connect CONTACT B and the ground side of the power supply to the desired device. If the desired trigger voltage is +12VDC, it can be sourced directly from the RP-6.

CONTACT CLOSURE EXAMPLE

For contact closure control, simply connect the A and B contact terminals of a relay to the desired device.

RP6/RP1 FLAG NAMES TAB

1. Input the names of the flags to be associated with this device in a Flag Macro Step.

Note: Flags are used in macros to keep track of a component or remote device's status and act based on that status. For example, you can use this functionality to make discrete power ON and OFF macros for components for which you have only toggle codes. Flags exist on a per-device basis, therefore you must name each flag used by each remote device or contol processor. (See Working with Macros - Chapter 8 for more information on programming macros using Flags).

2. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

RP6/RP1 NOTES TAB

1. Enter any device specific notes for future reference.

Note: This field does not affect the functionality of the device, it is for your informational purposes only.



~	utput Port Na	Flat Names	pi Passtriough	
	say.	. and second	I neces	
Flag	Name			1
100	Unnamed			
200	Unnamed			
003	Unnaned			r
004	Unnamed			
005	Unnamed			
006	Unnamed			
007	Unnamed			
800	Unnamed			
009	Unnened			
010	Unnamed			
001	Unnamed			
012	Unnamed			
613	Unnemed			
054	Unnamed			
005	Unnaned			
016	Unnamed			
017	Unnamed			
018	Unnaned			
910	Imment			2



Chapter 5. Working with Pages

INTRODUCTION TO PAGES

TheaterTouch remote control devices organize and store all individual IR commands, text labels, macros and programmable actions for the keypad buttons and touchscreen buttons in groups called pages. Buttons on each page are then programmed to operate the individual components in a system.

Page programming for each TheaterTouch remote control device differs depending on the model. The following sections of this chapter detail the programming steps for each model.

K4 IN-WALL UNIVERSAL CONTROLLER DESIGN WINDOW

The K4 In-Wall Universal Controller provides up to 200 pages that organize and store the programming of touchscreen buttons. Pages are added individually and displayed in the page list of the design window. The page list order may be changed by clicking on the page you wish to move, holding the mouse button down, then dragging it to the desired location in the list.

Page links must be programmed using touchscreen buttons to display the pages of a particular source component in proper order.

Page List	Touchscreen Grid
Home Page [K4] *	
Pages: 1. Home Page 2. Home Page 3. Composite 2 4. Composite 3 5. Composite 4 6. Front Desk 7. Sat w/video 8. Cable/Satellite 9. CD/Changer 10. Climate 11. DVD/Changer 10. Climate 11. OVD/Changer 12. Cable/Sat fav: 13. Cable/Sat fav: 13. Cable/Sat fav: 14. Cable/Sat fav: 15. Cable/Sat fav: 15. Cable/Sat fav: 16. Cable/Sat fav: 17. Lighting 18. Main 19. MP3 Server 20. Keyboard 21. Confirm 22. Wi/Sinis	
22. AM/Sirius 23. XM/Sirius fav1 24. XM/Sirius fav2 25. XM/Sirius fav3 26. XM/Sirius fav3 26. XM/Sirius fav5 28. Cable w[video 29. Surveillance 30. Surveillance 31. Tivo bw[video 33. Tuner 34. TV Controls 35. Video Cassettx 36. Browner	

RK3 IN-WALL UNIVERSAL CONTROLLER DESIGN WINDOW

The RK3 In-Wall Universal Controller provides up to 200 pages that organize and store the programming of touchscreen and hard buttons. Pages are added individually and displayed in the page list of the design window. The page list order may be changed by clicking on the page you wish to move, holding the mouse button down, then dragging it to the desired location in the list.

Page Left and Right buttons can be programmed with page links to easily display multiple pages of a particular source component in proper order.



T4 REMOTE CONTROL DESIGN WINDOW

RK3 In-Wall Universal Controller provides up to 200 pages that organize and store the programming of touchscreen and hard buttons. Pages are added individually and displayed in the page list of the design window. The page list order may be changed by clicking on the page you wish to move, holding the mouse button down, then dragging it to the desired location in the list. Page links must be programmed using touchscreen buttons to display the pages of a particular source component in proper order.



T3 REMOTE CONTROL DESIGN WINDOW

The T3 Remote Control provides up to 200 pages that organize and store the programming of hard buttons and touchscreen buttons. Pages are added individually and displayed in the page list of the design window. The page list order may be changed by clicking on the page you wish to move, holding the mouse button down, then dragging it to the desired location in the list.

Page Left and Right buttons can be programmed with page links to easily display multiple pages of a particular source component in proper order.



T2+ REMOTE CONTROL DESIGN WINDOW

The T2+ Remote Control provides up to 64 pages that organize and store the programming of hard buttons and touchscreen buttons. Pages are added individually and displayed in the page list of the design window. The page list order may be changed by clicking on the page you wish to move, holding the mouse button down, then dragging it to the desired location in the list.

Each page has up to twelve frames that are accessed by scrolling left and right with the arrows at the bottom of the touchscreen grid. Unused frames after the last used frame on a page are automatically discarded when the remote control is programmed.



T1 REMOTE CONTROL DESIGN WINDOW

The T1 Remote Control provides eight pages that organize and store the hard button programming. These pages are numbered 1-8 and displayed in the page list of the design window.

The eight source buttons provided (S1-S8) are permanently set to global mode (indicated by the green color) and page linked to select the matching numbered page by default (indicated by the number located at the lower left corner). An LED indicator behind each source button illuminates to indicate the selected page.

Source buttons should be programmed with macros to properly activate the system and corresponding source components.



U1 REMOTE CONTROL DESIGN WINDOW

The U1 Remote Control provides four pages that organize and store the programming of hard buttons. These pages are numbered 1-4 and displayed in the page list of the design window.

The four source buttons provided (S1-S4) are permanently set to global mode (indicated by the green color) and page linked to select the matching numbered page by default (indicated by the number located at the lower left corner).

Source buttons should be programmed with macros to properly activate the system and corresponding source components.



ADDING A PAGE (K4/RK3/T4/T3/T2+)

- **1.** Select the remote control in the device list.
- **2.** Choose New Page from the Page Menu or select the New Page icon \square on the Toolbar.
- **3.** Enter a name for the page in the New Page Title dialog, this is usually the name of the component, such as: CD, Satellite, Lights and so on.
- **4.** Choose OK to confirm the new page.

5. Repeat this procedure for each page you wish to add.

New Page Title	? 🔀
B ≣ ≣ ⊒ 🕺	ОК
Line <u>1</u> :	Cancel
Line <u>2</u> :	<u>C</u> lear
╡╞╢╫╣╠ ║∎□●≛⋓↓↑	$\leftrightarrow \rightarrow \blacksquare \mp$

DELETING A PAGE (K4/RK3/T4/T3/T2+)

- **1.** Select the page to be deleted from the Page List.
- 2. Choose Delete Page from the Page menu or select the Delete Page icon 🔊 on the Toolbar.
- 3. Choose Yes in the Delete Page confirmation box.

DUPLICATING A PAGE (K4/RK3/T4/T3/T2+)

Pages on remote controls with touchscreens can be instantly duplicated. This is useful when pages share common buttons like transport controls or channel macros. One page can be created with these buttons and duplicated as many times as needed.

- **1.** Select the page to be duplicated from the page list.
- 2. Choose Duplicate Page from the Page menu or select the Duplicate Page icon 🖻 on the Toolbar.
- **3.** Give the new page a different name.
- **4.** Choose OK to add the new page.

The new page appears at the end of the page list.

New Page Title	? 🔀
B ≡ ≡ ≡ 🔏	ОК
Line <u>1</u> :	Cancel
Line 2:	<u>C</u> lear
♦ ► ₩ ₩ 4 ₩ 0 ■ □ ● ≜ 0 ↓ ↑	↔ → ▲ ▼

RENAMING A PAGE

RENAMING A PAGE (T1)

- **1.** Select a page in the page list.
- **2.** Choose Edit Page Title from the Page menu or select the Rename Page icon .
- **3.** Select the desired source button title from the list of names in the source name window.
- **4.** Choose OK to confirm the new name.

The new name is updated in the page list of the design window.

CD CD 2 DVD DVD 2 DVR FM GAME HDTV LIGHTS MP3 MUSIC LIB RADIO RCVR SAT SAT 2 SAT MUSIC

RENAMING A PAGE (K4/RK3/T4/T3/T2+/U1)

- **1.** Select a page in the Page list.
- **2.** Choose Edit Page Title from the Page menu or select the Rename Page icon **Sec.**
- **3.** Specify the new page name.
- **4.** Choose OK to confirm the new name.

The new name is updated in the page list of the design window.

Edit Page Title	? 🔀
₩b	ОК
Line <u>1</u> : CD	Cancel
Line 2:	<u>C</u> lear
<->	← → ▲ ▼

INSERTING AND DELETING FRAMES (T2+)

Each page of the T2+ has up to twelve frames on the touchscreen grid that are accessed by scrolling left and right with the arrows at the bottom.

INSERT FRAME COMMAND (PAGE MENU)

This command inserts a blank frame at the current frame position, and shifts all existing frames one frame to the right.

DELETE FRAME COMMAND (PAGE MENU)

This command deletes all of the buttons on the current frame, and shifts all existing frames one frame to the left.

INSERTING A PRE-DEFINED PAGE (K4/RK3/T4/T3/T2+)

TheaterTouch Designer comes with a library of predefined pages for many common types of equipment that you can insert into your Touchscreen and customize as desired.

The page library is accessed through the PageWizard tool.

To add a pre-built page to your file:

- 1. Select a touchscreen remote control from the Device list.
- 2. Choose Page Wizard from the Page menu or select the Page Wizard icon 🔊 on the Toolbar.
- **3.** Scroll through the list of available pages and select the one you want. If there is more than one page available with additional buttons for a particular source, you can use the Next Page and Prev Page buttons to see the previews.
- **4.** Select the Insert button to add the page(s) to your file.
- **5.** Choose the Close button to close the dialog box.

The new page(s) appear at the end of the page list. Choose the editing tools to customize the button style to fit the rest of your file and to place commands, page links and macros on the buttons.

T2+ Page Wizard



T3 Page Wizard



Home	Page
-	•

LINKING A PAGE TO A BUTTON

The TheaterTouch Designer software gives you the ability to link pages. When a button with a page link is pushed on the remote control, the linked page becomes active, in essence turning the page.

Page links are indicated by a small green box containing the number of the linked-to page in the lower left corner of the button.

- **1.** Select the Assign Pages tool \bigcirc from the Tool Palette.
- 2. Place the mouse cursor over the button that you wish to assign a page link.
- **3.** Click the left mouse button.
- 4. Select the page name you wish to link to from the pop-up menu.

A green square appears in the lower left corner of the button that corresponds to the linked page.

Depending on the device, one or two additional options may be available for page linking. The <control panel> link will switch to the built-in "Control Panel" page, and the <previous> option will take you back to the last page that was displayed. Assigning a link to either of these options works the same as assigning a link to a standard page.



REMOVING A PAGE LINK

- **2.** Place the mouse cursor over the button from which you wish to remove the page link.
- **3.** Click the left mouse button.
- **4.** Select the <none> item from the bottom of the pop-up menu.


MERGING PAGES (K4/RK3/T4/T3/T2+)

Merging Pages inserts one or more pages from an existing device into the one that is currently selected for editing. These pages can be taken from a compatible device in the current system file or from one in another file.

- Choose Merge Pages from the File menu or select the Merge Pages tool [™] on the Toolbar.
- **2.** Select where the pages are located, in (a) another device in the current system or in (b) another system file, then choose OK to confirm your choice.



TI+ Samp

- **3.** If you selected (a) another device in the current system, choose from the list located in the Select Device dialog box, choose Open, and then go to step 6 on the next page. Otherwise, go to step 4.
- **4.** If you selected (b) in another system file, choose from the list of files located in the Open dialog box, choose Open, and then go to the next step.
- 5. An error message will appear if a file chosen for page merging does not include a compatible device. If this occurs, choose OK and go back to step 1 to select a different file.
- **6.** Place a check next to each page you would like to merge into the current device.
- **7.** Highlight a particular page to preview the contents.
- **8.** When finished selecting pages, choose OK and all graphics, IR codes and macros will be imported to the device.

All of the marked pages in the list are placed at the end of the page list of the current device.





OK Canof



Chapter 6. Working with Buttons

INTRODUCTION TO BUTTONS

Buttons are the functional elements of a TheaterTouch system. Remote control devices include keypad buttons that you program with frequently used commands. Devices that include a touchscreen allow for more buttons that you draw and program using the TheaterTouch Designer software tools. All TheaterTouch system buttons can be associated with commands, macros, and page links.

DRAWING BUTTONS

- 1. Select a touchscreen remote from the Device list.
- Select a page from the Page list. When programming a monochrome device (T2+), select the desired frame number for that page using the scroll left and right arrows at the bottom.
- **3.** Select the style of button from the button drawing tools located in the Tool Palette. When programming a color device, choose the border style and the normal vs. active border, text and fill colors from the popup menus.

Note: Remote controls with color touchscreens have buttons have two states - Normal and Active. Normal refers to the default style of the button and Active refers to the style of the button while it is pressed.

- **4.** Select the Draw Button tool from the Tool Palette.
- **5.** Place the mouse cursor on the touchscreen grid in the design window where one corner of the new button will be.
- **6.** Click and hold the left mouse button and drag the mouse to the opposite corner of the new button.
- **7.** Release the left mouse button when the button has the desired shape and size.

Repeat this procedure for each button you wish to add.

Button Drawing Tools T2+ Touchscreen



Button Drawing Tools Color Touchscreen K4/RK3/T3



SELECTING BUTTONS

The Select Button tool 🖾 is used to select all buttons for cutting, copying, moving, resizing, or property editing.

To select a single button:

- **1.** Click the Select Button tool 🖾 on the Tool Palette.
- **2.** Place the mouse on the button and click the left mouse button.
- 3. When the button is selected, it is painted in red.

To select a group of buttons located directly next to each other:

- 1. Click the Select Button tool 🗀 on the Tool Palette.
- 2. Placethe mouse cursor next to the first button in the group and click the left mouse button (the mouse cursor can be placed directly on the first button when programming a monochrome touchscreen.)
- **3.** Draw a rectangle around the buttons you wish to select (either in the touchscreen or in the keypad buttons).
- 4. When a button is selected, it is painted in red.





To select a group of buttons that are not located directly next to each other:

- **1.** Select the Select Button tool in on the Tool Palette.
- **2.** Hold down the Shift key on your keyboard (when selecting buttons in a monochrome touchscreen, hold down the CTRL Key).
- **3.** Click the buttons you wish to select (either in the touch-screen or the keypad buttons).
- **4.** When a button is selected, it is painted in red.



All buttons on the touchscreen grid can be selected by choosing Select All from the Edit menu. Selecting Remove Selection from the Edit menu or clicking the left mouse button in an empty portion of the touchscreen grid will remove any current selections. Choose Delete from the Edit menu to remove the selected buttons from the touchscreen grid.

DELETING BUTTONS

- **1.** Select the Delete tool \times from the Tool Palette.
- **2.** Place the mouse cursor over the button you want to delete.
- **3.** Click the left mouse button.
- **4.** Select "Delete Button" from the pop-up menu.

CHANGING BUTTON STYLES

To change an existing button's style. (K4/RK3/T3)

- **1.** Select the button or group of buttons to change with the Select Button tool
- 2. Select the new styles and colors for the buttons from the Button Styles bar.



- To change an existing button's style (T2+):
- **1.** Select the Draw Button tool \checkmark from the Tool Palette.
- **2.** Select the style of button from the Button Styles bar.



- **3.** Place the mouse cursor over the button you wish to change.
- **4.** Click the left mouse button.

USING THE GRID (K4/RK3/T4/T3)

The Use Grid command on the Options menu toggles the alignment grid on and off when editing color device files. With the alignment grid off, you can drag buttons to any position on the screen. With the grid on, the buttons will automatically snap to the nearest grid position as you drag them. You can adjust the grid spacing using the Grid Spacing commands on the Options menu.



10 x 10 Spacing

20 x 20 Spacing

ARRANGING BUTTONS (K4/RK3/T4/T3)

The selected button(s) can be arranged on the touchscreen of a color device using the tools in the alignment bar.

Bring to Front - Click this button to make the selected button(s) appear in front of all other buttons.

Send to Back - Click this button to make the selected button(s) appear behind all other buttons.

Bring Forward - Click this button to move the selected button(s) one step closer to the top of the button order. Since the button order includes all buttons on the page, you may not see any change after clicking this button, if the next button in the order does not overlap the selected button. Click this button repeatedly until the selected buttons are at the desired position in the button ordering.

Send Backward - Click this button to move the selected button(s) one step closer to the bottom of the button order. Since the button order includes all buttons on the page, you may not see any change after clicking this button, if the next button in the order does not overlap the selected button. Click this button repeatedly until the selected buttons are at the desired position in the button ordering.

These features are also available from the right-button context menu.

MOVING BUTTONS (K4/RK3/T4/T3/T2+)

- To move buttons on the touchscreen grid:
- **1.** Select the Button tool if from the Tool Palette.
- **2.** Select the button or group of buttons.
- **3.** Hold down the left mouse button to drag the selection to a new location.
- 4. Release the left mouse button to place the buttons.

MOVING BUTTONS (K4/RK3/T4/T3)

Color devices have additional options available when moving buttons.

- **1.** Holddown the CTRL key while dragging the selected buttons to make a copy of the buttons, leaving the original buttons in their original positions.
- **2.** Hold down the ALT key while dragging the buttons to turn off grid snap while the buttons are dragged.
- **3.** Hold down the SHIFT key and use the ARROW keys to move a selected button or group of buttons 1 pixel at a time.
- **4.** Use the Arrow buttons group of buttons 1 pixel at a time.

from the Alignment Toolbar to move a selected button or

MOVING BUTTONS - Continued

For color devices, you also can use the tools on the Alignment Bar to arrange many buttons with a single operation. You must have more than one button selected to enable these tools. In addition, the tools on the Alignment Bar use the concept of an anchor button when you have multiple buttons selected. To change the anchor button among the buttons that are selected, hold down the SHIFT key and click on the button that you wish to make the anchor of the selection. The anchor button is indicated by filled red rectangles in the corners of its selection rectangle, while all other buttons are painted with white and red rectangles in their corners.

Align Left - Select this button to move all the selected buttons so that their left edges line up with the left edge of the "anchor" button. The buttons will be moved horizontally but not vertically by this command.

Align Center - Select this button to move all the selected buttons so that their horizontal centers line up with the horizontal center of the "anchor" button. The buttons will be moved horizontally but not vertically by this command.

Align Right - Select this button to move all the selected buttons so that their right edges line up with the right edge of the "anchor" button. The buttons will be moved horizontally but not vertically by this command.

Align Top - Select this button to move all the selected buttons so that their top edges line up with the top edge of the "anchor" button. The buttons will be moved vertically but not horizontally by this command.

Align Middle - Select this button to move all the selected buttons so that their vertical centers line up with the vertical center of the "anchor" button. The buttons will be moved vertically but not horizontally by this command.

Align Bottom - Select this button to move all the selected buttons so that their bottom edges line up with the bottom edge of the "anchor" button. The buttons will be moved vertically but not horizontally by this command. You must have more than one button selected to use this command. These features are also available from the right-button context menu.

RE-SIZING BUTTONS

Existing buttons on the LCD display may be re-sized at any time. The text on a button may be clipped if the button's size is reduced, but any associated command or macro will not be lost. To re-size a button:

- **1.** Select the Select Button tool 🛄 from the Tool Palette.
- **2.** Select the button you wish to re-size by clicking on it with the left mouse button. Note that to resize a button, only one button can be selected. If the selection can be resized, small boxes will appear in the red border on all four sides.
- **3.** Position the mouse over the edge of the button that you would like to resize, click the left mouse button, and drag the mouse to change the size.
- **4.** Release the mouse button when you have the desired size.

RE-SIZING BUTTONS - Continued

For color devices, you can use the Resize Tools on the Alignment Toolbar to resize many buttons with a single operation. In addition, the Resize Tools use the concept of an anchor button when you have multiple buttons selected. To change the anchor button among the buttons that are selected, hold down the SHIFT key and click on the button that you wish to make the anchor of the selection. The anchor button is indicated by filled red rectangles in the corners of its selection rectangle, while all other buttons are painted with white and red rectangles in their corners.

Make Same Width - Click this button to make all of the selected buttons the same width as the "anchor" button, while leaving their heights unchanged.

Make Same Height - Click this button to make all of the selected buttons the same height as the "anchor" button, while leaving their widths unchanged.

Make Same Size - Click this button to make all of the selected buttons the same width and height as the "anchor" button.

Make Same Style - Click this button to make all of the selected buttons the same style and color as the "anchor" button.

These features are also available from the right-button context menu.

EDITING BUTTON TEXT

1. Select the **Edit Text** tool \underline{A} from the **Tool Palette**.

- **2.** Place the mouse cursor over the button where you want to add or edit text.
- **3.** Click the left mouse button.
- 4. Enter the text in the Edit Button Text dialog
- **5.** Clickon any of the symbols to insert them into the active line
- 6. Insert a Control Variable such as the time (K4/RK3 only.)

6. Click OK

Edit Text T2+	
Edit Button Text	? 🔀
	OK Cancel
Line 2: ▲ ▶ H Ħ Ħ Ħ IÞ II ■ □ ● ≛ ⊍ ↓ ↑ ← Edit Button Txt Edit Text T3 And 9 9 8 7 U E ± 1 □ □	
Edit Text K4/RK3	
	Current Time (Jaffaut) Current Time (Jaffaut) Current Time (Jaffaut) Current Date (Jaffaut)

EDITING BUTTON TEXT - Continued

You can use any of the options in the **Edit Button Text** dialog to customize the button.

- В Make the text bold.
- Z Make the text italicized.
- U Underline the text.
- Ē Justify the text to left side of the button.
- 圭 Center the text horizontally in the button.
- ≣ Justify the text to the right side of the button.
- \square Shift the text to the top of the button.
- Center the text vertically in the button.
- Shift the text to the bottom of the button.
- ≯₃b Enable the auto-complete feature, which will automatically finish typing the name for commonly used buttons.

ADDING BITMAPS TO BUTTONS

Buttons can be added by dragging and dropping bitmaps stored in the Bitmap tab of the Library Browser. There are two main parts to the Bitmap tab of the Library Browser:

LIBRARY LIST

The Library list shows the name of the currently selected library. To change the selected bitmap library:

2. Select the desired Bitmap Library from the drop **1.** Click on the down arrow on the right side to show all libraries in the current directory. down list.





LIBRARY LIST - Continued

To change the current Bitmap Library directory:

- 1. Select Set Bitmap Library Directory from the Options menu.
- 2. Select a new directory from the directory tree.
- **3.** Choose OK to confirm the new directory.

Four special items are listed in the Library List:

- **1. Al libraries** Shows all the bitmaps from all the libraries in the current directory together in the Bitmap List.
- **2. Al black & white libraries** Shows all the bitmaps from all .bml files in the current directory.
- Al color libraries Shows all the color bitmaps but not bitmaps from .bml files.
- **4. Selected libraries** Shows all the bitmaps from multiple libraries in the current directory. When you select this option, a dialog box will pop up where you can choose which libraries you would like to display.

BITMAP LIST

The Bitmap list shows all the bitmaps in the currently selected library or libraries.

Holding your mouse over any bitmap causes a title and size to appear in a small ToolTip.

To place a bitmap on the design window:

- 1. Select the Bitmap tab in the Library Browser.
- **2.** Select a bitmap library in the pull down menu and browse the list for the desired bitmap.
- **3.** Position the mouse over the bitmap. Hold the left mouse button and drag the bitmap to the touch-screen grid.
- **4.** Release the left mouse button to place the bitmap on the touchscreen grid.

Library Browser

st pelow.				1
	🖲 🛄 Real			-
	😑 😋 RTI			
	801	heaterTouch D	esigner i	
	88	Bitmag Libra	CES	
	T	Co Sample	Color Bitman	11
		Command I	brarias	8
		Contraction D	10.00	
		Custom Bub	tons.	
		Drivers		0
	-6	My Systems		
	-6	Reports		
	-6	Templates		Ť.
	D Pa Durks	A		10
4	and the second s			100

Selected Libraries

Define Subset	? 🔀
Place a check next to the libraries you w	ould like to use.
Animation	ОК
Buttons Channel Icons - Music Choice	Cancel
□ Channel Icons - Sirius ☑ Channel Icons - TV	Select All
Channel Icons - XM Radio	Unselect All





ADDING BITMAPS TO BUTTONS

If you drop the bitmap onto an empty section of the touchscreen grid, a new button is automatically created with the default style, and the bitmap is placed on that button. If you drop a bitmap onto an existing button, the button must be large enough to accommodate the bitmap and any text or bitmap already on that button will be replaced.

NOTE: You cannot drag color bitmaps onto a T2+.

Some of the items in the bitmap list may be marked with one of the following icons:

This bitmap has both a "normal" and an "active" image.

- This bitmap is a page background.
- B This bitmap will create multiple buttons when it is dropped onto the touchscreen grid.

When dragging bitmaps onto a color remote device, you can use the following modifier keys to change what happens when the bitmap is dropped:

CTRL - Force a new button to be created for this bitmap even if you are currently dropping it on top of an existing button. If you do not hold down the CTRL key, the bitmap will be added to the existing button.

SHIFT - Use this bitmap as the "Active" image. If you do not hold down the SHIFT key, the bitmap will be used as the "Normal" image. If the bitmap has an **C** icon, both the normal and active images will be set when you drop the image onto your file. You do not need to hold down the SHIFT key in this case.

ALT - If this image is marked as a background image (with the \square icon), it will be created as a regular button. If it is not marked with the \square icon, it will be used as a background.

CUSTOM BUTTONS AND BITMAPS (T2+)

The TheaterTouch Designer software comes with two additional programs for creating custom graphics for monochrome devices (T2+). These programs are very similar in appearance and functionality and both programs can be accessed from the Library menu within the TheaterTouch Designer program.

The **Button Bitmap Editor** is for creating and editing button bitmaps for such things as channel and transport icons.

The **Custom Button Editor** is for creating and editing custom buttons for such things as company logos or complex groups of controls.

Custom Buttons have several fundamental differences from Bitmaps:

- **1.** Custom Buttons must specify an image of the entire button. Bitmaps are smaller, and therefore can be placed on buttons with the standard border styles.
- **2.** Custom Buttons can contain more than one active button area, so a whole group of related controls can be created as a single Custom Button. Bitmaps are indivisible, and must be placed separately onto individual buttons.
- **3.** Custom Buttons must provide an image for both the Up (normal) and Down (pressed) states of the button. Bitmaps provide only the Up image. The Down image of a Bitmap is created by simply inverting it.
- **4.** Custom Buttons can be any size, up to the entire display size (but each active area must be four squares by four squares or smaller). Bitmaps are limited to a handful of pre-defined sizes.

Given these characteristics, Custom Buttons are most appropriate for complex or large groups of controls, such as a customized set of transport controls for a DVD player, or a large company logo. Bitmaps are most appropriate for small pictures that don't need a full button to display, such as TV channel icons or small logos. Since Bitmaps don't have a Down image, they take half as much memory to store in the device, so more Bitmaps can be created.

Custom Buttons are stored within Libraries, not as individual files. Before you can design your own Custom Buttons, you must create a new library file using the Custom Button Editor or Button Bitmap Editor. The library file can have many Custom Buttons within it.

IMAGE EDITORS (T2+)

BUTTON BITMAP EDITOR

The Button Bitmap Editor is used to create or modify Bitmaps for use with TheaterTouch Designer software. A Bitmap is a small image that is placed on a button, which provides an optional border around the image.



Bitmap Editor Screen

CUSTOM BUTTON EDITOR

The Custom Button Editor is used to create or modify Custom Buttons for use with TheaterTouch Designer software. A Custom Button is a set of related buttons that are drawn and placed as a unit.



Custom Button Editor Screen

IMAGE EDITORS

Toolbar – Icons for easy access to frequently used programming features.

Thumbnail View (Bitmap Editor) - The Thumbnail view shows a 1:1 view of the current icon regardless of the zoom level that the Drawing Area is currently using. The colored frame in the Thumbnail View indicates which portion of the image is displayed in the Drawing Area. You can turn this frame on and off choosing the View menu and selecting the Show Thumbnail Zoom Frame command.

Up/Down Buttons (Custom Button Editor) - Click on the "Up Image" button to display the Up Image in the Drawing Area, or click on the "Down Image" button to display the Down Image.

The Up Image is the picture that is normally displayed on the TheaterTouch screen. The Down Image is the picture that is displayed if the button is pressed or has its "Reversed" property set.

Drawing Tools - Icons for easy access to the tools used for editing images.

Drawing Area – The Drawing Area is where the current image is displayed for editing. The scroll bars to the right and bottom of the Drawing Area allow you to pan to different portions of the image if the window is too small (or the Zoom level too large) for you to see the whole image at once. Clicking the mouse buttons in this area will carry out the function of the currently selected Drawing Tool.

Status Bar - The Status Bar is divided into three panes.

- 1. The left-most pane displays a short help message.
- 2. The middle pane displays the current position of the cursor on the Bitmap (not the current window).
- **3.** The right-most pane displays the size in pixels of the current selection or drawing object. As a selection or drawing object (such as a rectangle) is drawn, this pane will indicate the size of the object.

TOOLBAR

The toolbar provides instant access to commonly used Button Bitmap Editor and Custom Button Editor functions.





CreateNew Library Command – Use this command to create a library to hold your custom buttons or bitmaps. The built in libraries that come with the software are read-only and new images cannot be saved to them. This command should only be used when a new library is desired. If you want to create a new image, use the **Create New Image Command**.



Open Library Command – Use this command to open existing libraries. The currently open library, if any, will be closed.

TOOLBAR - Continued

Edit Library Command - Use this command to rename or delete a custom button or bitmap in a library that you created. The built in libraries that come with the software are read-only and images cannot be edited. This command is not available unless a Bitmap Library is open.



CreateNew Image Command – Use this command to create a new image in the currently open library in the **Bitmap Editor**, the **New Bitmap Size** dialog will be displayed, where you can select the size for the new Bitmap. The built in libraries that come with the software are read-only and new images cannot be saved to them.



Open Image Command – Use this command to open an existing image in the currently open library for editing. When you choose the **Open Image** command, the **Open Image** dialog box is displayed to allow you to select which image to edit. This command is not available unless a Bitmap Library is open.

- **Save Image Command** Use this command to save the current image to the currently open library. If the image has already been saved, this command updates the existing version. If the image has never been saved before, this command is the same as the Image Save Image As command, and displays the Edit **Title** dialog for you to enter a name. This command is not available unless a library is open and an image is being edited.
- **Undo Command** Use this command to reverse the last change you made to the image. Choose the 5 **Undo** command again to reverse the previous change. A maximum of 64 changes are reversible with the Undo command. The **Undo** command can only reverse editing changes to the current image. It cannot undo changes to a library, and the **Undo** information is destroyed when the image is closed or the view is toggled between the Up and Down images in the Custom Button Editor.
- **Redo Command** Use this command to cancel the effect of the last **Undo** command. Choose the **Redo** C¥. command again to cancel the next Undo. A maximum of 64 changes can be canceled with the Redo command. The **Redo** command can only cancel Undo commands to the current image. The Redo information is destroyed when the image is closed, when the view is toggled between the Up and Down images, or when other editing changes are made to the image.
- **Cut Command** Use this command to move the selected sections to the Clipboard, this replaces the Ж selection with solid white. Since the Clipboard is shared between applications, you can use it to exchange images with other programs. For example, you can start work on an image in an Image Editor, select and copy it to the Clipboard, and then paste it into Windows Paint for further modifications. You can also copy an image from Paint and paste it into an Image Editor.

TOOLBAR - Continued

- Copy Command Use this command to copy selected sections to the Clipboard. This command does not alter the current image. Since the Clipboard is shared between applications, you can use it to exchange images with other programs. For example, you can start work on an image in an Image Editor, select and copy it to the Clipboard, and then paste it into Windows Paint for further modifications. You can also copy an image from Paint and paste it into an Image Editor.
- **Paste Command** Use this command to place previously cut or copied sections from the clipboard back onto the touchscreen grid and switches the Button Bitmap Editor or Custom Button Editor into **Selection** mode. You can drag the pasted sections to the desired position on the page. You can use this to move images between the Button Bitmap Editor and the Custom Button Editor. This command is not available if the data on the Clipboard is not in bitmap format.



Help Topics – Use this command to open the Help Topics dialog box for more help.

DRAWING TOOLS

The Drawing Tools provide access to all the tools used by the Button Bitmap Editor and Custom Button Editor.



- **Selection Tool** The **Selection** Tool is used to define a rectangular selection region on the image. To define a selection, click the left mouse button in the Drawing Area where one corner of the selection rectangle should be placed, drag the mouse to the opposite corner, and release the mouse button.
- **Button Selection Tool** (Custom Button Editor only) The **Button Selection** Tool defines the active button areas on a Custom Button image. To define a button selection, click the left mouse button in the Drawing Area where one corner of the selection rectangle should be placed, drag the mouse to the opposite corner, and release the mouse button. To remove an existing button selection, place the mouse cursor inside of the selection you wish to remove and click the right mouse button.
 - **Zoom Tool** The **Zoom** Tool is used to magnify portions of the image. Click the left mouse button over a spot in the Drawing Area to "Zoom In" (make the image larger) or click the right mouse button over a point to "Zoom Out" (make the image smaller). The **Zoom** commands on the **View** menu can also be used to change the Zoom level.

DRAWING TOOLS - Continued

Rencil Tool - The **Pencil** Tool is used to color individual pixels on the image. Click the left mouse button in the Drawing Area to turn the pixel under the Pencil point black, and click the right mouse button to turn the pixel white.

Brush Tool - The **Brush** Tool acts like the Pencil Tool, but colors a larger portion of the image. The Brush Size, the size of the shape that the Brush draws, can be changed by clicking on a different sized brush in the rectangular area below the drawing tools, or by choosing a size from the Brush Size menu under the View menu. Click the left mouse button in the Drawing Area to turn the pixels under the Brush black, and click the right mouse button to turn the pixels white.



Ø

Fill Tool - The **Fill** Tool is used to color large portions of the image. Several Fill Patterns are available in the rectangular area below the drawing tools. To use the Fill Tool, choose the desired Fill Pattern, and then click the left mouse button inside of the area to fill. The Fill Tool will color the image with the Fill Pattern in all directions until it encounters a black line or the edge of the image. If the fill is to be contained to the inside of a shape, be sure that there are no gaps in the shape's border.

Eraser Tool - The **Eraser** Tool is identical to the Brush Tool except that clicking the left mouse button draws in white, and clicking the right mouse button draws in black.

Line Tool - The **Line** Tool is used to draw straight lines on the image. To draw a black line, click and hold the left mouse button in the Drawing Area where one end of the line should go, move the mouse to the other end of the line, and release the mouse button. To draw a white line, follow the same steps but click the right mouse button instead of the left.

Text Tool - The **Text** Tool is used to place text on the image. To place text, click the left mouse button in the Drawing Area, and the **Place Text** dialog will appear. Enter the desired text in the dialog and click OK. The text will appear in a blue selection rectangle, where it can be placed precisely on the image.

Fectangle Tool - The **Rectangle** Tool is used to draw rectangles on the image. Click the left mouse button in the Drawing Area where one corner of the rectangle should be placed, drag the mouse to the opposite corner, and release the mouse button. To draw a white rectangle, follow the same steps but click the right mouse button instead of the left. The portions of the image in the center of the rectangle are not affected by this tool.

DRAWING TOOLS - Continued

Ì	\cap	
I		l

Founded Rectangle Tool - The **Rounded Rectangle** Tool is used to draw rectangles with rounded corners on the image. The radius of the corners is the same as that of "Radius" buttons on the TheaterTouch. Click the left mouse button in the Drawing Area where one corner of the rounded rectangle should be placed, drag the mouse to the opposite corner, and release the mouse button. To draw a white rounded rectangle, follow the same steps but click the right mouse button instead of the left. The portions of the image in the center of the rounded rectangle are not affected by this tool.



Circle Tool - The **Circle Tool** is used to draw circles and ovals on the image. Click the left mouse button in the Drawing Area where one corner of the imaginary rectangle that bounds the circle should be placed, drag the mouse to the opposite corner, and release the mouse button. To draw a white circle, follow the same steps but click the right mouse button instead of the left. The portions of the image in the center of the circle are not affected by this tool.

FilledRectangle Tool - The **Filled Rectangle** Tool is used to draw rectangles filled with a Fill Pattern on the image. Several Fill Patterns are available in the rectangular area below the drawing tools. To use the **Filled Rectangle** Tool, choose the desired Fill Pattern, click the left mouse button in the Drawing Area where one corner of the rectangle should be placed, drag the mouse to the opposite corner, and release the mouse button. To draw a solid white rectangle, follow the same steps but click the right mouse button instead of the left.

_

Filled Rounded Rectangle Tool - The **Filled Rounded Rectangle** Tool is used to draw rectangles with rounded corners filled with a Fill Pattern on the image. Several Fill Patterns are available in the rectangular area below the drawing tools. To use the **Filled Rounded Rectangle** Tool, choose the desired Fill Pattern, click the left mouse button in the Drawing Area where one corner of the rectangle should be placed, drag the mouse to the opposite corner, and release the mouse button. To draw a solid white rounded rectangle, follow the same steps but click the right mouse button instead of the left.

•

Filled Circle Tool - The **Filled Circle** Tool is used to draw circles and ovals filled with a Fill Pattern on the image. Several Fill Patterns are available in the rectangular area below the drawing tools. To use the **Filled Circle** Tool, choose the desired Fill Pattern, click the left mouse button in the Drawing Area where one corner of the imaginary rectangle bounding the circle should be placed, drag the mouse to the opposite corner, and release the mouse button. To draw a solid white circle, follow the same steps but click the right mouse button instead of the left.

UP IMAGE-DOWN IMAGE TOOL (Custom Button Editor Only):

Click on the **Up Image** button to display the Up Image in the Drawing Area, or click on the **Down Image** button to display the Down Image.

All Custom Buttons have two totally separate images, an Up image, which represents the button in its normal state; and a Down image, which represents the button in its pressed state. The Up image is the picture that is normally displayed by the TheaterTouch, unless the button has its **Reversed** property set, in which case the Down image is normally displayed.

Û	Up Image
Ŷ	Down Image

In most cases, you will find it easiest to create the Up image first. As a starting point for creating the Down image, you may want to select the whole Up image, copy it to the **Clipboard**, switch to the Down image, and paste the image from the **Clipboard**.

At this point, you can use the editor to modify the image you pasted to make it the Down image. If a simple reversal is all you need, the **Invert Selection** command on the **Edit** menu will do the trick.

NEW BITMAP SIZE DIALOG BOX (Button Bitmap Editor Only):

The New Bitmap Size dialog box opens when you select the Create New Image command in the Button Bitmap Editor. You can choose from the five sizes listed in the dialog box, a sample of the size will be displayed in the Sample section.

	Sample:
 26 by 10 pixels 	
26 by 26 pixels	
58 by 26 pixels	
58 by 42 pixels	
58 by 58 pixels	

26 by 10 pixels = 1 section wide by 1 section high, which is the smallest button bitmap size.

26 by 26 pixels = 1 section wide by 2 sections high, which is the standard channel icon size.
58 by 26 pixels = 2 sections wide by 2 sections high, which is one-third of the touchscreen
58 by 42 pixels = 2 sections wide by 3 sections high, which is half of the touchscreen.
58 by 58 pixels = 2 sections wide by 4 sections high, which is two-thirds of the touchscreen.

ADDING A CUSTOM BUTTON (T2+)

The Custom Button Library dialog allows you to select which Custom Button to place on the touchscreen grid.

- **1.** Select the Place Custom Button tool
- **2.** Select the library in which the custom button you want is located by clicking the Open Library button, selecting the library and clicking Open.
- **3.** Default directory is: [C:\Program Files\RTI\TheaterTouch Designer\ Custom Buttons]
- **4.** Select a button name and a preview of the button will appear in the Custom Button Library Browser.
- 5. Choose OK to insert the custom button on the touchscreen grid and close the Custom Button Library Browser.
- 6. Drag the custom button to the proper place on the page.



EDITING A BUTTON'S PROPERTIES

The Edit Button Properties dialog allows you to edit many different attributes of a button.

To open the Edit Button Properties dialog box:

1. Select the **Edit Button Properties** tool from the **Tool Palette**.

2. Select the button you want to edit, either touchscreen or keypad buttons

Not all of the tabs and/or controls will be available simultaneously. Only the options relevant to the button being edited will be shown.

GENERAL TAB (K4/RK3/T3)

The General Tab allows adjustments to the appearance and behavior of the selected button.

POSITION

1. Adjustable display of the selected button's X and Y position.

SIZE

2. Adjustable display of the selected button's width and height in pixels.

BUTTON OPTIONS

3. Selectinglnactive causes the selected button to ignore button presses. This is useful when buttons are used as frames or decorations on the touchscreen and you do not want the active image to appear when they are pressed. If there is another button underneath an inactive button, that button that button will act on a button press.

Selecting Reversed causes the selected button to display its normal image when pressed and its active image at all other times.

BUTTON BEEP SOUND

- **4.** Choose the sound that this button will make when pressed. Use the Sounds tab of the Device Properties to load sound files into this list.
- 5. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

ton Proper	ties		2
no ono	1 .	1 - 1	
General	Outout	IR Boution	Link
	outher 1	intriducing	marca
Position		Size	
X: 124		Width: 112	÷
Y: 124	-	Height: 32	•
Button Optio	ns		
🔲 I <u>n</u> active	(will not respon	id to button presses)
□ <u>R</u> everse	ed (shows the "p	pushed'' state norm	ally)
Button Beep	Sound		
(system del	ault sound)		•
Use the Pro	perties comman	id on the Device me	enu to
cusiomize th	he sounds in this	s list.	
		1 (
	ОК	Cancel	Help
Button Bee (system d (no sounc 1: welcon 2: goodby 3: (no sou 4: (no sou 5: (no sou	DK P Sound efault sound) efault sound) i) re /e und assigned) und assigned]	Cancel	Help

GENERAL TAB (T2+)

The General Tab allows adjustments to the appearance and behavior of the selected button.

BUTTON OPTIONS:

- **1.** Select Disabled to cause the selected button to ignore button presses.
- Select Reversed to cause the selected button to reverse its normal and active images.
- **3.** Select Secured to require that a security code be entered before the action (command, macro, or page link) associated with this button is run. The security code is set with the Properties command in the Device menu.

BUTTON PAUSE

- **4.** Enter the number of seconds you wish the device to pause after releasing the selected button. This setting is useful if you need the button to appear active for an extended period of time, preventing the user from pressing any more buttons while, for instance, a projector or television warms up.
- 5. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Button Properties	
General Output IR Routing Infrared RS-232	
Button Options Disgbled (will not beep or reverse when pressed) Beversed (shows the "pushed" state normally) Segured (prompts for passcode when pressed)	
Button Pause Wait for 0 * seconds after button is released.	
OK Cancel Help	

GENERAL TAB (T1)

BUTTON PAUSE

- Enter the number of seconds you wish the device to pause after releasing the selected button. This setting is useful if you need the button to appear active for an extended period of time, preventing the user from pressing any more buttons while, for instance, a projector or television warms up.
- 2. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

General Output	R5-232		
-Button Pouse Wait for 0	econds afte	r button is release	ed.
	ок	Cancel	Help

OUTPUT TAB (ALL DEVICES)

The Output Tab allows the selected output mode for the selected button to be set to a mode that is different from the device default.

OUTPUT MODE

- 1. Select Use Device Default to set the output type for the selected button to the system default. The system default is selected with the Properties command in the Device menu.
- 2. Select Standalone to force the selected button to transmit IR directly from the device, regardless of the default setting. Selecting this option will also cause any macro on the selected button to run on the device instead of the control system. Use this setting if you want the device to send out IR from the device and an RF trigger to the Control Processor to run a system macro.
- 3. Select RF Trigger Codes for Control system to force the selected button to transmit RF to the control system regardless of the default setting. Selecting this option will also cause any macro on the selected button to run on the control system instead of the device.
- 4. SelectIR Trigger Codes for Control system to force the selected button to transmit IR for the control system regardless of the default setting. Selecting this option will also cause any macro on the selected button to run on the control system instead of the device.

Button Properties
General Output IR Routing Infrared RS-232
Output <u>Mode</u>
are sent from the control system's output ports.
Control System: Use Device Default
OK Cancel Help
J
Control System: Use Device Default
Use Device Default
Override: Controller 1

Note: These settings are normally not changed unless the system contains a mixture of RF and IR commands.

5. Choose the control system that the command for the selected button will trigger.

Note: This setting is only changed when more than one control processor is included in the system.

6. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

IR ROUTING TAB (ALL DEVICES COMMUNICATING WITH AN RP6)

The IR Routing Tab allows IR commands to be addressed to specific IR output ports of the RP6 control processor and to be issued conditionally with the use of power sensing modules. This provides a method of discrete control for identical components and proper power management of components with toggle power commands.

OUTPUT PORTS

- **1.** Select the output ports on the control system for the IR of the selected button.
- **2.** Selecting exactly one numbered IR port enables the use of power sensing modules to conditionally issue a command on the selected button.
- **3.** Choose "Always" to have the command issued regardless of a condition. This option should also be checked if no power sensor is connected to the selected IR output.
- **4.** Choose "Only if the device is ON" to issue the command if a power sensing module senses that a component is on.
- **5.** Choose "Only if the device is OFF" to issue the command if a power sensing module senses that a component is off.
- 6. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Play Properties
Output IR Routing Infrared RS-232
Output Ports
Port 2
Port 3
Port 4
Port 6
🔽 High Out
Send this code Place a check next to exactly ONE output in the "Output Ports" list above to enable the power sensor options.
OK Cancel Help

Play Properties
Output IR Routing Infrared RS-232
Output Ports
Port 1
E Port 2
F Port 3
Fort 4
F Port 5
F Port 6
🔽 High Out
Send this code
C Always
Only if the device is ON (requires power sensor module)
C Only if the device is OFF (requires power sensor module)
OK Cancel Help

INFRARED TAB (ALL DEVICES)

The Infrared Tab allows adjustments of the IR command stored on the selected button.

INFRARED PROPERTIES

- 1. Min. Repeats Enter in this box the number of times that the repeating part of the IR code is sent by the remote. Some infrared receivers need a command to be repeated a certain number of times to work properly, and some may not work properly if the command is repeated at all. Change this setting only if you are having trouble with a command.
- Frequency This box shows the carrier frequency of the IR code. This is set automatically. You should not need to change this value unless directed to do so by Technical Support.
- 3. Sustain Check this box to control whether or not the IR code should repeat if the button is held down. Most infrared codes will transmit continuously as long as the button is held down, but some infrared receivers may not work properly if the command

Properties			?
General Output	IR Routing H	rared RS-232	1
Infrared Proper Min. Repeats Erequency	nies 11 - 12 26.6 - 12 KHz	∏ _Suita	n
Command Info Manufacturer Type: Model: Function:	mation Panasonic Television CT-31SF11 3		
Encoding SPA	CE manber of bi	100000	111111 8494004010
			▶ Copy
[ox 1	Carriel	Help

is repeated at all. If the Sustain button is checked, the code will be transmitted for as long as the button is held down, or the Minimum Repeat times, whichever is greater. If the Sustain button is not checked, the code will be transmitted only the Minimum Repeat number of time regardless of how long the button is held down.

- 4. Command Information Lists the details of the IR command stored in the selected button.
- **5. IR Waveform** This window shows a graphical representation of the Infrared waveform for the command on the selected button. Use the scroll bar on the bottom to view the entire IR waveform. Select Copy to place a picture of the IR waveform on the clipboard.
- 6. Select OK to Confirm the new settings.

RS-232 TAB (ALL DEVICES)

The RS-232 Tab allows an RS-232 command to be assigned to the selected button. The RS-232 function is available only if you include a control processor in the system.

CREATE NEW RS-232 CODE

1. Select Create New RS-232 Code to add an RS-232 command to the selected button.

SERIAL COMMUNICATION SETTINGS

2. Select the desired communications Baud Rate, Data Bits, Parity and Stop Bits from this control. The rates must match the equipment you are controlling. Consult the documentation for the equipment being controlled to obtain the proper values (if you do not find a stop bit value, leave the default of 1.)

OUTPUT SETTINGS

- 3. Delay between characters This adjusts the amount of time the device waits after each character of a string is sent out. Increasing the wait time provides additional time for slow receiving equipment. This value will not require adjustment with most equipment.
- **4. Sustain** Select Sustain to have the RS-232 string sent repeatedly for as long as the button is held down.
- **5. Delay between repeats** Set the amount of time between repetitions of the RS-232 code. This option is only available when the Sustain option is selected. RS-232 commands are issued quickly and should be set to .1 or .2 seconds to obtain acceptable ramping rates for volume and channel up or down commands.
- 6. **Output Port** Select the output port connected to the component receiving the RS-232 command.

RS-232 STRING

7. Hex – Select this button to toggle between editing the RS-232 command in ASCII mode and Hex mode.

8. Choose OK to confirm the new settings.

Note: A red letter C on the button indicates the command.

Note: If you should need more than 200 characters in a command, you can make a macro with two or more command strings without any time delay between them. See Adding an RS-232 Command to a Button - Chapter 7 for more details about entering command strings.

Play Properties		2 2
Output IR Routing	Infrared RS-232	
The bull command at	m does not currently h tached. Click the but a new RS-232 comm Create New RS-232 C	save an RS-232 on below to create and

tay Propert	ties		2
Output RS-2	232		
Senal Com	munications Setting		
Baud Rat	e 2400 💌	Early: N	one 💌
Data Bit	s: 8 💌	Stop Bits: 1	-
Output Sel	tings		
	177.4870		
Delay bety	veen characters:	÷ mi	liseconds
Delay bety	veen characters: 🔽	in E	liseconds
Delay bety V Sustai Dela	yeen characters: 0 2 9 between repeals:	m 10 10 10 10	liseconds conds
Delay bety V Sustai Dela	ween characters: 0 0 9 between repeats: t: Port 1	. mi	liseconds conds
Delay bety Sustan Dela Output Por RS-232 St	yeen characters: 0 between repeats: t Port 1 ing	2 mi 0.0 2 te	lisecond; conds

IMAGE TAB (K4/RK3/T4/T3)

The Image Tab allows image files (*.bmp, *.jpg; *.jpeg, *.png, *.gif, *.tif; *.tiff, *.ico) to be imported directly to the color touchscreen.

NORMAL AND ACTIVE IMAGE

 Displays a preview of the selected buttons normal image (button not pressed) and active image (button pressed) along with the image size in pixels (W x H).

ADD OR DELETE IMAGE

Select + for either the Normal or Active Image to specify an image for the selected button. Select × for either the Normal or Active image to remove an image.

TRANSPARENCY

2. The transparency of non-alpha channel bitmaps can be adjusted by clicking the Transparency button. This will open the Adjust Image Transparency dialog box, then click on the color you wish to make transparent and click OK.

lutton Properties	3
General Output RS-232 Image	Tet Unk
Normal Image (112 x 32) A	ctive Image (112 x 32)
	-
+ × alpha channel .	+ × alpha channel
Algement	
K 1 -	* ()
+ • •	•
<u>x</u> + ;	
	the second se



ALIGNMENT

- 3. Select the alignment of the image within the selected button.
- 4. Select OK to confirm the new settings.

TEXT TAB (K4/RK3/T4/T3)

FONT, SIZE

1. Specify the text font and font size of the selected button from drop down lists.

BOLD, UNDERLINE, ITALIC

2. Check these boxes to apply attributes to the selected buttons text.

HORIZONTAL ALIGNMENT

3. Select the Horizontal alignment of the image within the selected button.

VERTICAL ALIGNMENT

4. Select the Vertical alignment of the image within the selected button.

5. Select OK to confirm the new settings.

Button Properties
General Output IR Routing Infrared RS-232 Image Text
Font Arial
Size: 9
Bold:
Underline:
Horizontal Alignment: Left 🔽
Vertical Alignment:
OK Cancel Help

LINK TAB (K4/RK3/T4/T3)

1. Specify the special transition effect when switching pages.

None - Do not use any special transition effect when switching pages.

ScrollUp - Scroll the page off the top of the screen when switching pages.

ScrollDown - Scroll the page off the bottom of the screen when switching pages.

ScrollLeft - Scroll the page off the left side of the screen when switching pages.

ScrollRight - Scroll the page off the right side of the screen when switching pages.

2. Select OK to confirm the new settings.

EDITING THE PROPERTIES OF MULTIPLE BUTTONS

The Edit Button Properties dialog allows you to edit the different attributes of a group of buttons.

To edit the properties of multiple buttons at once:

- **1.** Select the buttons using the **Select Button** tool from the **Tool Palette**.
- 2. Click the right mouse button on one of the selected buttons, either touchscreen or keypad buttons and choose Edit Properties.

NOTES ABOUT MULTIPLE SELECTIONS:

- 1. When you have more than one button selected, it is possible that they will initially have different settings for some or all of the check boxes. In that case, the following meanings apply to the check box:
- I All the buttons in the selection will retain their original values for this setting.
- I All the buttons in the selection will have this setting set to TRUE
- \Box All the buttons in the selection will have this setting set to FALSE
- **2.** When you have more than one button selected, and they have different values for the numerical fields, they will be left blank. If you DO NOT enter a number, all the buttons will retain their original setting. If you DO enter a number, all the buttons will be set to that value.
- **3.** When you have more than one button selected, and they have different values for the named fields, they will be listed as mixed or multiple. If you DO NOT change the name, all the buttons will retain their original setting. If you DO change the name, all the buttons will be set to that value.

General Output IR Routing Infrared RS-232 Image Text Link Use the following effect when displaying following this link: None Scroll Up Scroll Up Scroll Left Scroll Bight 	Buttor	n Properti	es		?
Use the following effect when displaying following this link: Scroll Up Scroll Down Scroll Left Scroll Bight	Ge R	neral S-232	Output Image	IR Routing Text	Infrared Link
		the following None Scroll Up Scroll Dov Scroll Left Scroll Righ	g effect when a	displaying followin	g this link:

EDIT MENU FUNCTIONS

The Edit menu can be used to cut, copy and paste buttons. Buttons that are cut or copied keep their commands and macros intact.

CUTTING AND COPYING BUTTONS

- **1.** Use the Select Button tool from the Tool Palette to select the button(s).
- **2.** Choose either the Cut Command $\overset{\scale}{\longrightarrow}$ or the Copy Command $\overset{\scale}{\longrightarrow}$ from the toolbar.
- **3.** The button(s) are now on the clipboard.

PASTING BUTTONS

- **1.** Select the page you want to paste the button(s) on from the page list.
- 2. Choose the Paste Command 🖺 from the Toolbar.
- **3.** Move the button(s) to the proper place on the page.

IMPORTING GRAPHICS (K4/RK3/T4/T3)

Since the copy and paste functions are shared between most applications in Windows, you can use these functions to exchange images with other programs when editing a color device.

For example:

- 1. Start work on an image in Windows Paint, select it and use the copy function.
- 2. Switch to TheaterTouch Designer and open the color device for editing.
- **3.** Choose Paste from the Edit Menu or place the mouse in the touchscreen grid of the color device and select Paste from the right click menu.
- **4.** A button with the image appears in the touchscreen grid of a color device.

Chapter 7. Working with Commands

INTRODUCTION TO COMMANDS

Commands (including infrared and RS-232 codes) are programmed on to the buttons of the devices in a system. IR codes can be added to a button by dragging them from the command list in the Library Browser. RS-232 codes are added using the RS-232 tab located in Button Properties dialog box.

Lib	rary Browser DirecTV	
	DVR	
	HR10-250 HDTivo AD	0
	0	<u>~</u>
	1	
	2	
	3	
	4	
	5	
	5	
	<i>′</i>	
	9	
	Channel -	
	Channel +	
	Clear	
	Cursor Down	
	Cursor Left	
	Cursor Right	
	Cursor Up	
	DirecTV	
	Enter / Last	
	Exit	
	Guide	
	Instant Deplay	
	.lumn / -	
	List	
	Live TV	
	Pause	
	Play	
	Ratio	
	Record	
	Scan <<	
	Scan >>	
	Select	
	Slow Thumba David	~
ľ	Select New Remote	
	👖 Commands 🛛 🌃 Bitmaps	
_		

Library Browser Command List

Play Properties
Output RS-232
Serial Communications Settings Baud Rate: 2400 Data Bits: 8 Stop Bits: 1
Output Settings Delay bet <u>w</u> een characters: Sustaini Delay be <u>t</u> ween repeats: 0.0 — seconds
Output Port: Port 1
RS-232 String
OK Cancel Help

Button Properties RS-232 Tab

INTRODUCTION TO THE IR LIBRARY MANAGER

The Infrared Library Manager is a software program that is used to create or modify Infrared Command Libraries. An "Infrared Command Library" is a collection of Infrared codes grouped into units called "Remotes". Infrared Command Libraries store Infrared codes from remote controls that can be placed on buttons or in macros. Typically, you will have a single Infrared Command Library that contains all of your Infrared codes.

The IR Library Manager software program is made available from the Library menu. To use the IR Library Manager:

- 1. Choose IR Library Manager from the Library menu from the TheaterTouch Designer toolbar.
- **2.** From here, you can decide to (1) create a new library of commands or (2) add to or edit an existing library by choosing from the File menu either New or Open.

Menu Bar	Т	ōolbar	IR	Comn	nand List	t	
🗐 Infrared Library N	Nanager - [M	ain					
Ele Remote Option	ns <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u>	elp				-	đΧ
🛛 🖻 🎒 🖉 🦉 🎆 🕻	🐹 🕹 🕷	♥♥♥ \ ?					
Denon	pres	DirecTV / Satell	ite / HR10-2	250			
🖃 🧰 DirecTV		Function	Fre	equency	Repeats	Sustain	^
🕀 🧰 DSS		• 0	40	.0 KHz	1		
🗄 🧰 DVR	_	•1	40	.0 KHz 👌	1		≡
🖻 🧰 Satellite	=	• 2	40	.0 KHz	1		
- <u>a</u>		• 3	40	LO KHz	1		
HR 10-2	250	• 4	40	UKHZ	1		
🗄 🛄 Dish 🔹		• C	40	U KHZ	1		
🕀 🧰 Dish Network		• 7	40		1		
E. DLS		• 8	40	0 KH2	1		
🕂 🛄 Draper		• 9	40	LO KHz	1		
🛨 🛄 Dream Vision		Channel -	40	.0 KHz	1		~
E DSC							
DVDO							
🛨 🛄 Dwin		- Add Functions		Delete	e Functions—		
EAD			▼ Add	Dele	te Learned C	ode	
🕂 📃 Earthquake							
Echostar		New Fun	ction Wizard	D	elete Functio	n	
Emerson	~	Edit Capture Wavef	orm View Hex Vie	ew			
For Help, press F1		<u>^</u>	C	Connection	n: None	NUM	_ /
			T 1		1		
Remo	ote List	Functior	1 labs	С	onnectio	n	

Menu Bar – Provides drop down menus of all programming features.

Toolbar – lcons for easy access to frequently used programming features.

Remote List – Displays the brand, type and model of the remotes included in the command library.

IR Command List – Displays an editable list of the

IR codes and their function for the selected remote.

Function Tabs – Programming option tabs for adding and editing individual functions and IR codes.

Connection – Displays the current connection status of the IR capture device.

CREATING A NEW IR COMMAND LIBRARY

- **1.** Choose New from the File menu, the Create IR Library dialog box will appear.
- **2.** Enter the name of the new library in the File name box.
- **3.** Be sure to save your new file in the Command Libraries folder of the TheaterTouch Designer software folder.
- 4. Choose the Save button to create the library.

Once you choose the Save button, the IR Library

Manager window will show there are no remotes in that -



Call To Residen				
	.Seeka	Factoria	fister Jula	
	→			
		All Factors	Online Functions	 n+

OPENING AN EXISTING IR COMMAND LIBRARY

library, the fields will be empty.

- Choose Open from the File menu or select the Open icon icon icon from the Toolbar.
- **2.** When the Open IR Library dialog box appears, select the library command file you wish to open.
- 3. Select the Open button.



Once you select the Open button, the IR Library Manager window will open showing you the remotes that are in — that particular library.

50 59 2 8 i	6	1 1 17					_		
 Denon Denon Dental Numer Excerct 	1	DirecTV / Satellite / HR10-250							
B trestv		Fursher	fing	mxy.	Repeats	Suter	1		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		•0	40.0	KH7	1				
D.F.		•1	41.0	KHz :	1				
🗄 🛄 Satelite	14	• 2	40.0	KH2	1				
- 19-11	1.00	• 3	40.0	KHE.		M			
27 18 10-250			40.0	KHQ.		B			
e 🔜 Deh			40.0	NPQ .		범			
2 🔜 Digh Natholark			40.0	KNG.	4	8			
e 🛄 DLS		- 0	41.0	EH-	-	E			
e 🔜 Draper			40.0	KHP		P			
🗄 🔜 Dreen Talar		• Ownel -	410	KHE	1		12		
H Dibc		Addhing	time Add [Delet Del	Functions Re Learned	cuer [
iii 🔛 Earthquaie 		Marc	Easter Mand	-	abia E acci				
in East			CREATE ALCORE	-	COLUMN T OF COL				

IMPORTING AN IR COMMAND LIBRARY

This programming option allows you to import all remotes from one library file into the current library.

- Choose Import from the Remote menu or select the Import Remote icon <u>4</u>.
- 2. The Import IR Library dialog box will appear.
- **3.** Choose the library you wish to import from the file directories.
- 4. Select Open to import the library.

Note: If any of the remotes in the file being imported have the same names as remotes in the current library, you will be warned and asked which version to keep.

EXPORTING AN IR COMMAND LIBRARY

This programming option allows you to export selected remotes from one library file into a new library file.

- 1. Choose Export from the Remote menu or select the Export Remote icon 🕏.
- 2. The Select Remote to Export dialog box will appear.
- **3.** Choose the remotes you wish to export from the remote list.
- **4.** Choose OK and the Export Remotes to dialog box appears
- **5.** Enter a name and directory for the new library file and choose OK to save the file.

import from IF	Library				2 🗙
Look pr My Recent Documents	Granter Graster GNy Remote	Librartes	*	- 6 0 0	•
My Documents					
My Computer		-			

The fi	le you are importir	ng has a remote	called	
Direc'	TV DVR HR10-25	ODA oviTCH 08		
with th keep are m	he came name as the version in you porting?	a remote alread a library, or repla	yin your library. Do ce it with the one in	you wish to the file you
	1	1.0.0	in a set	



Export Remote	s To				? 🗙
Save p: My Recert Documents Desidop My Documents	Command L Prester	Johne		- 60 67	
My Computer My Network Places	Fie game: Save as type:	Ny Renotes Infrared Lonary Ries (* onl)	_		Save Carcel

TheaterTouch Designer

ADDING A NEW REMOTE

- 1. Choose New from the Remote menu or select the New Remote icon ${\ensuremath{\varnothing}}$.
- 2. The Create New Remote dialog box will appear.
- **3.** Enter the manufacturer's name and the equipment type for the remote control being added (such as TV, VCR, CD, Lights and so on) in the appropriate fields or choose the name and type from the drop down lists.
- 4. Enter the model number of the component operated by the remote.
- 5. Choose OK to add the remote to the IR Command Library.

DUPLICATING A REMOTE

Use this programming option to create a new remote that is an exact copy of the selected remote in the current IR Command Library.

- Choose Duplicate from the Remote menu or select the Duplicate Remote icon 2.
- **2.** The Duplicate Current Remote dialog box will appear.
- **3.** Edit the new manufacturer's name and equipment type for the remote control being duplicated (such as TV, VCR, CD, Lights and so on) in the appropriate fields or choose the name and type from the drop down lists.
- 4. Edit the model number of the component operated by the remote.
- 5. Choose OK to duplicate the remote into the IR Command Library.

RENAMING A REMOTE

- 2. The Rename Current Remote dialog box will appear.
- **3.** Edit the new manufacturer's name and equipment type for the remote control being duplicated (such as TV, VCR, CD, Lights and so on) in the appropriate fields or choose the name and type from the drop down lists.
- **4.** Edit the model number of the component operated by the remote.
- 5. Choose OK to rename the remote in the IR Command Library.

Create New Remo	te 🔀
<u>m</u> anufacturer	
Panasonic	•
type	
DVD Player	•
model	
DVD-S97S	
<u>O</u> K	<u>C</u> ancel

Duplicate Current Remote 🛛 🔀
manufacturer
Panasonic 🔹
<u>type</u>
DVD Player 💌
model
DVD-S77S
<u>D</u> K <u>C</u> ancel

Rename Current Remote	X
<u>m</u> anufacturer	
Panasonic	-
type	
DVD Player	-
mode <u>l</u>	
DVD-S97S	
<u>D</u> K <u>C</u> ancel	

DELETING A REMOTE

- 2. The Delete Remote dialog box will appear.
- **3.** Choose OK to delete the remote from the IR Command Library.



ADD FUNCTIONS TO A REMOTE

The Edit tab is where you create and edit individual functions for a remote file.

To add functions to the currently selected remote:

- 1. Type the function name in the "Add Functions" box and click the Add button.
- 2. The added function appears in the Function list.
- **3.** Repeat step 1 for each function to be added.

Note: The "Add Functions" box also includes a pull down list where you can choose from a list of standard functions. If the remote type is recognized, the list will be filtered to functions only appropriate for that remote type.





USING THE NEW FUNCTION WIZARD

If you are entering a commonly used component to the IR Library, the New Function Wizard option activates to enable quick access to commonly use functions for that type of remote.

- **1.** Choose the New Function Wizard button from the New Remote dialog box.
- 2. The New Function Wizard dialog box appears.
- **3.** Check the functions you wish to add to the Function list.
- **4.** Use Check All to select the entire list and Uncheck all to deselect the entire list.
- 5. Choose OK to confirm the selected functions.

New Remote Wizard 🛛 🔀				
The Remote Wizard ha new remote of a know for the most common c select the appropriate	as detecte n type. To codes for th titles and o	d that you have created a automatically enter titles his type of equipment, lick OK.		
Eunctions:				
	~			
	_	OK		
		Connect		
Audio Mode	=	Lancei		
Enter	=			
✓ Frame <<	_			
✓ Frame >>		<u>C</u> heck All		
Open/Close				
✓ Pause		Uncheck All		
✓ Play	*			
		1		

DELETING FUNCTIONS FROM A REMOTE

You can delete functions by selecting them in the function list and then clicking the "Delete Function" button. If you wish to remove the IR code but leave the function title (so you can re-learn the codes), select the function and click the "Delete Learned Code" button.

EDITING FUNCTIONS IN A REMOTE

Select the property you wish to edit in the function list and make the changes directly in the list. For example, if you want to change the name of a code, select the function name in the function list and type in the new name. You can also edit the frequency, number of repeats, and sustain in the same manner (see Editing IR Codes - Chapter 7 for more information). Note that you must have the Edit tab active to be able to edit the items in the list.

INTRODUCTION TO IR CODES

Two types of infrared codes are most commonly used for consumer electronics products: Frequency Modulated and Pulsed.

FREQUENCY MODULATED

This type of transmission modulates the IR energy at a fixed carrier frequency. The vast majority of consumer electronics remote controls use a carrier frequency around 40kHz, although the carrier can range from 15kHz to 455kHz or higher. The TheaterTouch is designed to reproduce carrier frequencies between 15kHz and 460kHz.

The actual code consists of bursts of IR energy modulated at the carrier frequency, separated by pauses. The code is defined by the length of each burst and each pause, as well as by the carrier frequency.



PULSED IR CODES

This type of transmission does not use a carrier frequency. Pulsed codes are common in cable TV converter boxes.



HOW THE THEATERTOUCH LEARNS IR CODES

There are many different encoding schemes used for IR codes. The burst and pause times have fixed lengths, variable lengths, or some combination of the two. To learn the code, the IR-PRO "records" a sample of the code in a manner similar to the way a tape recorder records sound. Once a sample of the code has been taken, it is analyzed to find any repeating patterns.

Some codes continuously repeat themselves for as long as the button is pressed. Others send a code followed by a "keep alive" pattern. Some codes don't repeat at all. Any of the above types of codes can also have some sort of preamble in front of them. It is very important to capture the preamble in this type of code. The IR learning buffer of the IR-PRO is large enough to accommodate the preamble.

When a repeating pattern is found, extra repeats are stripped off before the code is stored in memory. The number of repeats is also stored so the code can be reproduced accurately.

If the buffer was filled up during learning, it is assumed that the pattern should be repeated for as long as the key is pressed. This is common for commands such as Volume, Balance, and Scan— functions that may need to be continuously repeated. For these types of commands, **Sustain** is set **ON** as the Edit IR default. If the buffer is not filled, **Sustain** is set **OFF** and the repeat pattern is displayed as the **Minimum Repeats**.

The default **Minimum Repeats** for a code with **Sustain ON** is one. This means the repeating pattern will repeat at least one time when the button is pressed. You can edit this if necessary, in the Edit IR mode of Infrared Library Manager software.

If the code uses a carrier frequency, that frequency is also stored with the code.

HINTS FOR LEARNING IR CODES

The following suggestions can help insure more reliable code captures:

- **1.** Make sure you hold down the button on the donor remote until the code capture process is complete. You will be notified when to move on to the next function.
- **2.** Always place the capture unit and the donor remote control on a flat surface. You may find it necessary to elevate the donor or the capture unit with a book or similar object to align them vertically.
- **3.** Once you have learned a code from a remote, try not to move it until you have learned all the codes. If you do accidentally move the remote or IRPro, you should re-align them.
- 4. It is VERY IMPORTANT to make sure the donor remote is using fresh batteries. The capture unit needs a strong IR signal to properly learn a code. If the frequency read-out in the ALIGN mode is 0.0 kHz, then the code is a pulsed type. In this case, you should transmit the commands to the capture unit from as far away as you can without getting an error message.
- **5.** If you always get an error message when trying to learn a code, you should try moving the donor remote up and down or back and forth. If this does not help, try tapping the buttons on the donor instead of holding them down.
HINTS FOR LEARNING IR CODES - Continued

- **6.** Many codes can be made more reliable if the number of repeat times is increased. This is especially true for codes assigned to buttons that are likely to be briefly "tapped" or for commands that are part of a macro.
- **7.** Increasing the number of repeat times increases the probability of the code "getting through", however, increasing the number of repeats may cause some devices to see more than one button press. This is essentially a trade-off between increased reliability and an increase in the length of time required to transmit a code. This can take a bit of fine-tuning on complicated macros.

NOTE: Keep in mind that the IR transmit LEDs may not be located in the center of the donor remote. It may be necessary to place the remote off-center to get a reliable capture.

ADDING IR CODES TO THE IR LIBRARY

Select the Capture tab to learn IR codes for the functions in the current library (select the Edit tab to add the function titles prior to learning any IR codes).

Choose the "Enable Capture" button to allow IR codes to be captured. If a USB capture box is detected, it will automatically be used when the "Enable Capture" button is selected. If you do not have a USB capture box, the Infrared Library Manager will automatically try to use a Serial capture device. You can see which type of capture unit is in use by looking for the "Connection" pane of the Status Bar.

Important: If the "Connection" pane indicates a Serial connection and you are using a USB device, un-plug the USB device, wait five seconds, re-connect it and try again.

CAPTURING IR CODES WITH AN IR-PRO LEARNING DEVICE

The first step in capturing IR codes with an IR-PRO learning device is to align the donor remote correctly. This step is very important, as it allows the Infrared Library Manager to determine the carrier frequency of the donor remote.

- 1. Connect the IR-PRO to a free USB port on your PC.
- 2. Select the Capture tab.
- **3.** Choose the Enable Capture button.
- 4. Choose the Align button.
- **5.** When the device is in Align mode, you will see the following on the Capture tab:
- **6.** Hold down any key on the donor remote, and move it around in front of the capture unit until the signal strength meter turns red and the frequency reading is stable.

Once the remote is properly aligned:

- 1. Select the "Learn" button. The Infrared Library Manager will automatically highlight the first function in the current library without an associated IR code.
- 2. If you want to learn another function, select it in the function list. Your Capture tab should now look like this:
- **3.** Press and hold down the requested function ("Play" in this case) until the Infrared Library Manager learns the code and moves on to the next code.

Important: Once you have the donor remote aligned, try to avoid moving it while capturing codes. If the remote does move out of position, select the Align button and go through the alignment procedure again. If you are having problems communicating with your USB device, see Troubleshooting Communications Problems - Chapter 12.



button on the source remote.

EDITING IR CODES

Most infrared codes will transmit continuously as long as the remote control key is held down. This means that either the entire code or some part of it is being repeated over and over.

The Infrared Library Manager software allows you to adjust the number of command repeat times and to enable or disable continuous transmission.

Select the property you wish to edit in the function list and make the changes directly in the list.

Function	Erequency	Beneats	Sustain	
- 10	38.0 KHz	1		
• 0	38.0 KH2	1		
• 1	38.0 KHz	1		
• 2	38.0 KHz	1		
• 3	38.0 KHz	1		
• 4	38.0 KHz	1		
• 5	38.0 KHz	1		
•6	38.0 KHz	1		
• 7	38.0 KHz	1		
• 8	38.0 KHz	1		
• 9	38.0 KHz	1		
• A-B Beneat	38.0 KHz	1		
Angle	38.0 KHz	1		
• Audio	38.0 KHz	1		
• Call	38.0 KHz	1		
• Clear	38.0 KHz	1		~
Add Function	ins Ad		e Functions ete Learned Code Delete Function	

Repeats - Enter in this box the number of times that the repeating part of the IR code is sent by the remote. Some infrared receivers need a code to be repeated a certain number of times to work properly, and some may not work properly if the code is repeated at all. Change this setting <u>only</u> if you are having trouble with a code.

Frequency - This box shows the carrier frequency of the IR code. This is set automatically. You should not need to change this value unless directed to do so by Technical Support.

Sustain - Check this box to control whether or not the IR code should repeat if the button is held down. Most infrared codes will transmit continuously as long as the button is held down, but some infrared receivers may not work properly if the command is repeated at all. If the Sustain button is checked, the code will be transmitted for as long as the button is held down, or the **Minimum Repeat** times, whichever is greater. If the Sustain button is not checked, the code will be transmitted only the **Minimum Repeat** number of time regardless of how long the button is held down.

VIEWING IR CODES

WAVEFORM VIEW

The Waveform View tab allows you to see a picture of the currently selected Infrared code. This information may be useful to Technical Support if you are having problems learning or using an Infrared code.

Pie Semote Optons Win Pie Semote Optons Win	60% F	100 10 1 10				- 6 7
Cambridge Audio Carey Audio	^	DirecTV / DVR /	HR10-250 HDT	ivo ADO)	
(i) Carver		Function	Frequency	Repeals	Sustan	6
(i) Cary Audio Design		•0	38.0 KHz	1	P	
🛞 🧰 Celadon	1.00	•1	38.0 KHz	1	Ø	
(i) i Channel Master	2	•2	38.0 KHz	1	2	
(i) Chelf		• 3	38.0 KHz	1		
R Classe		• 4	38.0 KHz	1		
· Coby		•5	38.0 KHz	1		
* Concest		•6	38.0 KHz	1		
E Concraditionation		•7	38.0 KHz	1		
E Conland		•8	38.0 KHz	1		
the Cox		• 9	38.0 KHz	1		
the Coat		Channel	38.0 KHz	1		
111 Creek		Channel +	38.0 KHz	1		
Creston		Clear	38.0 KHz	1		
Deewoo		Cursor Down	38.0 KHz	1		
Hentax		Curtor Left	38.0 KHz	1		
Hi Delphi		Cursor Right	38.0 KHz	1		
H Denon				-		
🗄 🛄 Digital Music Expres				1 1111		
E DirecTV						
🕐 🧰 DSS						
E DVR		Encoding: NEC T/3T-32	data INE0313005 group:	0.0530 co		um bad)
- 37 HR 10-250 HDT	NO					
#R-10-250 HD	fivs,	4				 Copy
and the state of the second state of the secon	-					

Yellow Waveform - This portion of an infrared code is sent once.

Green Waveform - This portion of an infrared code is repeated.

Red Waveform - This represents a portion of the infrared code that is very long and is shortened for display purposes.

HEX VIEW

The Hex View tab allows you to import, export, and edit codes in the fully learned Hex format (those that start with 0000.) All other codes must be converted to this format first.

E Cambridge Audo	•	DirecT	V/D	VR / HP	R10	-250	HDT	ivo A	DO					
(i) Carver		Function				Fie	quency	Repe	sta	Sustain				•
🗷 🦲 Cary Audio Design		•0				38.	0 KHz	1						13
🕷 🦲 Celadon	100	•1				38.	0 KHz	1		2				
E 🔜 Channel Master	11	•2				30.	0 KHz	1		2				1.0
🕀 🧰 Cheif	128	• 3				38	0 KH2	1						. 11
🖲 🧱 Classe		• 4				38	0 KHz	1		M				- 11
🐑 🦲 Coby		• 5				38.	0 KHz	1		N				
🛞 🧰 Comcast						38.	OKHZ	-		M				
😢 🦲 conrad jonson						30	0 KHz			R				
🛞 🧾 Copland						38	0 KHz	1.		E				
街 🧰 Cox		· Charnel -				38	0 KHz	1		E.				
🕂 🛄 Creek		• Charnel •				38	0 KHz	1		N				
E Crestron		• Clear				38	0 KHz	1		M				
🐑 🛄 Daewoo		Cursor Do	wn			30.	0 KHz	1						
🛞 🛄 Dentax		Cursor Let	1			38	0 KHz	1		2				1
🖈 🧰 Delphi		Cursor Ric	fot .			38	0 KHz	1		Ø				Υ.
H Denon		HEX Data	0000	006D 0	022	0002	0154	0044	0015	003F	0015	•		
 Digital Music Expres 		0.4230200	0015	0015 0	03F	0015	0015	0015	0015	0015	0015	1		
E Drectv			0015	0015 0	015	003F	0015	0015	0015	0015	0015		Appl	V
IN DSS			0015	0015 0	015	0015	003F	0015	0035	0015	0015			-
DVR			0015	0015 0	035	0031	0015 083F	0015	0015	0015	0015	100	Auto	
- B HR10-250 HDT	NO.		0015	0015 0	015	0015	0015	0015	0015	0015	0015	14	Paso	9
@ HR-10-250 HD1	Dvc											4		
H Satelite	x	Edit Ca	plure 1	Waveform \	View	Hes Vip						100		
or Help, press F1										Connec	ton: None	1	NUM	

To use the Hex View:

- 1. Select a function in the function list. If there is already an Infrared code associated with that function, it will be converted to Hex format and displayed in the "HEX Data" field. If you select a function that does not have an Infrared code, the "HEX Data" box will be empty.
- **2.** Type in the Hex data for the code, or copy it from an external program (such as a web browser), and then right-click in the "HEX Data" box and choose "Paste" from the menu.
- 3. Select Apply to update the Infrared code in the library

If you are converting a large number of codes, you can use the "Auto-Paste" feature to save time.

To use the Auto-Paste function:

- 1. Click on the Edit tab and add the names of functions you have hex codes for.
- 2. Select the Hex View tab and check the "Auto-Paste" box.
- **3.** Switch over to the application containing the hex data for the currently selected code. In that application, select & copy the hex data to the clipboard.
- **4.** The Infrared Library Manager will automatically see the data being copied and paste it to the currently selected function, then it will automatically move to the next function, ready for you to copy the next function's data.
- 5. Repeat step 3 until all of the codes have been added.

Note: Not all codes in the library can be represented in Hex format. If you try to view a code that cannot be represented in Hex, you will see "<<this code is not representable in HEX format>>" in the HEX Data field.

UPDATING THE RTI MASTER IR COMMAND LIBRARY

Please follow the steps listed below to update the RTI Master IR Command Library:

- 1. Before you download the updated IR Command Library, rename the library file that you currently use to store codes that you learn. This command library can usually be found in the following directory: C:\Program Files\RTI\ TheaterTouch Designer\Command Libraries. We recommend renaming this current file **user.cml**.
- 2. Download the new master library from our website at: http://www.rticorp.com and choose Dealer Log In.
- **3.** Log in using your provided dealer password.
- 4. The Master Command Library File is available for download in the Infrared codes section. This downloads the entire new library as a file labeled **master.cml**. Save the file to a location where you can easily find it again, we recommend saving it to C:\Program Files\RTI\TheaterTouch Designer\Command Libraries.

Please note: As a result of the new master library being a read only file you will not be able open it within the IR Library Manager. It can only be opened within the Theater Touch Designer program for use when programming a RTI Remote Control System.

EXPORT REMOTES TO THE INTERNET

The RTI Master Command Library relies on contributions from users like you. If you have a remote that is not represented in the library, please use the "Export to Internet" command to upload it.

- **1.** Choose Export to the Internet from the Remote menu or select the Export to the Internet icon **6**.
- 2. The Select Remote to Export dialog box will appear.
- **3.** Check the remotes you wish to export from the remote list.
- **4.** Choose OK and the Export to Internet dialog box appears.
- **5.** Enter the model number of the equipment and the remote control. Also, enter any special comments or notes associated with the remote being exported.
- 6. Choose OK to export the remote.
- 7. Repeat step 5 for each remote being exported.

Select Remotes t	o Export	
Place a checkmark	next to each remote to export.	Select All Unselect All
Manufacturer	Туре	Model 🔨
Panasonic	DVD Player	DVD-A300
Panasonic	DVD Player	DVD-RP91
🗹 Panasonic	DVD Player	DVD-S97S
Panasonic	DVD Player	Hidden Commands
Panasonic	DVD Player	PVD4741
Panasonic	DVD Player	SCHT80 🔤
Panasonic	DVD Player	Unknown Changr(2003)
Panasonic	DVD Player	VEQ 1926
Panasonic	DVD/vcr	unknown model
Panasonic	DVD/VCR combo	Unknown
Donoconio	DVD A/CP combo	
	OK C	ancel

Export to Internet	X
Please enter the following information about the remote:	
Panasonic / DVD Player / DVD-S97S	
Model Number of EQUPIMENT (if known)	
Model Number of REMOTE (if known)	
Comments about THIS remote file:	
	^
	~
0K Cancel	

ADDING AN IR COMMAND TO A BUTTON

The Infrared tab of the Library Browser allows you to assign IR commands to the buttons in your device by dragging them onto the buttons in the design window.

The name of the current remote is listed at the top of the Infrared window, and the codes in that remote are listed in the list below the remote name.

To add any of these commands to a button:

- **1.** Select a command name holding the left mouse button and drag it to a button.
- **2.** A red letter C appears in the button to indicate that an IR command is assigned.
- **3.** You can also create a new button with the selected command by dragging it to an empty space on the touchscreen grid.





To select a new remote to display:

- **1.** Choose the "Select New Remote" button in the Commands Tab of the Library Browser.
- 2. Remotes are listed by manufacturer, type, and model in the Select Remote from Library window; select the remote you would like to display from this list. You can also select the column headings to change how the list is sorted. If a remote is in a different library or if a library is not open, choose the Open Library button to find the library you are looking for and repeat.
- 3. Choose OK to confirm the selected remote.

Note: Remotes that are already used in the current file are displayed at the top of the list with a red remote icon.



IR SEARCH & REPLACE

The IR Search & Replace list is used to replace all occurrences of one IR command with another throughout an entire device. You can use the IR Search & Replace list to assist in switching one component for another. For example, if you have several pages of channel macros created for one brand of satellite receiver you can use the IR Search & Replace feature to replace it with another brand without editing every channel macro individually.

Using the IR Search & Replace mode:

- 1. Select the IR Search & Replace command from the Edit menu.
- **2.** The IR Search & Replace list will appear, listing all of the IR commands used in the current device. Note that there will be only a single listing for each command, even if it is used more than once in the device.

😼 IR Search & Re	place [Home Thea	iter] *		
Manufacturer	Туре	Model	Function	<u>^</u>
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	0	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	1	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	2	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	3	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	4	-
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	5	=
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	6	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	7	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	8	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	9	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	Channel -	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	Clear	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	DirecTV	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	Enter / Last	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	Exit	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	Guide	
DirecTV	DVR	HR 10-250 HDTivo AD0	Instant Replay	
Diagonal State	DVD	UD KO OFO UDTU- ADO	3	`

- **3.** Use the Infrared tab of the Library Browser to select the remote containing the new commands.
- 4. Find the commands you want to replace in the IR Search & Replace list, and then drag them from the Library Browser onto the commands listed in the IR Search & Replace list. Each time you drag and drop onto the IR Search & Replace list, the command that you drop a new command on is replaced in every location that it is used in the current device.
- **5.** When you have finished replacing commands, click the "X" in the upper corner of the IR Search & Replace window to go back to editing your device.

ADDING AN RS-232 COMMAND TO A BUTTON

RS-232 commands are added to a button using the Button Properties RS-232 tab described in Chapter 6.

Enter the string that will be sent to the RS-232 device RS-232 string text box. If the "Hex" mode button is selected, enter the RS-232 string directly as a sequence of two character hexadecimal codes. If the "Hex" mode button is not selected, you can type plain text into this field, and you can also use the following special characters (called "Escape Sequences"):

- **\a** Alert / Bell (Control-G)
- **\b** Backspace (Control-H)
- **\e** Escape (Control-[)
- Vf Form Feed (Control-L)
- **\n** Line Feed (Control-J)
- **\r** Carriage Return (Control-M)
- \t Tab (Control-I)
- Vertical Tab (Control–K)
- N Backslash
- **\xHH** Hexadecimal constant (where H is a hex digit from 0-9 or A-F)

\dNNN Decimal constant (where N is a digit from 0-9). All three digits **MUST** be entered, so you may need to add leading zeros.

Note: Because the backslash {\} character is used to introduce each Escape Sequence, you must use the \\ form to enter a backslash character, if one is needed by your string.

DELETING A COMMAND FROM A BUTTON

- **1.** Select the Delete tool ***** from the Tool Palette.
- 2. Place the mouse cursor over the button with the command you wish to delete.
- 3. Click the left mouse button.
- **4.** Select Delete IR Code from the popup menu.

Chapter 8. Working with Macros

INTRODUCTION TO MACROS

The Macro Editor is used to create macros for buttons. A macro is a sequence of commands that is activated with a single button press. A macro may contain unlimited steps. Several types of commands can be added to each macro. Buttons with macros can be moved, cut, copied, and pasted to other pages without discarding the codes attached and are indicated by a small black box with the letter 'M' in the upper left corner.

The set of commands available for programming the steps in a macro will be different for each device. The title bar of the Macro Editor will indicate "Standalone mode" or "System mode" to remind you of which device the macro is running on. See Understanding System Macros - Chapter 8 for more information.

USING THE MACRO EDITOR

The main Macro Editor window contains several important sections. On the left side of the window is the macro being edited. Individual steps in the macro can be clicked and dragged up or down to change the order of the macro. They can also be dragged to the wastebasket at the bottom of the window to delete them from the macro. Most of the command types can also be double-clicked to edit their properties.

Adding new steps to the macro is as simple as selecting the desired step from the right side of the window and dragging it into the desired position in the macro.

To add a new macro or edit an existing macro on a button:

- **1.** Select the **Edit Macro** tool **A** from the **Tool Palette**.
- 2. Click the button to which you would like to add a new macro or edit an existing macro.
- 3. Use the tools in the Macro Editor window to add, insert, and delete commands.
- 4. Click OK in the Macro Editor window to save changes to the macro, or click Cancel to discard them.

Macro Editor (System Mode)	? 🔀
DirecTV / DVR / HR10-250 HDTivo AD0 1 DirecTV / DVR / HR10-250 HDTivo AD0 0	Command <u>Type</u> : Explain
DirecTV / DVR / HR10-250 HDTivo AD0 Select	DirecTV DVR HR10-250 HDTivo AD0
	5 6 7 8 9 Channel - Channel - Channel + Clear Cursor Down Cursor Left Cursor Up Drec TV Enter / Last ♥♥
OK Cancel <u>R</u> eport Drag steps to the trash to delete them.	Select New Remote

Report command – Select this button to place a listing of all steps in the current macro in your web browser, in a format suitable for printing.

Trash Can – Drag and drop steps from the macro into the wastebasket to delete them.

The Command from Library macro step type causes the macro to output an Infrared command. Infrared commands are added by dragging the desired function(s) from the IR Command list to the macro display on the left side of the Macro Editor. You can use the "Select New Remote" button to change remotes, and use more than one remote in a macro. If you do not have access to the Command Library with the desired function, but it is assigned to a button in the current device, use the Command from Page option to add it to the macro.



Command from Page

The Command from Page macro step type causes the macro to

output an Infrared command. The command is taken from a button in the current device. Select the page containing the desired command, and then drag it from the "Available Buttons" list to the macro.

This should be used for maintaining devices for which the Command Library is not available. If the desired command is in a Command Library, use the Command from Library option.

🖵 RS-232 Command

(System Control Processor must be present) The RS-

232 Command macro step type causes the macro to output an RS-232 command, using the control processor and an RS-232 output cable (CM-232 Module). The RS-232 parameters (baud rate, parity, data bits, and stop bits), output port, and the RS-232 control string can all be customized using the available controls. You can switch between editing in HEX mode and text mode by clicking the "Hex Edit Mode" button. After you have set the desired parameters and entered the command string, drag the RS-232 icon from the lower right to the macro display on the left. Release the mouse button at the location where you would like to add the RS-232 step.

The **Time Delay** step causes the macro to pause for the time

specified by the **Delay Time** spin box. The time can be adjusted from 0.1 to 240 seconds. After you have set your desired delay time, drag the **Time Delay** icon from the lower right to the macro display on the left. Release the mouse button at the location where you would like to add the time delay step.

Note: By default there is a 0.3 second time delay after IR commands included in a macro.

(Standalone Mode Only)

The Button Test step causes the macro to execute a group of steps ONLY IF the button that the macro is attached to is pressed (or not pressed, or doubleclicked, depending on the option selected). After selecting options, drag the Button Test icon from the lower right to the macro display on the left.

The **Button Test** steps are conditional statements or "Else" commands meaning that if the condition <u>is</u> met the first command will be sent and if the condition <u>is not</u> met the second command will be sent.

3	> If E	Button is held down for 1.5 seconds t	then
╉	- 🜌	Mitsubishi / Television / VS-5051	Power
}	—Els	e	
+	- 🖗	Change to page: [4] Tivo DVR	

Held Down - In the example above, if the button is held down for 0.3 seconds, the **ON** command will execute. If the button is not held down for 0.3 seconds, the command will not execute. This can be used to make a source button that switches pages if pressed briefly, or switches pages and turns equipment on if held down for the specified amount of time. This can also be used to send a command when pressed briefly, or send a different command when held down.

Double-Clicked – In the example above, if the button is double-clicked within 0.3 seconds, the ON command will execute. If the button is not double-clicked within 0.3 seconds, the command will not execute. This can be used to make a source button that switches pages if pressed once, or switches pages and turns equipment on if double-clicked <u>within</u> the specified amount of time. This can also be used to send a command when pressed once, or send a different command when double-clicked.

-

🛄 Button Pause

The Button Pause step causes the macro to stop executing until the

button it is attached to is released, at which time the rest of the macro is executed. Drag the Button Test icon from the lower right to the macro display on the left.

Sony / DVD Player / DVP-S300 Scan >>
Pause until button is released

Sony / DVD Player / DVP-S300 Play

Mucra I differ (Disaddition Mudra - [Dispert]

In the example above, if you press and hold the button that the macro is attached to, the macro will execute the first command and pause until the button is released, then execute the rest of the commands in the macro. This works well for commands like Scan on some VCR's and DVD players, which you need to send the Play command to stop the Scan function. This also works well for RS-232 commands, having the option of a command on the button press and another command on the button release.

	(0	
🖗 Page Link	, (S	tandalone Mode Only)
H ill Fogo Link	Th	e Page Link step causes the

device to change the displayed page and/or frame.

If you have put a Page Link on a button as well as in a macro, the Page Link on the button will be the last visible change, making the Page Links in the macro useless.

Animation: If you wish to create an animation sequence, create pages for each step of the animation. Next create a page link to each page in the correct sequence. A time delay may be added between the page link steps to adjust the speed of the animation.

If Button is held down for 1.5 seconds then

📳 Change to page: [4] Tivo DVR

In the example above, if you hold the button with macro down for more than 1.5 seconds, the device will issue a power command and then change pages using the Page Link step with the Button Test step in a macro.

The Stop Macro step causes the macro to stop executing at the

point where it is inserted.

Macros automatically stop when they reach the end, so you should not normally need to insert a Stop Macro step. It is intended for use in conjunction with the Button Test step, where you can have the macro stop if a condition is met.

The Repeat Steps step causes the macro to output a group of

steps multiple times. Set the options to continuously repeat the following macro steps for as long as the button is held down or to have the steps the indicated number of times. You can enter any repeat count from 1 to 60.

-

This step is used most often to sustain an RS232 command.

─(System Control Processor →must be present)

The Status Test step causes the macro to execute or not execute a group of steps based on the status of an input or output line.

Select the input or output line you would like to monitor from this list then select the condition you would like to check for on the selected input/output line.

Note: This option requires either an RP-6 along with a VPS-1 or SPS-1, or an RP-1 which tests the status of it's built-in power sensor.

📢 ि Beep

(Standalone Mode Only)

The Beep step causes the device sound an internal beeper. The beeper will sound regardless of the

Enable Beeper setting in the Device Properties dialog.

Check the wait for the sound to finish check box to make the macro stop before moving on to the next step. If this box is not checked, the sound will play while the macro continues to run. If this box is not checked and the device is already playing a sound, this sound will be skipped.

Relay Control

(System Control Processor must be present)

The Relay Control step is used to change the current state of one of the device's relay outputs. Select the action you would like for the relay output then select the number of the relay to control.

|--|

(System Control Processor must be present)

The System Macro step is used to trigger a system macro stored in the control processor. This step is used within a standalone mode button macro when steps such as button tests, page links or sending IR commands, need to take place on the device and IR/RS232 commands need to be sent from the control processor with a single button press. The interface device sends a signal to the control processor telling it to begin running the desired system macro.

The macro on the interface device will then immediately move on to the next step.

Note: If you try to trigger two system macros in a row from a standalone-mode macro (macro on a button set to standalone output mode), the control processor will likely not have finished processing the first macro before it is told to run the second. Therefore, you must insert a time delay step in the interface device's standalone macro that is at least as long as the control processor will take to run each system macro. Placing a system macro step in a macro that is already running on the control processor, however, does not need the extra time delay added. In this case, the original macro will not continue running until the system macro completes.

See the Understanding System Macros - Chapter 8 for more information.

The Flag step is used to keep track of a component or a

remote device's status and act based on that status. There are multiple flags available, which you set or clear under macro control. You can use the "Test Flag" option to take different actions based on whether or not a certain flag is set.

For example, you can use this functionality to make discrete power ON and OFF macros for components for which you have only toggle codes. Use the "Set Flag" option when you

turn on the component, the "Clear Flag" when you turn it off, and the "Test Flag" option to determine if a power command should be sent based on the flag status. A tech bulletin can be found on our website at www.rticorp. com/dealers describing this process.

Note: Flags exist and are named on a per-device basis (Flags can be named within the Macro Editor or within the Device's Properties.) Flag 001 on one remote device is not related to Flag 001 on the control processor. A macro can set, clear, and test only those flags within the device it is running on. In particular, this means that System macros and Standalone macros will operate on a completely different set of flags.

MACRO EDITOR - Continued

```
awb Toggle IR Code
```

Toggle IR Code - Toggle bit IR codes are used on remotes

that have two full sets of IR codes for every button on the remote.

-

In order to control devices with toggle bit IR codes you will need to create a macro for each control function of your device, as displayed in the screen shot below. Using the toggle bit macro step, drag the (a) and (b) version of the code and place it between the (toggle bit) brackets within the macro editor window.

In this example, the initial button press executes the ${\bf A}$ command and the second button press executes the ${\bf B}$ command.

Faroudja / Video Processor / DVP2200 - B Power

When learning codes from a toggle bit remote, you will need to learn both versions of infrared code that exist on each button. You will need to duplicate each function name, as shown below, when preparing to learn a toggle device into the IR library. After entering the function names, you are ready to learn both versions of the code. Remember that each button press of a toggle bit device will alternate between two different IR codes.

Bit Bit <th>- 8)</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>μφ.</th> <th>s Window H</th> <th>Ele Lenote Options W</th>	- 8)				μφ.	s Window H	Ele Lenote Options W
Heach Hach Hachach Hach Hach Hach Hach Hach Hach Hac					2 2 K/	66	89968
Internet Function Fequency Fequency Fequency Introduct 0b 30 0 MHz 1 Introduct 1b 30 0 MHz 1 Introduct 1b 30 0 MHz 1 Introduct 1b 30 0 MHz 1 Introduct 24 30 0 MHz 1 Introduct 35 30 0 MHz 1 Introduct 55 30 0 MHz 1 Introduct 73 30 0 MHz 1 Introduct 1 1 1 Introduct 1 1 1 Introduct 1 1 1 Introduct 1 1 Introduct 1 1<				er / DVR-50	Jamo / DVD Re	•	R HEachi
Image Image Image		Sutan	Facests	Federics	Function		R Conter
Huges H	- 2	123	1	36.0.KH×	• 0h		A THE
Hug/res 10 SO KH2 1 Hundre Douglas 10 SO KH2 1 2 Hundre Douglas 10 SO KH2 1 2 Hundre Douglas 30 SO KH2 1 2 Hundre Douglas 55 SO KH2 1 2 Hundre Bregine 66 SO KH2 1 2 Hundre Bregine 66 SO KH2 1 2 Hundre Bregine 66 SO KH2 1 2 Hundre Bregine Folder Eurotone 7 SO KH2 1 2 Hundre Bregine Folder Functione Add Functione Delete Functione Delete Functione Delete Functione Hundre Bregine SO KH2 1		M	1	36.0 KHz	•14		THURSE INCOME
Hughes Network Sys. Hughes Network Hughes Network Hughes Network Infocus Info		Ø	1	36.0 KHz	•15		+ Huches
*** Human *26 30.014z 1 *** **** ************************************	_	Ø	1	36.0 KHz	•2.4	Sve.	+ CI Huches Network Sve.
Hunter Douglas 33 30 KHz 1 High Hydek 35 30 KHz 1 Bit Hydek 55 30 KHz 1 Bit Hydek 55 30 KHz 1 Bit Hydek 55 30 KHz 1 Bit Hydek 56 30 KHz 1 Bit Hydek 7 30 KHz 1 Bit Hydek 1 1 1 Bit Hydek Catala 30 KHz 1 Bit Hydek 1 1 1 Fig State Delete Functions Delete Functions Bit Hydek 1 1 1 1 Bit Hydek 1 1 1 1 Bit Hydek 1 1 1 1 Bit			1	36.0 KHz	• 25	and an and a second sec	E Hanas
Hytok Hytok Hytok Hytok Horoco			1	36.0 KHz	•34		in California
Image: Second			1	36.0 KHz	•36	1 100	E C Hutek
In Focus 4 b 36.01M2 1 In Focus 5.6 30.01M2 1 In Focus 1 2 1 2 In Focus 1 2 1 2 In Focus 1 2 1 2 In Focus 1 2 1 2 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td>36.0 KHz</td><td>• 4 a</td><td></td><td>a Calineration</td></td<>			1	36.0 KHz	• 4 a		a Calineration
Solution			1	38.0 KHz	• 4 D		a In Focus
Software Systems Software Structure			1	36.0 KHz	•5a		a Informa
Contract Englise Controls Control Contro Control Control Control Cont			1	36.0 KHz	• 56		a Informa Sustame
Constructions Construction			1	36.0 KH2	• 6.4	5	E Distant Daniau
Add Functions Debte Functions		10	1	20.01014	• 6 0		a la totaca
Add Functions		163	1	38.0 KH2	•/a		in the state of the state of the
Add Functions Delete Functions Delete Functions Delete Functions Delete Functions Delete Functions Delete Function Delete Func							in the second se
Date Leared Code Delete Function Delete Function Socon Socon Socon Code Code Code Code Code Code		10	elete Function	D	Add Func		E DOOMA
DOP Reserver Delete Function Delete Function Delete Function Castrant Wavefore View		edCode	Delete Leare	* A51			in the land
Contraction View Heav Yee			C GROUP COMPANY	-		201	
N Capture Waveform View Hen View		eton	Delete Fur	1000	C Norm	Ĩ	J DARISO
R 2005EN							8 🛄 30.
Explanation of Edg. Capture Waveform View Heal View				Decay I	In the second second		IN CONSEN
A DELOG				eve Hen Veve	Edit Capture Wave		🕫 🧰 Jerrold

MACRO EDITOR - Continued

🂗 LED Control

(RK3 Only)

(Standalone Mode Only)

The LED Control macro step is used to change the color of the Power LED. Select the color you would like it be and place the step within the macro.

Comment - The Comment macro step will not be acted

upon, it is simply available for writing yourself a note within a complex macro.

•

Enter a comment in your macries	Cormand Type: Explore
	Correct
	Enter Curseent Here.
	Date a connect in your manue
	Ore
	Dispitie konte

DELETING A MACRO

To delete a macro from a button:

- **1.** Choose the **Delete** tool \times from the **Tool Palette**.
- 2. Place the mouse cursor over the button with the macro you wish to delete.
- **3.** Select the left mouse button and choose Delete Macro from the popup menu.

EDITING AN INDIVIDUAL STEP IN A MACRO

To edit an individual step in a macro you must have the macro displayed in the Macro Editor.

1. Double click on the step in the macro you want to edit and an edit dialog box appears with the options appropriate for that step.

For example the Edit Infrared Command options are:

Minimum Repeats - Enter in this box the number of times that the repeating part of the IR code is sent by the remote. Some infrared receivers need a command to be repeated a certain number of times to work properly, and some may not work properly if the command is repeated at all. Even if a command works properly, increasing the number of repeat times may be necessary if the command is to be used in a macro. Since macro commands are not automatically sustained while a button is pressed, they may need to automatically repeat more times to be recognized.

Frequency – Shown in this box is the carrier frequency of the

IR code, this is set automatically. You should not need to change this value unless directed to do so by Technical Support.

Repeat while button is pressed - Check this box to cause this IR code to be repeated for as long as the button is held down.

Note: Only one command in any macro can have this property set.

Delay for 0.3 seconds after this code - Check this box to automatically pause for 0.3 seconds after this code is sent. This is the default setting, and normally should be left checked. This delay gives the receiving equipment time to process each code before the next one is sent.

Output Ports: See the IR Routing Tab - Chapter 6 for the details on these options.

UNDERSTANDING SYSTEM MACROS

In general, you should program your IR codes and macros directly on the device programming screens and TheaterTouch Designer will automatically store them in the Control Processor (if present in the system work-space) and generate the required RF trigger codes with no additional effort on your part. Therefore, it is not necessary to explicitly create macros directly on the control processor for them to be run there. However, TheaterTouch Designer only allows macro steps valid for the output mode of the button they are created on and therefore there are scenarios that require the creation of System Macros.

Note: In the following descriptions, "device" refers to the remote or keypad that initiates the macro (e.g. T1/T2+ etc) and "control processor" refers to the back-end device running the macros (e.g. RP-6/RP-1).

Scenarios requiring System Macros

1. You wish to send IR codes directly from the device or use local features (page changes, button tests, etc.) on a device and send IR/RS-232 codes stored in the control system from within a single button macro.

In this case, you will have to create at least two macros — the macro that runs on the device and the System Macro that runs on the control processor. In the System Macro, put all of the IR/RS-232/Relay/etc. commands that need to be run by the control processor. Next, on the device set the button's output property to Standalone mode on the Output tab of the Edit Button Properties dialog. This will cause any macro you create on that button to run from the device – enabling you to use all of the local IR & standalone features available on the device. Finally, in the device's button macro, select the "System Macro" option and select the System Macro that you created on the control processor. This will send an RF or IR trigger code (as appropriate) to cause the control processor to run the System Macro you created.

2. You wish to trigger the macros with third-party remotes or keypads.

In this case, you will have to create each macro on the System Macro screen, and then use the commands under the Device/Generate IR Trigger Codes menu to create IR codes. You can then program these codes into your third-party devices to trigger the System Macros you have created.

3. You wish to re-use a single macro from within several other macros.

You can use System Macros to factor out common control functionality into a single macro, that you can call from many other macros in your system. For example, you can create a System Macro that contains the Power On commands for your system. Then, when creating other macros, you can insert a System Macro step that calls the common Power On macro you created. This allows you to easily change components by editing only the single Power On System Macro. All other macros that reference this will automatically reference the updated version after it is changed.

CREATING SYSTEM MACROS ON THE CONTROL PROCESSOR

- **1.** Left click on the Control Processor in the system workspace, this will open the System Macro Editor.
- 2. Click on the "Add New System Macro" button
- **3.** Input a description of the macro.
- **4.** Left click on the gray button next to the description to open the System Macro Editor and create your macro, inputting the IR commands, RS232 commands etc. that need to be sent from the Control Processor.

GENERATE IR TRIGGER CODES FOR SYSTEM MACROS

There are three options located in the Device menu for generating IR trigger codes for system macros. These codes can be used to launch a system macro on a control processor using an IR receiver or the codes can be learned into third party remotes and keypads. The system controller must be selected for these options to appear.

CREATE NEW T2+ WITH CODES

This menu option creates a new T2+ device with a set of buttons containing trigger codes for each system macro you have created for this system. You can send this file to a device and use it to teach the IR trigger commands into third-party remotes and keypads, so the third-party devices can trigger the desired system macros.

HEX FORMAT

This menu option generates a text file containing trigger codes for each system macro you have created for this system. The codes are in HEX format, which you can copy and paste into the programming software for third-party devices, and have those devices trigger the indicated system macros.

E test.te	. 144	eped																				STOR
5+ 8A	Parent .	No of Carls		. 7.	iii.		ner:	15, 2	205.4	a1 #	•											
tyttes (coll og coll og coll og coll og coll og coll og	Marrs 68 900 60 800 60 900 60 900 60 900 60 900	10 c010 10 c010 10 c110 10 c110 10 c110	- 0010 0010 0010 0010 0010 0010	2015 2015 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016	9210 9070 9070 9070 9010 9010	0019 0010 0010 0010 0010 0010	CCL2 CCL2 CCL2 CCL2 CCL2 CCL2	901.0 901.0 901.0 901.0 901.0 901.0	905.0 905.0 905.0 905.0 905.0 905.0 905.0	0010 0010 0010 0010 0010 0010	0019 0019 0019 0019 0019 0019 0019	901.6 901.6 901.8 901.8 901.6 901.6	0010 0010 0010 0010 0010 0010	0200 0200 0200 0200 0200 0200 0200	0013 0013 0013 0013 0013	901.0 903.0 903.0 901.0 901.0	00020 0020 0020 0000 0000	1212 0329 0329 0319 0319 0319 0319 0319	0120 0120 0120 0120 0120	901.0 901.0 901.0 901.0	9210 9310 9310 9310 9310	9290 9200 9200 9200 9200 9200
Tystam (0001 000 0021 000 0011 000 0011 000	Macro Ha 000 60 000 60 000 60 000 60 000 60 000	2: 1y 00 004 30 005 10 004 10 0000 10 0000 10 00000000000000000		4070 90010 90000 90000 90010 90010 90010 90010	9010 9020 9020 9020 9020 9010	0030 0010 0010 0010 0010 0010	001.9 001.9 001.9 001.9 001.9	001.0 001.0 001.0 001.0 001.0 001.0	10000 10000 10000 10000 10000	10 10 10 10 10	0110 0110 0110 0110 0110 0110 0110	901.4 901.4 901.4 901.4 901.4 901.4	001.0 001.0 001.0 001.0 002.0 002.0	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	0(1.) 0(1.) 0(1.) 0(1.) 0(1.)	0013 0025 0025 0013 0013	0000 0000 0000 0000	0013 0023 0023 0023 0023 0023 0023	0030 0030 0030 0030 0030	0113 0113 0113 0123 0123	0010 0050 0010 0010 0010	01940 01940 01950 01950 01950 01950
5ys12# 1 0045 00 0051 00 0011 00 0011 00 0011 00 0011 00	Macro 68 000 50 000 50 000 50 000 50 000 50 000	3: 1/1 00 0110 10 0110 10 0110 10 0110 10 0110		4076 9006 9006 9006 9006 9006 9006	9010 9020 9020 9020 9020 9020	ecta 6030 6030 6030 6030 6030 6030	0013 0013 0013 0013 0013	985.0 985.0 981.0 981.0 981.0 981.0 985.0	8010 8010 8010 8010 8010 8010 8010		0019 0019 0019 0019 0019 0019	0014 0014 0014 0014 0014 0014	901.0 901.0 901.0 901.0 901.0 901.0	0000000 0000000 0000000	0113 0113 0113 0113 0113 0113	00110 00210 00210 00110 00110 00110	9914 9920 9020 9020 9020 9020	1110 1010 1010 1010 1010	0013 0013 0013 0013 0013 0013	0(1.4 0(1.1 0(1.1 0(2) 0(1.1	9910 9910 9910 9910 9910	0200 0200 0200 0200 0200

COPY HEX DATA FOR CURRENTLY SELECTED MACRO (DEVICE MENU)

This menu option places an IR code that will trigger the currently selected macro onto your computer's clipboard. The IR code is in HEX format. You can paste this code into programming software for third-party devices you wish to have trigger this system macro.

USING THE CHANNEL MACRO WIZARD (K4/RK3/T4/T3/T2+)

The Channel Macro Wizard helps you create and maintain groups of macros consisting primarily of numbers. It was designed to speed the creation of television station macros, but it can also be used to set up macros that select discs in a CD jukebox, and macros that tune to specific radio stations.

Before using the Channel Macro Wizard, you must draw the buttons for which you wish to create the channel macros. This picture illustrates the type of page for which the Channel Macro Wizard is designed.

To use the Channel Macro Wizard:

- 1. Select Channel Macro Wizard from the Edit menu.
- 2. Click the Select New Remote button.

ep 1: Equipment Selection	
ease select the remote that you will us ie "Next >>" button.	e to enter the channel numbers, and click
Selected Remote	DR Routing
manufacturer:	P Port 1
Comcast	Port 2
type:	E Part 3
Cable Box	E mad
model:	For the second s
URC-44000804	M Port 5
	Port 6
Select New Remote	High Out

- **3.** Choose the remote that will be used to create the macros. Choose Open Library if the remote is not in the current library.
- 4. Select the ports under IR Routing that this macro should be sent to. This should only need to be changed if you have identical components that you don't want to control simultaneously.
- Select the remote you would like to use from the following list. If the remote is in a different library, click the "Open Library..." button. **Open Library** Gurrent Ibrary: C:\Program Files\RTI\TheaterTouch Designer\Co. 1. Manufacturer Type Model DirecTV DVR HR10-250 HDTwo ADD ScreenPlay 72 SR7400 - Multi HD850 DVP-Ci777es Video Projecto eePlay 7200 Mara Sand Sorry Yana Sorry Ya Sorry Yana Sorry Yana Sorry Ya Sorry Sorry Ya Sorry Ya Sorry Yana Sorry S Marantz Samsung Sony Receiver DVD Player DVD Julebox Receiver Milerium Milerium RX-V4600 2000 Room 1 sources 2000 Room 2 sources 2000 Room 4 sources Yamaha Millenium Milenkuni 2000 Room 5 sources Milenium 2000 Room 7 sources 2000 Room 9 sources el 3000 port 5 Milerauti Milenium if 3000 port 6 OK Cancel

elect Remote from Library

5. Select the Next>> button.

USING THE CHANNEL MACRO WIZARD - Continued

The next step defines any "boilerplate" commands that must be inserted before or after each macro. In this example, the cable box requires the "Ok/Select" button to be pressed after the channel numbers are entered, so the "Ok/Select" command is placed in the 'Do this AFTER each macro' list. If you need to select a specific TV/Processor/Preamp/etc. input before each channel, or send commands to control an IR switcher, the 'BEFORE' list is a good place to put the command.

The 'BEFORE' and 'AFTER' lists are full-fledged macros, and can contain commands from other remotes/libraries as well as time delays and other special commands.

 Select the Add/Edit button in the BEFORE or AFTER section if you choose to add commands. This will open the Macro Editor where you can select the commands using the Macro Editor commands. If you need help with these commands, see the "Using the Macro Editor" section.

hannel Macro Wizard	2 🛙
Step 2: Equipment Configuration	
If the device needs any special commands sent BEFORE each channel (e rput select key) or AFTER each channel (e.g. an "Enter" key) add them appropriate list and click the "Next >>" button.	.g. an to the
Do this BEPORE each mecro	
	and a
	HODIEDE
Do this AFTOR each macro	
Do this AFTER each macro To Constant / Cable Box / URC-11x0x801 OK / Select	Addition
Do this AFTER each metro	Addit de

The final step in using the Channel Macro Wizard is to create the individual macros. To create each macro, use the following procedure:

- Choose the pages that contain the channel buttons from the pull-down menu, we are creating macros for the "Favorites" page.
- 2. Choose a button for which to create a macro. Here we have chosen the "Fox" button. If there is a macro on this button already it will be displayed in the existing macro window.
- **3.** Use the number buttons on the right to enter the channel number (111 in this case).
- 4. Click the save button.

- 2 🗙 el Macro Wizard tep 3: Macro Creation Select the button you wish to assign the macro to from the page below. Use the numeric buttons on the right side to enter the channel number. Click the "Save" button to place the newly created macro onto the button . Macro: à 6 5 8 4 0 Cancel Seve Number of digits: 3 -Existing Macro Concest / Cable Box / URC-44xcx804 Concest / Cable Box / URC-44xxx804 Concest / Cable Box / URC-44x0x804 1 mcast / Cable Box / URC-44xox804 OK / Select KK Back Kint >> Close Help
- **5.** Repeat steps 2-4 for each macro you wish to create.
- **6.** When you have created all of the macros you need, click the Close button.

CREATING A NEW SCROLLING LIST (T2+)

The Scrolling List option located in the Device menu creates a scrollable page with buttons and macros for each CD/DVD in a jukebox, cable/satellite channel or any other component with many selections available. When selected, the Scrolling List Properties dialog appears and is where you enter information about the list.

SCROLLING LIST PROPERTIES

The following properties are available:

Title - Enter in this box a name for the scrolling list.

First Disc Number - Select the starting disc or song number for the particular jukebox that you are using. This is usually one or zero, but doesn't have to be. The purpose of this number is to allow the Disc Number Macro Wizard to build the correct infrared codes to control the jukebox.

Total Number of Discs - Select the total number of discs that are going to be in your list. This should usually be equal to the total capacity of the jukebox, even if you are not currently using every position. This makes it easier to append discs in the future.

Scrolling List Proper	rties 🤶 🔀
<u>T</u> itle:	DVD Changer
First Disc <u>N</u> umber:	1 Disc Number
Total Number of <u>D</u> iscs:	100 Macro Wizard
Sort Order:	Alphabetical by Artist, then Titl
	🔽 Use Up/Down keys to scroll
ОК	Cancel

Disc Number Macro Wizard - Click on this button to run a

wizard that automatically builds the macros for each entry in the list. After executing the wizard, you can still make manual changes to any of the macros. Warning: Running this wizard will overwrite any existing macros in the list.

Sort Order - Select the criteria for sorting the list entries when they are displayed on the device's display.

Use Up/Down keys to scroll - Check this box if you want the keypad's up and down hard keys to perform the same scrolling function as the Up and Down arrow buttons at the bottom of the touchscreen. If this option is selected, any commands or macros assigned to the up and down hard keys will be ignored when the scrolling list is displayed.

DISC NUMBER MACRO WIZARD

Select the Disc Number Macro Wizard to automatically build macros that will access each item in the scrolling list.

- **1.** Click on the Select New Remote button to use a different remote.
- **2.** Select which ports this macro should be sent to if IR routing is necessary. (You should only need to change this if you have multiple identical components.)
- 3. Choose Next>> to proceed to the next step

DISC NUMBER MACRO WIZARD - Continued

The next step defines any "boilerplate" commands that must be inserted before or after each macro. In this example, the Sony DVD Changer requires the "Enter" button to be pressed after the Disc numbers are entered, so the "Enter" command is placed in the 'Do this AFTER each macro' list. If you need to select a specific TV/Processor/Preamp/etc. input before each channel, or send commands to control an IR switcher, the 'BEFORE' list is a good place to put the command. The 'BEFORE' and 'AFTER' lists are full-fledged macros, and can contain commands from other remotes/libraries as well as time delays and other special commands.

1. Select the Add/Edit buttons in the BEFORE or AFTER sec-

tion if you choose to add commands. This will open the **Macro Editor** where you can select the commands using the **Macro Editor** commands. If you need help with these commands, see the "**Using the Macro Editor**" section.

2. Select Next>> to proceed to the next step.

CREATE MACROS

- **1.** Select Next>> to have the wizard create the macros for all the items in the list.
- **2.** Choose close and the Scrolling List appears.

SCROLLING LIST EDITOR

The Scrolling List Editor is used to add, remove, or change entries in a scrolling list. It displays a table that contains the artist and title information for every item in the scrolling list, as well as a button to edit the macro associated with each item.

A list can be populated with an existing list from Microsoft Excel by using the copy/paste function. The Excel spreadsheet must be formatted using two columns to match the scrolling list. Copy both columns of the spreadsheet and paste into the fist row and column in the scrolling list editor and the scrolling list will be properly populated.

Disc. Mixto	Artist	TXDe	
1	Cold Play	NBA	
1	Dave Matthews	Stand Up	
: 1			
4.			
1			
7	1		
1			
5			
30			
11			
12	1		
13	5		
44	-		

The space available for the artist and title information on the touchscreen is limited. If you enter strings longer than the available space, the portions that will not fit on the display are shown in red type. You can ignore this and allow the strings to be truncated to fit, or you can abbreviate the text so that it fits on the display.

Select the button in the Macro column to edit the macro that will be run when the item is selected. If you have not already done so, use the Disc Number Macro Wizard in the Scrolling List Properties dialog to automatically create macros for every item.

Chapter 9. Working with Objects (K4/RK3/T4)

INTRODUCTION TO OBJECTS

The Object tab of the Library Browser allows you to assign objects (web browser, IP camera, video) and the commands to control these objects to the buttons in your device by dragging them in the design window. The name of the current object library is listed at the top of the Object window, and can be changed by pulling down the Objects list. The Objects and Commands that the library contains are listed in the Commands list.

OBJECTS

To add an Object click the object name (those denoted with a blue circle) and drag the it into the touchscreen grid. If the object requires more information, you can enter it in the fields below the Commands list. Objects always create a new button and therefore cannot be dragged onto an existing button, however a bitmap may be placed behind this button for decorative purposes.

COMMANDS

To add a command to a button, click the command name in the list and drag it over to the button. If the command requires additional information, you can enter it in the fields below the Commands list. You can also create a new button with the selected command already attached by dragging the code to an empty space on the touchscreen grid.

OBJECT AND COMMAND PARAMETERS

To edit the parameters of an existing Object or Command,

1. Select the **Edit Button Properties** tool if from the **Tool Palette**.

2. Select the Object or Command Button you want to edit and select the Command tab.

USING OBJECTS AND COMMANDS

AXIS or PANASONIC MJPEG CAMERA

Axis and Panasonic MJPEG cameras broadcast video over IP that can be displayed in a video viewer on ethernet enabled devices. Commands that control the cameras can also be assigned to buttons on the touchscreen grid. - Input the appropriate information in the fields below the Commands list.

- input the appropriate information in the fields below the Commands list.
- Choose the window size that you wish to have display the video and drag it into the touchscreen grid.
- Add any commands used to control the camera by dragging them into the touchscreen grid to either an existing button or to an empty space to create it's own button.

GENERIC MJPEG VIEWER

You can use this object if you wish to use an MJPEG camera that is not directly supported (e.g. anything other than Axis or Panasonic) or to allow the full request URL to be entered for the camera, even if it is one that is supported. For example, both the Axis and Panasonic have many more parameters (compression level, input switching, other video resolutions, frame rate, etc) that you can adjust. So if you wanted to retrieve Axis video at QCIF resolution at 15 frames per second with maximum compression, there is no way to do that using the Axis object, but you can look up the syntax in the Axis documentation and build the request URL yourself to get this and use the Generic MJPEG object to display the video.

- Enter the complete MJPEG video URL in the field below the Commands list.

- Drag the MJPEG viewer into the touchscreen grid and adjust to desired size.

ESCIENT FIREBALL CONTROL

Devices with video inputs can display and control the Escient Fireball Interface

- Choose the video input that will connected to the Escient Fireball (S-Video is recommended).
- Select whether or not the screen should be allowed to go dim while this page is displayed.
- Select the connection you will be using to communicate with the Escient Fireball.
 - Enter the IP Address of the Escient Fireball.

COMPOSITE VIDEO

Devices with video inputs can display composite or S-video feeds in either a full screen or adjustable window.

- Choose the default input for the video viewer from the drop down menu below the Commands list .
- Choose the video viewer size that you wish to have display the video and drag it into the touchscreen grid. This window can be resized further using the button resize tools, if desired.
- If needed, add the Select Input command to control which video feed will be displayed in the video viewer by dragging it onto the touchscreen grid to either an existing button or to an empty space to create it's own button.
- Select whether or not the screen should be allowed to go dim while this page is displayed.
- Select whether or not the video object should be allowed to go full screen upon touching it.

HTTP REQUEST

The HTTP Request object is used to issue arbitrary HTTP requests. Many IP-controllable devices can be controlled by requesting specially formatted URLs from them. For example, if you are using the "Generic MJPEG Viewer" object to display video, you can use the HTTP Request objects to send pan, tilt and zoom commands to the IP camera. Any data returned by the device in response to the request is discarded. If you are trying to load a specific URL into the web browser object, use the "Go to specified URL" command of the web browser object.

- Drag the Request URL command onto the touchscreen grid to either an existing button or to an empty space to create it's own button

WEB BROWSER

Ethernet enabled interface devices with an internet connection can browse the internet with the Web Browser object.

- Input the Default URL of the web page that will be displayed in the Web Browser.
- Add the Internet Explorer Web Browser object to the touchscreen grid and adjust to desired size.
- Add any commands used to control the web browser by dragging them onto the touchscreen grid to an existing button or to an empty space to create its own button

Chapter 10. TheaterTouch Designer Finishing Touches

PREVIEWING YOUR FILE

The Preview mode in TheaterTouch Designer allows you to see exactly what your file will look like when it is sent to the TheaterTouch remote.

Select the Preview Mode Command 🗟 from the Toolbar.

This command starts the device emulator which allows you to test the file you are currently editing. While in Preview Mode, you can click the buttons on the Preview Window to see how they will respond.

Right-click anywhere on the color device emulator and choose "Close" from the menu to exit Preview Mode.

If you are editing a monochrome device, the design window is replaced by the Preview Window, which allows you to see your device exactly as it will look when sent to the physical device.

Choose the Preview Mode command a second time to exit Preview Mode for a monochrome device.

SENDING A PROGRAM TO A DEVICE

SENDING A PROGRAM USING A USB CABLE

1. Connect the device to the PC using the appropriate USB cable. TheaterTouch Designer will automatically detect which device is connected and use the appropriate port.

2. Select the Send to Device icon **and** or choose the Send to Device command from the Communications menu

3. Select the Send button next to the device you wish to update. All buttons, macros, and IR codes are sent. Any existing program in the device is replaced with the information you send.

SENDING A PROGRAM TO AN ETHERNET ENABLED DEVICE

Devices with ethernet capabilities and the "Allow the device to be programmed over the network" option enabled, may be programmed via the ethernet interface.

1. Click on the device's Target column to access the network programming method.

2. Click on the device in the device list.

Choose one of the following programming methods.

USE SELECTED DEVICE METHOD

3. Click "Use Selected Device" to identify the device by it's MAC address.

4. Click on the Send button.

Note: This programming method only works if both the device and the programming PC are on the same local network, but it allows the PC to always find the device, even if the DHCP Server assigns it a different IP address. This is the recommended network programming method.

USE SPECIFIC IP ADDRESS METHOD

3. Click on "Use Specific IP Address" and enter the IP address of the device to be downloaded to.

4. Click on the Send button.

Note: This option can be used to update the programming over the internet if the device has a public IP address, or if a VPN connection is configured to access the network that the device is on.

Back

RECEIVING A PROGRAM FROM A STANDALONE DEVICE

If the attached device is not part of a control system, you can retrieve the program from it using the Receive from Device from the Communications menu. You must have a system file open before you can use this command. All buttons, macros, and IR codes will be received. The uploaded device will appear as a new device in the currently open system.

RECEIVING A PROGRAM FROM A CONTROL SYSTEM DEVICE

If the attached device is a part of a control system, you must use the System Recovery Wizard command on the Communications menu. This will create a new system file and prompt you to upload all of the devices in the system.

Note: These options should be used as a last resort to retrieve a system file. Regular system updates should be performed on the original RTI system file created in the TheaterTouch software.

System Recovery	Wizard 🔀	System Recovery Wizard
	Welcome to the System Recovery Wizard	Create New System You must create a new system file to hold the devices you are saving
	This wizard will help you recover the programs from your devices when you no longer have access to the original system file used to program them.	Click the button below to create a new system file to hold the contents of the devices that you are recovering.
	To continue, click Next.	Cancel
reate New System	n File	System Recovery Wizard
Save jn:	My Systems 🔹 🖝 🖬 -	Transfer programming from device Connect each device in the protein and transfer to programming to the PC
My Rooms Documents Desistop Ny Documents My Computer	Jones Smith T2E Sample T2Eemples	For each device in the system, connect it to your PC and click the Receive Rie button. When you have transferred each device in the system, click Pinish.
Ny Network Fire	gane: Test • Save	

Chapter 11. TheaterTouch Designer Utilities

PRINTING PAGES (K4/RK3/T4/T3/T2+)

TheaterTouch Designer comes with the ability to print the individual pages and frames of your color and monochrome devices for reference purposes.

You set print options from the Page Setup command on the File menu.

This menu option opens the Page Setup dialog box, where you can select the printer and paper sources you would like for your printed output.

In addition, you can select from the following three print modes:

Print Current Page Only - Prints a life-sized image of all frames of the currently displayed page.

Print All Pages on One Sheet - Prints all frames from all pages in the current device on a single sheet of paper, scaling them to fit as necessary.

Print All Pages, 1 Per Sheet - Prints life-sized images all pages in the current device, with all frames from each page grouped together on individual sheets of paper.

PRINTING SYSTEM CONFIGURATION REPORTS

Choose System Configuration Report from the file menu to view a summary report on all of the devices in the current system file. This report can be printed for reference. You can also click the "Copy" button to place the report on the Windows Clipboard, where it can be pasted into a word processor and edited further.

age Setup	?
	Note that the second
Paper	
Size:	tter (8 1/2 x 11 in)
Source:	eet
Orientation • P <u>or</u> trait • L <u>a</u> ndscape	Print Options ● Print Qurrent Page Only C Print All Pages on One Sheet C Print All Pages, <u>1</u> Per Sheet ▼ Print <u>H</u> eader and Footer
<u>H</u> elp	OK Cancel <u>P</u> rinter

	A	
7	heaterTouch System Configuration Report	Cres
	Filename: 12+ Sangle	Past.
	System Information	
System Zone Code:	0	
Compony Name:	AAA Home Thostor	
Company Phone:	0000-000	
Job Bumber:	AA-DEBEN	
Programment	John Doe	
Installer:	Matt Stoch	
Install Date:	05-28-85	
flotes:		
Client	Ed Jones M	

CHECKING MEMORY USAGE

It is possible, though not likely, to create a file with more information than a device can hold. To make sure this does not happen, select **Check Memory Usage** from the **Edit** menu to see how large the current file is.

The **Remote Memory Used** dialog displays the amount of space that buttons, bitmaps, custom buttons, commands, and macros take up in the device's memory. The pie chart in the dialog represents the amount of memory that each of the object types uses.

If the memory is more than 100% full, the **Free** line will show a negative amount of memory, and will be flashing red. In this case, the following warning will be displayed in the dialog box:

All of the object types share the available memory in the device. You will need to delete some information from your device before you will be able to send it to the physical device. The graph will help you to determine which object type (buttons, bitmaps, etc.) are using the most memory.

FIRMWARE VERSION

Choose Get Firmware Version from the Communications menu to the firmware version of the currently attached device. This information may be useful to Technical Support if you are having problems programming or operating your device.

Choose Update Firmware form the Communications menu to send a new firmware image to the attached device. The latest firmware files are available at www.rticorp.com in the dealer login area.

Chapter 12. Troubleshooting

If you have any difficulty, read through these troubleshooting tips and common questions before contacting technical support.

If you continue to have difficulties, contact technical support.

DISPLAY IS DIM, BLANK OR UNREADABLE

Make sure the battery pack is snapped on the remote properly and that the battery is charged.

Try adjusting the contrast of the touchscreen on the Control Panel page of the remote. By nature, the contrast of an LCD screen changes with temperature, so if the remote is cold the display will be dark and will lighten as it warms. (Refer to Chapter 2 for more details on changing display properties)

The remote may have timed out, turning off the display. You can change the Time Out time on the Control Panel page of the remote to your liking. (Refer to Chapter 3 for more details)

COMMUNICATION PROBLEMS

Here is a list of common communications problems and solutions:

- **1.** Make sure the USB cable is the one that was supplied with the device, and ensure that both ends are connected securely.
- **2.** Close all programs running in the background. Other programs (such as anti-virus software) can interfere with communications operations.
- **3.** If the device is battery powered, make sure the battery is sufficiently charged. If the battery is low it may affect communications. If the device has a wall power supply, make sure it is getting power.
- **4.** Try disconnecting the USB cable, waiting five seconds, and then re-connecting. Make sure the device is not busy (running a macro or initializing, for example) when you connect the cable.
- **5.** If you are connecting the device through a USB hub, try removing the hub and connecting the device directly to your PC.
- **6.** Windows 98 only: Make sure Windows has correctly identified your device. If you are prompted for your Windows CD when first attaching the device, you must complete the on-screen instructions before software will be able to use the USB port.

INFRARED PROBLEMS

The TheaterTouch and TheaterTouch Designer software are compatible with infrared (IR) commands with carrier frequencies between 15kHz and 460kHz. This covers the vast majority of remotes available to date, including Bang & Olufsen® (most of which use 455kHz) and Vidikron® (some of which use 333kHz).

However, some older Pioneer® Elite remotes have a carrier frequency of 1.125MHz and are not compatible with most IR products, including the TheaterTouch and TheaterTouch Designer software. You can however use IR commands from regular (non-Elite) Pioneer® remotes, which have a carrier frequency of 40kHz. These regular Pioneer® IR commands operate the basic functions of the Elite products.

The following suggestions can help insure more reliable codes:

- **1.** Make sure you hold down the button on the donor remote until the code capture process is complete. (You will be notified when to move on to the next function.)
- **2.** Always place the capture unit and the donor remote control on a flat surface. You may find it necessary to elevate the donor or the capture unit with a book or similar object to align them vertically.
- **3.** Once you have learned and tested a code from a remote, try not to move it until you have learned all the codes. If you do accidentally move either remote, you should re-align them.
- 4. It is VERY IMPORTANT to make sure the donor remote is using fresh batteries. The capture unit needs a strong IR signal to properly learn a code. If the frequency read-out in the ALIGN mode is 0.0 kHz, then the code is a pulsed type. In this case, you should transmit the commands to the capture unit from as far away as you can without getting an error message.
- **5.** If you always get an error message when trying to learn a code, you should try moving the donor remote up and down or back and forth. If this does not help, try tapping the buttons on the donor instead of holding them down.
- **6.** Go into the Infrared tab of the button properties and adjust the number of repeats. Some equipment may only work with 0 repeats while others may require as many as 4-5 and in extreme cases 7-8 or more. If the command is in a macro, the level of repeats can be accessed by double clicking on the step in the macro.
- **7.** Gointo the Infrared tab of the button properties and adjust the frequency up or down in small steps then retest the command after each change.
- **8.** If a system controller is being used, you can disable the IR Passthrough if it is not being used. Click on the system controller and go into the properties on the Device menu, go to the IR Passthrough tab and disable it completely or just on the port used by the component experiencing problems.

If you are using an IR repeater system, make sure it is working flawlessly with the donor remote, if not you need to fix or repair the IR system. The TheaterTouch remote even with its advanced features cannot overcome these kinds of problems.

Keep in mind that the IR transmit LEDs may not be located in the center of the donor remote. It may be necessary to place the remote off-center to get a reliable capture.

UNABLE TO LEARN COMMANDS

If for some reason you are unable to learn commands into the TheaterTouch, or you cannot get commands to work, contact Technical Support to see if we can help you.

You may wish to check our web site to see if the codes are already available.

If need be we can try to learn the commands for you at our factory by sending us the donor remote.

If successful, we can send you the commands via E-mail or on diskette so you can insert them into your remote file. It will also be posted on our web site for others to use.

MACRO PROBLEMS

If you are having problems with missed commands in macros but the IR commands work fine when placed on individual buttons try editing the **Minimum Repeats** in the **Macro Editor** to increase the number of times the command is repeated.

Click on the **Edit Macro** tool from the **Tools** dialog box on the bottom of the main screen, click on the button on which the macro you are having trouble with is. When the **Edit Macro** dialog box opens, double-click on the specific IR command you are having the trouble with, when the **Edit Infrared Command** dialog box opens, change the number of repeats to 4 or 5 to start with and if that doesn't work, bump it up to 7 or 8.

As always, when you make any changes to your file, be sure to send the new file to the remote and thoroughly test your changes.

Minimum Repeats is usually set between 0 and 3, but some commands may need to be repeated more times. You can set the number of repeats as high as you need to get consistent results.

Notes
